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Accessibility
If you would like a copy of this annual report in
an alternative format, please contact the
communications team:
Telephone: 020 3049 9000
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Welcome
Welcome to the 2018/19 Annual Report and Accounts of NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG).
I want to acknowledge the significant work across the NHS over the past year in all our settings primary, community and secondary care – in particular supporting the urgent and emergency care
system. There have been many achievements in the last twelve months across Greenwich Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), particularly progress with our Organisational Recovery Plan (ORP)
which was praised by NHS England.
The hard work of colleagues resulted in a much improved rating from NHS England – we were one
of four CCGs to move from inadequate to good within a year, skipping the requires improvement
rating. NHS England lifted our legal directions in March 2019 – further evidence of the progress we
have made.
In 2018/19 we have experienced challenge and progress made possible through collaboration.
Several of the issues we face are common across England and not just Greenwich, such as high
levels of deprivation, inequalities and unemployment. In response, we set out bold ambitions for
transforming health and care services in Greenwich. The launch of our Commissioning Strategy in
September 2018 is a hugely positive milestone in our journey. I would like to thank the local
people and partner organisations who helped to produce the first comprehensive, integrated
commissioning strategy for Greenwich.
We are now focused on the implementation of our strategy, with its four identified clinical priorities
(prevention, mental health, frailty, and cancer) and our two transformation programmes of
strengthening primary care and delivery of integrated care. We recognise that this is an ambitious
and challenging agenda of transformation and requires us to work differently with our partners and
neighbouring CCGs. Service users and partners have helped us to define sets of outcomes for the
four priority areas of the strategy.
The NHS 70th birthday gave us the opportunity to pause and thank colleagues who make us
collectively proud of this great institution. Locally, we held two events on 5 July in General Gordon
Square and the Woolwich Centre, and on 11 July we held a celebration with the Greenwich
Diabetes Group.
In the year, Greenwich CCG, in association with the NHS Greenwich Charitable Trust, launched a
small grants programme focusing on services supporting child and adolescent mental health. We
achieved a 96% participation rate in the national 360 degree stakeholder survey undertaken in
early 2019 making us the top responder in the country. This was a significant increase from the
41% participation rate in 2016/17, and a step up from the 92% rate in 2017/18. The information will
provide valuable insights to help further develop our plans and improve engagement and
partnership with our stakeholders.
I am pleased to confirm that the CCG has achieved its financial duties for 2018/19. The Annual
Accounts show a surplus of around £0.3 million, which is in line with the CCG’s financial target for
the year. This is as a result of the sustained determination of our local and South East London
finance and contracting teams; and support by all in the CCG in developing and implementing a
savings scheme which has delivered a quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) of
£12.85 million in year. All of the assurance levels and outcomes provided above should be
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considered in the context of the scope, and the limitation of scope, set out in the individual
Assignment Report.
Along with the other CCGs in South East London, we reviewed our collaborative working
arrangements this year. The return to financial balance is underpinned by new models of working
and these will help us to strengthen collaborative commissioning arrangements and to consolidate
leadership and accountability arrangements.
In September 2018 I took over the role of Clinical Chair from Dr Ellen Wright and it was an honour
to follow on from her strong leadership between 2014 and 2018. I would like to thank Dr Wright
and Drs Hany Wahba, Nayan Patel and Sylvia Nyame, who also left our Governing Body in 2018
for their hard work and commitment.
Between July and September 2018 we welcomed six new GP members to the Governing Body of
NHS Greenwich CCG. They have all demonstrated their enthusiasm, motivation and skills and are
proving to be a real asset to the Governing Body. I also want to welcome Robert Shaw, our
Director of Commissioning, and two deputy directors, Deane Kennett and Gemma O’Neill who
also joined the team in 2018/19.
I would like to thank our staff and partners. We have made steady progress on our goals, thanks
largely to partnership working with Royal Borough of Greenwich, with NHS providers and other
clinical commissioning groups in South East London, with the third sector, and most importantly,
with the people of Greenwich.
It is evident that everyone wants the best for local people and local services. We are working
towards a shared purpose of health and wellbeing for Greenwich people, with high quality,
effective and sustainable health services.
I am pleased that we ended 2018/19 in a good place, with strong foundations of improvement for
the health and social care system for everyone in Greenwich. We will continue to focus on the
implementation of our strategy, which is well-aligned with the Long Term Plan. We look forward to
further years of change and progress, with the health and wellbeing of Greenwich people our
motivation. Thank you to everyone who has helped us on our journey.

Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Chair NHS Greenwich CCG
May 2019
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Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
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Who we are
We are a membership organisation made up of 35 GP practices in Greenwich, organised into four
local care networks and one GP federation. We plan, buy and monitor most of the health services
Greenwich people use including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

primary care
acute (Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust)
community (Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust)
mental health (Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust)
learning disabilities (Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust)
voluntary sector – various.

We work with a range of partner organisations in Greenwich to improve health and wellbeing. We
also work closely with our neighbouring CCGs in South East London and with NHS England, on
shared plans to improve health and deliver high quality and sustainable services for our
populations. This is our Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP).
NHS England commissions other primary care services such as pharmacists, opticians, dentists
and some specialist health services. The Royal Borough of Greenwich commissions public health,
health visiting and school nursing services. We are part of the Greenwich Health & Wellbeing
Board, where we work with elected councillors and other partners, including community and
voluntary sector partners such as Healthwatch Greenwich and METRO GAVS, to make sure local
services meet our communities’ needs.

Challenges in Greenwich
Main areas of poor health
In Greenwich, like many other areas nationally, we have a growing and ageing population with
growing health and care needs.
According to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Greenwich, the major causes of
death in Greenwich are cancer and cardiovascular diseases, especially heart attacks and strokes.
However, overall death rates from these causes are improving, meaning that fewer people are
dying prematurely from these diseases. Respiratory diseases, including chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD), are the next biggest cause of preventable deaths in the borough. The
biggest burden on morbidity (poor health) is mental ill health, followed by musculoskeletal health
conditions such as back pain, arthritis and other joint conditions.
The JSNA priorities include six major conditions, six risk factors and seven underlying
determinants of health as shown in the following table.
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With our partners, we have identified the key underlying determinants of health that impact on the
health of people in Greenwich. These are shown in the boxes called “causes of the causes” in the
patient diagram above. There is ample evidence that social and environmental factors, including
employment, income level and the suitability of housing have a big influence on health.
The second main row in the table then shows the major risk factors for disease for the conditions
listed in the boxes below, called major conditions (Greenwich’s avoidable burden of ill health). We
describe these conditions as the avoidable burden of ill health, as with the right help and support;
for example, to give up smoking or supporting people back into employment, the development of
some of the diseases may be prevented.
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The diagram provides a summary of some of the main areas in which health is poorest in the
borough and some associated factors (such as poverty and obesity) when compared with
England.
It shows where improvements are being seen (for example, in early deaths from cardiovascular
diseases), as well as where outcomes are getting worse (such as life expectancy).
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Reducing health inequality
To deliver high quality care and improve the health of our local population, we need to take action
to promote equality and reduce the gap in health inequalities for all our communities.
We use the JSNA to map out the needs of our population, so we can target our resources and
services to best effect. We systematically consider the impact of our work on reducing health
inequalities. We develop equality impact assessments to support the delivery of our programmes,
and make sure that our public engagement approach considers equalities information.
Over the last year, our work to narrow the gap in health inequalities has included:
•

•
•

•
•
•

Partnership work with the Royal Borough of Greenwich (RBG) to roll out the Live Well
Greenwich programme to meet the needs of some of the most vulnerable people and most
disadvantaged in the borough. Live Well Greenwich offers advice face-to-face, over the
phone and online. They can provide information on a wide range of issues that impact on
health and wellbeing, including debt and finance, work and training, housing and social
isolation. Part of this has included the development of primary care training to build on the
care navigator role and Live Well Coach role. We supported the Live Well Coaches (social
prescribing) developments and we continued to roll out the Make Every Opportunity Count
Programme.
Support for the Public Health community blood pressure outreach initiative which identified
hundreds of residents with previously undiagnosed hypertension and atrial fibrillation and
linked them into treatment in primary care.
Worked with RBG in a successful initiative in primary care to reduce the incidence of TB
cases in Greenwich. This involved the implementation of a latent tuberculosis (TB) testing
scheme in primary care, identifying and treating patients with undiagnosed TB from
countries with a high prevalence of the disease. TB case numbers and rates in Greenwich
continue to decline and the decline was predominantly due to pre-entry screening, changes
in migration pattern, TB services contact tracing, as well as efforts to encourage eligible
patients to undergo screening for (LTBI) testing and treatment.
Supporting people with learning disabilities and or autism to live in the community with the
appropriate level of care through our transforming care programme.
Promoting awareness of learning disabilities to colleagues in primary care and targeting
NHS annual health checks to local people with learning disabilities.
Partnering with Public Health to improve access to smoking cessation services and weight
management services to improve the targeting of residents with the greatest need and in
the areas of greatest deprivation in the borough.

Greenwich Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023
The new multi-agency Health and Wellbeing Strategy is currently under development and will set
out the partnership approach to health and wellbeing for the next five years. It has been agreed
that the new strategy will build on the previous 2015-2018 Health and Wellbeing Strategy,
continuing the focus on our key challenges and opportunities for improving the wellbeing of the
whole population, and taking an inclusive and co-produced approach to developing and delivering
evidence-based action.
This will comprise work across four key areas:
•
•

Improving mental health and wellbeing, utilising the Thrive Greenwich model
Supporting healthy weight
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•
•

Improving and expanding the Live Well Greenwich whole system approach to prevention
Developing the health and social care system.

Mental health and wellbeing
We will work to improve mental health and wellbeing, using the Thrive Greenwich model. Through
this approach we will be seeking to challenge stigma and discrimination through our Time to
Change Greenwich hub, as well as wider community engagement; ensuring that children and
young people get all the support they need to have the best start in life; supporting employers to
make workplaces as mentally healthy as possible; improving the co-ordination and equity of
mental health and related services for everyone in Greenwich; and working to prevent suicide and
support those bereaved following a death by suicide.
Healthy weight
We will support people and communities around having a healthy weight, by helping people to eat
more healthily and be more active. We will work across the life-course, with a focus on the vital
early years including breastfeeding and infant nutrition. By engaging key settings such as schools,
health services, workplaces and community organisations, and using all our levers across the
system, we will help social and community environments to support healthy weight through both
opportunities for physical activity and better food environments, and will ensure that people
receive the help and information they need, when they need it. We will also focus on how the
physical environment across Greenwich can be made as healthy as possible, with active journeys
and healthy food options the easier choices for everyone.
Live Well Greenwich
We will continue to develop Live Well Greenwich as our whole system prevention approach uniting
efforts across the system, and maximising opportunities for prevention through existing strategies,
infrastructure and services; bringing them together in a single comprehensive approach working at
individual, community and population levels. This work is being led by the Live Well Greenwich
Partnership Board. Live Well Greenwich is underpinned by key local infrastructures, including the
Greenwich Community Directory (online support); brief interventions through our roadshows and
outreach work; the Live Well telephone support line; Live Well Coaches who provide face to face
support; voluntary and statutory services. This infrastructure is being developed through the
partnership support and with feedback and insight of people using the services to provide a more
cohesive and systematic approach to prevention.
Developing the health and care system
We are working closely with partners in Greenwich (the local authority, main provider trusts and
the community and voluntary sector), and with CCGs and organisations across South East
London, to plan for changes and developments in the way the health and care system operates.
This includes the implementation of our local Commissioning Strategy, responding to the NHS
Long Term Plan requirements published in January 2019, and taking forward the priorities within
the STP (such as Integrated Care System (ICS) development, local care networks and primary
care at scale). Under the leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board and its Executive Group,
we are supporting our providers in the development of provider alliances, including a specific
alliance relating to mental health services in the borough.
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Our achievements in 2018/19
Organisational Recovery Plan 2018/19
During winter 2017/18 Greenwich CCG developed the content and format for an Organisational
Recovery Plan (ORP).
This summarised the key areas for organisational improvement and the planned approach to
recovery, initially for six months and latterly for the year, across all areas of the CCG. It was
intended to set out clearly to all staff and stakeholders the planned changes that were to take
place during the year.
Twelve major areas for recovery were identified which the CCG is responsible for and this was
summarised on the front page, as a plan on a page, with more detailed plans and expectations in
main areas set out on the subsequent pages. The material included in the ORP was developed
through internal discussion amongst managers and clinicians as well as key conversations with
lead partners as to where the CCG needed to place its attention in order to make improvements
across the board.
The document was well received by the CCG Governing Body at an early stage as a plan by
which they could hold the organisation to account and which they would receive at regular
intervals.
The document was an important basis to scrutiny discussions with NHS England (NHSE) in
February and April 2018 about the successful pace of change taking place in Greenwich to
achieve improvements in many areas including; financial recovery, strategic direction and the
governance review to improve oversight.
An updated further version of the ORP was subsequently developed in September 2018 setting
out plans from October to the end of March 2019.
Greenwich Commissioning Strategy: Transforming our health and social care system
2018-2022
Work to develop a clinical commissioning strategy for Greenwich started in January 2018. The
final strategy was launched at the AGM of the CCG on 26 September 2018.
Throughout its development there were numerous discussions with stakeholders and the public,
clinical leads, Greenwich Executive Group, Joint Commissioning Executive, a clinical reference
meeting, Governing Body workshops and the Governing Body. It was also discussed with
Greenwich Health (GP Federation), Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT), RBG and Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust. Comments were invited and received from the Local Medical Committee
and the Local Pharmaceutical Committee. The output of these discussions is reflected in the
strategy.
Engagement around the strategy took place in different settings across Greenwich. Details of how
we did this through the Greenwich Big Conversation and other events are described in the
Engaging people and communities – patient and public involvement section.
An Equality and Equity Assessment of the strategy document was also undertaken as part of the
development of the strategy.
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The strategy sets out the NHS Greenwich CCG commissioning strategy for the next three years,
‘Transforming our Health and Social Care System: 2018-2022’.
A summary of the document is provided as well as a plan on a page within the overall strategy.
The document clearly indicates the objectives for Greenwich and the intention to follow national
policy building on local strategies and work closely with all partner organisations.
The strategy outlines the case for change, describing the challenges for Greenwich in terms of the
limitations on workforce in all areas and estates as well as access to primary care. It describes
how the current health system in Greenwich is not offering what is needed to meet future demands
in terms of health care provision and that this needs to significantly change and improve.
It acknowledges the significant financial challenges that Greenwich has faced in the last few years
and the good progress it has made to the end of 2017/18 whilst making clear the need for ongoing
work to achieve financial sustainability in forthcoming years.
As well as highlighting some areas of success to build upon the strategy sets out the ambition for
Greenwich. These include major strands of work going forward towards the development of
integrated care, primary care at scale and local care networks. These are essential planks for the
sustainability of health care in Greenwich as is change and development in the primary care
workforce and estate locally.
The strategy sets out the four priority areas;
•
•
•
•

To prevent illness and help our population to live well
To strengthen local support for people with mental illness, including children and young
people
To better meet the needs of frail people with care closer to home, an integrated urgent care
system, and stronger community-based care
To improve the prevention, detection and treatment of cancers for our local population

The strategy outlines the important need to ensure financial sustainability for Greenwich CCG.
A Greenwich Health and Wellbeing Executive group, accountable to the Health and Wellbeing
Board was established and meets monthly. This is instrumental in driving forward transformation
across the system.
Implementing the strategy
A series of meetings around each of the four priority areas as well as the two system
transformation areas took place in autumn 2018 which brought together a range of partners.
These included GP Governing Body members and clinical leads, CCG managers, as well as the
community and voluntary sector representatives, together with partners from RBG adult social
care, children’s services and public health, local provider trusts including Oxleas NHS Foundation
Trust and Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Health Trust and Greenwich Health (GP Federation).
Work took place between these meetings to progress discussion and agreement in respect of the
specific implementation area and to allow time for wider sharing of the implementation approach
and content with other key stakeholders. For example, the ‘integration’ section of this document was
discussed with senior leaders and stakeholders at the Greenwich Health and Wellbeing Board
Executive Subgroup in early December where it was agreed the primary focus in implementation
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should be in three priority areas including: the mental health alliance between the CCG and RBG;
diabetes; and integrated discharge from acute care. An update on the work in relation to ‘integration’
reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board in December 2018.
A considerable amount of work is in progress towards implementing primary care at scale in
Greenwich and greater collaboration and joint working between practices. A meeting of the
Greenwich Wide Forum (GWF) in the autumn of 2018 focused on examples and initiatives which
support primary care at scale. This was also a priority area at the Governing Body away day in
December 2018 which focused on issues in relation to the syndicate areas within Greenwich as a
whole and working with primary care colleagues to enable effective, sustainable and successful
primary care through greater joint working.
Each group used the consistent format to set out their approach and the implementation plan was
approved at the Governing Body in January 2019.
The NHS Long Term Plan was published in January 2019, and we welcomed the commitments and
priorities which support our agreed local strategy, and provide some additional investment and
national focus on implementation.
Meetings were intended to continue the engagement approach of the strategy and bring together
relevant participants from different organisations. The meetings have focussed attention on the six
areas of content of the strategy and discussion took place as to how priorities could be set out in
terms of implementation.
The intention is to develop a programme management approach to implementation with a high level
summary of the implementation plan to enable progress to be monitored through a dashboard.
Greenwich CCG will continue to engage with stakeholders in order to ensure long term commitment
to enable effective implementation. An agreed financial strategy is essential to support
implementation.
Developing integrated care in Greenwich
Greenwich CCG took part in the South East London Integrated Care System (ICS) aspirant
programme which took place over 11 weeks in autumn 2018. This involved the Chair, Managing
Director and members of the executive team contributing to and leading whole system workshops
in Bromley on Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC), another on planned care, as well as several
other events and discussions.
The Health and Wellbeing (HWB) Executive subgroup was set up in July 2018 and has been
meeting monthly since then. It has good commitment and attendance from both senior
commissioners, chief executives and senior management from providers together with the GP
Federation, RBG and a representative of the community and voluntary sector. The group has
agreed it will prioritise starting work with integrated care developments in mental health, diabetes
and supported discharge from acute settings in order to seek to make practical progress.
At the December 2018 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) executive sub-group it
was agreed provider colleagues would work together to develop a provider alliance.
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) and South East London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (SEL STP) appointed a Director of Integrated Care in autumn 2018
who reports into both LGT executive as well as the STP executive.
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A joint meeting was held between Lewisham and Greenwich CCGs, boroughs and providers in
January 2019 with a focus on the use of population health management to drive transformation
across Lewisham and Greenwich. This is part of the ICS aspirant programme for SE London.
The Health and Wellbeing (HWB) Executive reports into the Health and Wellbeing Board and
progress has been reported to the Board throughout 2018/19.
There are specific examples of integrated care already happening in Greenwich which include the
development of the Duncan house facility between CCG and RBG as well as the Transfer of Care
Collaborative (ToCC) initiative. ToCC seeks to avoid/prevent delayed transfers of care from
hospitals by supporting better discharges.
The NHS Long Term Plan makes considerable and frequent references to integrated care being
central to the future success and delivery of the NHS, setting out that all of the NHS moves to
Integrated Care Systems by April 2021. It states ‘an ICS brings together local organisations to
redesign care and improve population health, creating shared leadership and action’.
Work on integrated care will continue to be led through the Greenwich Health and Well-being
Executive Subgroup. This will use the goals and success criteria outlined in the strategy
implementation plan.
Medicines management
Medicines optimisation is an evidence-based approach to prescribing, which underpins our aim to
ensure the safe and effective use of medicines. This includes minimising risks associated with the
use of medicines for patients and staff. Optimisation of medicines by healthcare professionals for
patients with long term conditions, as well as acute clinical presentations, delivers overall health
improvement and reinforces many of the current initiatives to improve the quality of patient care.
The CCG medicines management team: provides unbiased information about medicines and
treatments; supports healthcare professionals and patients to make the best use of medicines;
and minimises the harm caused by medicines and improves the safety of medicines.
The Medicines Management team has continued to deliver extensive programmes during the year
despite various challenges. Some of these are listed.
• Provision of timely advice to prescribers on drug supply and safety issues
• On-going promotion of patient self-care
• De-prescribing drugs of limited clinical value
• Delivery of the national quality premium to reduce inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for
urinary tract infections (UTI) and overall reduce antibiotic prescribing.
• Work with RBG to raise awareness on antimicrobial resistance to members of the public
and healthcare professionals including the detection of essential hypertension and atrial
fibrillation in a community-wide screening programme.
• Supporting training for clinical and non-clinical staff at GP practices about medicines and
evidence-based management of diseases.
• Work with South London Diabetes and Respiratory Working Group to develop local
guidelines
• Implementation of asthma review clinics in primary care to optimise medicine use in
complex asthma patients
• Extensive stakeholder engagement e.g. community pharmacy, community providers and
patient groups
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•
•
•
•
•
•

Support in care homes to enable the safe provision of medicines and potentially reduce
hospital admissions linked to medicines use.
Membership of the South East London Area Prescribing Committee on stoma,
ophthalmology and respiratory proposals and other similar initiatives
Delivery of the financial QIPP target of £1.3 million set for the year.
Auditing to evaluate waste and safety issues associated with medicines, including care
home medication reviews and clinical audits as part of the QIPP plan
Monitoring of non-medical prescribers’ database and scope of practice to ensure high
medicines management standards are attained
Training and mentoring preregistration pharmacists in conjunction with the Lewisham and
Greenwich Hospital Trust.

In summary, the team continues to support the CCG in its delivery of both financial controls and
priorities within its Clinical Commissioning strategy.
Primary care
Greenwich CCG has been carrying out its duties under the delegation agreement signed in April
2017, working in alignment with the South East London (SEL) Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership for Primary Care to deliver the transformation as outlined in the General Practice
Forward View (GPFV). Greenwich has a seat on the SEL Primary Care Executive Board and the
SEL Community Based Care Board. The CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee
(PCCC) functions as a corporate decision-making body for the management of the delegated
functions and the exercise of the delegated powers as set out in NHS Greenwich CCG’s
Constitution and Scheme of Delegation. The Committee meets six times per year, with a minimum
of four meetings held in public. The PCCC receives information and makes decisions on
individual and collective GP practice performance against areas such as the Quality and
Outcomes Framework (QOF); CQC visits; Friends and Family Test and contract performance.
Request for partnership changes, mergers/closures and procurements are presented to the PCCC
for decision. Complaints and individual GP performance remain the responsibility of NHS
England.
Below are key highlights of the areas of focus during 2018/19.
In 2018 Greenwich CCG and the Local Medical Committee agreed a new Primary Medical
Services (PMS) contract for 31 of our 35 practices as part of the national programme to reduce
variation across primary care services in England. The remaining practices are on an Alternative
Provider Medical Services (APMS) contract which is aligned to the PMS contract. These PMS
contracts were all live in April 2018.
Key performance indicators within the contracts focus on:
•
•
•
•
•

Child immunisations
Cervical cytology
Diabetes care
Quality referrals
Safe management of medication.
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The primary care contract with Clover Health Centre, Woolwich, was due to be re-procured with
the existing APMS contract coming to an end on 31 October 2018. This procurement was part of
a London-wide programme which enabled consistency in the procurement process and increased
interest from the market. During a patient listening exercise, access was highlighted as a key
issue. The successful provider, Malling Health Ltd, has increased the number of GP sessions and
has worked closely with Greenwich CCG to improve patient experience.
Our population is increasing, and Greenwich CCG has seen a rise of 1.5% in practice list size from
April to December 2018 while the primary care workforce, in general, is experiencing a decline in
the number of available qualified GPs. Many of our GPs and health care assistants are
approaching retirement age. To help address this we have been successful in the recruitment of
clinical pharmacists within general practice who can support GPs with medication reviews and
provide additional clinical capacity; 17 practices have staff trained in signposting patients to
community support services with the aim of all practices having this in place during 2019/20.
Through our collaborative work with RBG Public Health Department, GP practices in Woolwich
and Plumstead have benefited from having trained wellbeing coaches – part of the Greenwich Live
Well programme, and this additional resource will be rolled out to more practices over the coming
months.
Resilience funding released through the GPFV has enabled the CCG to roll out training
programmes such as ‘workflow management’ which is proven to free up GP time through enabling
practice staff to deal with much of the clinical administration, and diploma courses for Practice
Managers so that they can take on a wider remit of practice management.
The GP Federation (Greenwich Health Ltd) and our Community Education Provider Network
(CEPN) are also developing programmes of work to support recruitment and retention of staff in
primary care. GPFV funding has allowed continued additional input from the CEPN chair to
support various workforce and training programmes, the creation of a young practitioners support
group which has run a series of educational, wellbeing and social events for GPs attended by a
range of CCG, local authority and voluntary organisations to highlight local services and pathways.
This has also funded a local Leadership Academy, providing 1-2-1 coaching for clinicians in
leadership and management skills for a cohort on nine participants.
Use of technology
Greenwich CCG has already commissioned the ‘My GP’ app from Iplato, building on a longstanding contractual arrangement with the company to supply two-way SMS text messaging for
practices and patients. To this, the CCG reviewed the market and added the new ‘Pre-GP’ online
consultation functionality. This means that, as well enabling patients to book appointments on line
through MyGP, patients are also signposted through the booking process to appropriate service
options other than a GP appointment (e.g. community pharmacy, social prescribing, or direct
booking services like Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) or Maternity). This is
being piloted until summer 2019 when it is subject to evaluation, along with other online
consultation software systems being trialled in South East London.
Greenwich CCG participated in the pilot programme to digitalise paper records so that they can be
included with the electronic records of patients, rather than take up valuable space within
surgeries. Four Greenwich practices, across six sites, have now completed the programme:
South Street Surgery in Greenwich, Coldharbour Hill and Sherard Road Medical Centre in Eltham
and Greenwich Peninsula Practice.
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Estates
During 2018/19 we strengthened our estates function with the appointment of a shared Senior
Estates Programme Manager who leads our estates development programme.
We have firmly re-established our multi-partner Local Estates Forum (LEF) with representation from
the statutory and non-statutory sectors. The LEF is planning to widen its remit and look across the
estate within the NHS and RBG. This is a key enabler in the development of Primary Care Networks
and fully integrated pathways of care.
The LEF reports into the South East London Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (SEL
STP) and through this process has access to the London Estates Development Unit (LEDU) and
London Estates Board (LEB).
The CCG has two current major projects at Gallions Reach and Kidbrooke Village. The £8 million
Gallions Reach investment funded through the Estates Technological and Transformation Fund
(ETTF) aims to modernise the existing Health Centre and to widen the range of services available
in Thamesmead and accommodate the changing needs in the local population. This is expected to
be completed in late 2020.
Kidbrooke Village is a £7.2 million jointly funded project which will provide new premises for the
Sherard Road Practice. This will include community space in which the NHS will work closely with
RBG and third sector partners to create a Healthy Living Environment to meet the needs of the
increasing population in Kidbrooke. This project is expected to be completed in 2021.
Access
Two GP Access Hubs in Eltham Community Hospital and Thamesmead Health Centre offer 8am8pm extended access and have been operating since October 2016 used by all Greenwich
practices. The NHS 111 service is now able to book appointments into the Access Hubs.
Appointments are fully used Monday to Friday, but Sunday appointments have a very low uptake
by patients. Greenwich Health Ltd successfully bid for funding and has allocated additional resource
to expedite IT upgrades with the provider to bring forward additional functionality which should
enable the service to offer a more holistic service in 2019/20.
GP network development
Greenwich has four GP networks covering the whole of the borough – these are geographical groups
of GP practices that regularly meet to discuss and develop primary care services at scale to address
variation in how primary care services are delivered. These groups have commenced delivery of a
shared diabetes service across one network and went live in June with a shared home visiting
service across a different network in Q1 2019/20. On behalf of the network Greenwich Health Ltd is
providing the GP Access Hubs, a 3TT diabetes service providing Year of Care consultations to
poorly controlled patients, a call-recall flu service and, in collaboration with Public Health, Live Well
Hubs across Greenwich.
Live Well services provide smoking cessation, NHS Health Check Plus and Long Acting
Reversible Contraception (LARC) across four Live Well Centres, ensuring equitable access for all
Greenwich residents. The service provides clinics at a range of times including late
afternoon/evening and weekend clinics. These are directly bookable by practices and can also be
booked via the Greenwich Live Well Line via a freephone number.
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There will be the continued development of our GP Networks supported by the SEL STP
programme and the funding that is being made available to support primary care development
from the GP Forward View (GPFV).
Whole system emergency care pathway
Throughout 2018/19 the CCG has worked with partners to develop the emergency care pathway
across Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham. The improvement plan is overseen by the A&E Delivery
Board.
Commissioners and providers have achieved improvements by ensuring that the entire system
has worked more effectively with a strong focus on improving pathways, increasing community
capacity and flow. A key element was improving discharge processes at Queen Elizabeth
Hospital.
Accident and Emergency (A&E) Delivery Board priorities
With shared responsibility in mind, the leadership of system improvement and preparedness in
Greenwich is directed by the Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham A&E Delivery Board, which
comprises leaders from all of the vital health and social care commissioner and provider
organisations locally, along with external representation from regional leaders from NHS
Improvement (NHSI) and NHS England (NHSE).
In the Emergency Department Improvement Plan, the A&E Delivery Board identified four
overarching areas of focus for 2018/19. The strength of the plan has been in the collaborative and
supportive manner in which it is being delivered, with leaders of each organisation pledging their
full commitment to proactively ensuring its success and to supporting the system flexibly and
responsively.
Priority one: A&E department patient flow
London Streaming Model: work is underway to implement the London streaming model in the A&E
department at Queen Elizabeth Hospital. The model sets out the best practice for triaging,
assessing and redirecting patients from A&E and urgent care, with the aim of supporting more
patients to identify and access services in the community.
A minors breach reduction programme includes a number of workstreams to ensure that patients
attending A&E with minor illnesses, injuries or social complexities are seen and treated within the
four hour A&E standard. This work includes identifying opportunities to use nurse and advanced
clinical practitioners to provide rapid see-and-treat service to people presenting at A&E who are
unlikely to require specialist intervention or inpatient care.
The capacity of the psychiatric liaison service at Queen Elizabeth Hospital has been increased to
include additional specialist mental health nursing support and a dedicated learning disabilities
nurse to improve the experience, appropriate diversion and outcomes for patients experiencing a
mental health crisis.
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust is undertaking focused work alongside London Ambulance
Service to ensure the smooth and efficient handover of patients at the hospital’s front door. A ‘fit to
sit’ approach will be adopted at Queen Elizabeth Hospital during periods of high demand to ensure
that cubicle space is available for patients requiring emergency treatment.

19

Priority two: admission avoidance
Care home support programme: a multi-agency transformation programme is in place to engage
and support Greenwich’s 12 care homes. The programme includes the roll-out of telehealth to all
care homes, promoting the use of the 111 service and the provision of education to prevent and
detect deterioration in residents’ health.
If a resident does need hospital treatment, the red bag programme is fully established in
Greenwich meaning that the person is taken to hospital with all the relevant information relating to
their health, medications and preferences, and with their personal effects contained within a
marked and identifiable bag.
High intensity user (HIU) programme; using a nationally recognised approach, the existing HIU
programme in Greenwich is being developed to include a community coach. The coach will
provide direct 1:1 support to vulnerable service users who repeatedly call on the ambulance
service and A&E department to address their health and social needs.
Extended access to GP appointments – following the successful implementation of evening and
weekend appointments at two hubs in Greenwich, plans are in development to further extend
access to GP services across the borough.
Priority three: reducing bed occupancy
Transfer of Care Collaborative (ToCC): based at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, the ToCC is a multidisciplinary and organisation team comprising professionals from health and social care. The
ToCC was developed to foster an integrated approach to discharge planning, with a focus on
developing a better understanding between professionals of the different, complementary roles
they play in this process. The ToCC team works to streamline discharge pathways and
procedures, with a view to reducing lengths of stay and avoidable readmissions and improving the
system of support available to people in the community.
Bed meetings – senior leaders from across the community, CGG and RBG have committed to
attending the bed meeting at Queen Elizabeth Hospital daily throughout winter to provide support,
resolve/escalate issues and build working relationships.
Adult customer journey – following extensive engagement with staff and service users, RBG is
transforming the way it delivers adult social care. With a focus on improving customer experience,
reducing handovers, further integrating services and reducing duplication, the changes will refocus
rapid response capacity on admission avoidance in the community.
Reduction in the number of long-stay patients – recognising that the hospital environment is not
the right place for most people to recover from an illness or injury or be assessed for their
continued health or social care need, support is being dedicated to reviewing and acting on the
causes of long lengths of stay. Working closely with the ToCC and community services, this work
is central to reducing bed occupancy and maintaining flow at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital.
SAFER bundle implementation – work to embed the SAFER* bundle, a practical best practice tool
to help reduce patient pathway delays, continues across wards at Queen Elizabeth Hospital to
support more patients to be discharged on time, particularly at the weekend.
*The SAFER acronym is derived from the following principles: Timely Senior review for All patients
with the early Flow of patients from assessments units to inpatient wards supported by Earlier
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discharges across the hospital and a detailed multi-disciplinary Review for patients experiencing
an extended length of stay.
Priority four: out of hospital capacity
• Thirty intermediate care beds are operational at Eltham Community Hospital, providing
step-up and step-down rehabilitation and sub-acute care for older, and/or frail adults.
•

Twenty beds are provided at Duncan House for medically optimised patients requiring an
assessment of their ongoing health or social care need and who do not need to remain in
an acute hospital bed to undertake this assessment.

•

Community Care Plus – a new Oxleas service has been established to provide nursing and
therapy care to patients who have had an acute admission and who are safe to return to
their own home to complete their treatment or therapy.

•

Adult customer journey – as mentioned earlier, following extensive engagement with staff
and service users, RBG is transforming the way it delivers adult social care. With a focus
on improving customer experience, reducing handovers, further integrating services and
reducing duplication, the new operating model, which focuses on older, vulnerable adults,
is scheduled to be in place ahead of winter.

Eltham Community Hospital
As part of the out-of-hospital capacity workstream, the pathway and criteria for Greenwich and
Bexley’s community intermediate care beds were reviewed and combined to provide the system
with one integrated access process for community bed-based provision. This has led to an
increase in the flexible use of beds for Greenwich and Bexley patients, and an improvement in unit
utilisation at Eltham.
With regard to the intermediate care beds mentioned earlier, significant work was completed with
the acute, community, social care and commissioning partners to improve patient flow into this unit
ahead of winter 2018/19. A flex criteria has been developed which links with the Trust’s level of
escalation to ensure that the unit is fully utilised at times of pressure.
Integrated Urgent Care (NHS 111)
Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) is the “Front Door” to the urgent and emergency care system
through a single entry point – NHS 111 – into wider urgent and emergency care services
(including primary care, acute care, mental health, community services and others) that combine
high quality, clinical assessment, advice and treatment to shared standards and processes, in
addition to supporting patients to self-care.
Stakeholder organisations from across our area have been working to mobilise the IUC service in
South East London which went live at the end of February 2019. The service is intended to
support the ongoing aim to deliver improved patient outcomes, improved flows and reduced
pressures in the broader system.
Patients across South East London have informed and influenced this new service. See our case
study in Engaging people and communities – patient and public involvement section.
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Frailty
Frailty was identified as one of the key strategic objectives for Greenwich CCG in 2018/19.
“To better meet the needs of frail and older people with care closer to home, an integrated urgent
care system, and stronger community-based care.”
A key local priority is to continue to work with local partners to improve local health and care
services, and particularly ways for people who are frail and elderly to get the early support they
need from community and social care teams to look after their health and maximise their
independence. Our joint agency frailty working group is currently developing plans to pilot a frailty
case management model which will see a multidisciplinary team of professionals working together
to plan the most appropriate interventions for patients who might be at risk of deterioration.
The projects are currently undergoing an evaluation to inform our future commissioning decisions.
A programme of engagement with the public, carers, and community, voluntary and charity
partners began in the year and further engagement in 2019/20.
Discharge to Assess Unit
Greenwich CCG commissions a short-term facility with RBG as part of the discharge to assess
pathway. The service aims to move patients who are medically optimised into the community for
assessment instead of remaining in the hospital. The service has just celebrated its first
anniversary.
Duncan House is a 20-bedded unit which provides a home-like environment for patients to be
assessed after time in hospital before either returning home with a package of care or returning to
a residential or nursing home. The service works on the ethos of “get up, get dressed, get moving”
and is supported by a multi-disciplinary team from social care, GP, physiotherapy, occupational
therapy and nursing.
Twenty beds are provided for patients requiring an assessment of their ongoing health or social
care need and who do not need to remain in an acute hospital bed to undertake this assessment.
On average there are 18 discharges from Queen Elizabeth Hospital to Duncan House each
month. These are patients whose health, social care and housing needs are complex. Without
Duncan House, it is likely that their discharge would have been delayed and resulted in excess
bed days.
As part of the Discharge to Assess (D2A) pathway, the hospital indicate what care package would
have been put in place (had there not been the Duncan House facility), and this is reviewed
against the actual care package when they are discharged. The data to October 2018 indicates
that 25% less patients require a care home package and 30% less require placement than had
been originally planned. The unit is therefore also significantly reducing the pressure on the
community services.
Duncan House has been providing D2A beds for patients from Lewisham and Greenwich NHS
Trust since January 2018. It has very high satisfaction ratings, with 93% of residents saying that
they would recommend it. It has improved the performance of NHS Greenwich CCG and RBG, by
significantly improving transfers between services, and has saved over 5000 hospital bed days so
far.
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Duncan House is a step-down facility for those people where little improvement is expected from
the hospital staff. Despite this, the resident outcomes have been very positive with people
improving their mobility and needing less care. There have been some remarkable individual
stories of residents which have shown the positive human impact of Duncan House.
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Clinical Unit/winter planning
Winter is a challenging time for the health and social care system in Greenwich with the number of
people requiring hospital treatment or admission rising sharply. In 2017/18, pressure on the A&E
department at Queen Elizabeth Hospital meant that more people waited longer than they should
for treatment or admission to a hospital bed.
Meeting the care needs of our population remains a system responsibility, with the performance of
the A&E department serving to signify whether the system as a whole is working effectively to
support people in need of urgent or emergency treatment.
In Greenwich, health and social care leaders have continued to work together and support each
other and the wider system. They have taken a joint approach to winter preparedness, which
focuses on promoting the use of primary care as a first-line service, reducing delays in the acute
trust and supporting the development of community services which allow Greenwich residents to
be supported in their own home wherever possible.
A new clinical facility was opened in December 2018 on the Queen Elizabeth Hospital site,
situated next to the emergency department. This provides 29 acute medical beds in Ward 22 and
a new surgical assessment unit on Ward 23 in addition to a further 18 surgical beds. The bedded
areas in CDU and Ward 12 have both been closed following this, giving a net additional bed space
of 6 beds. These short stay inpatient wards are intended for patients who come through A&E and
require further hospital care.
Winter developments 2018/19
Enhanced therapy capacity in the emergency department (ED): Lewisham and Greenwich NHS
Trust is piloting a new approach to the provision of therapy support to ED, providing a seven day
8am – 8pm therapy service at QEH. Research suggests that early therapy intervention and
planning, and close collaboration with community services (including the joint emergency team)
will prevent admissions or expedite discharges.
Care home liaison is a new post, facilitated by NHS Bexley CCG who already have this provision
in place, to provide intensive focus to patients being discharged back to a care home to reduce
delays and improve relationships between trust and care home colleagues.
New settling service
A settling service launched in January 2019 for Greenwich and Bexley residents requiring support
at discharge. The service provides 30-minute response seven days a week, to support safe
discharges from the QEH. The service provides staff and patients with the confidence to proceed
with discharges for medically optimised patients who are apprehensive about returning home
following a hospital stay. The service includes three elements; take home and settling service,
package of care bridging service and equipment delivery for patients returning home from hospital.
The service has supported 64 patients in the first two months of operation, and numbers are
increasing monthly.

23

High Intensity User Programme (HIU)
Using a nationally recognised approach, the HIU programme in Greenwich is being developed to
include a community coach. The coach will provide direct 1:1 support to vulnerable service users
who repeatedly call on the ambulance service and A&E department to address their health and
social needs. The Greenwich HIU lead has been recruited and starts mid-April.
Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government which
seeks to join-up health and care services, so that people can manage their own health and
wellbeing and live independently in their communities for as long as possible.
In 2018/19 Greenwich shared a pooled budget of approximately £21 million with the Royal
Borough of Greenwich. The central focus of the BCF programme is to jointly commission health
and social care services that enable people access to high-quality care in their community. The
programme aims to improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people, placing them at the
heart of their care and support, and providing them with ‘wraparound’ fully integrated health and
social care, resulting in an improved experience and better quality of life.
The BCF processes and functions have had a full review and refresh, led by a programme
manager working across the local authority and CCG. This has included the formation of working
groups reporting into the Joint Commissioning Executive (JCE) (which is the BCF's management
board) focusing on Finance and Performance. The working group structure has been formulated to
further enable the JCE to make strategic, evidence-based decisions about the best approach to
commissioning appropriately across health and social care.
The JCE has further agreed to revisit the local aims and ambitions for the programme and where it
can fit within a wider integration agenda to ensure alignment with system strategies and intentions.
This work will include exploration of the programme's purpose and how it can have the most
significant impact on the populations it serves. This work will support the development of a clear
forward plan to ensure that the programme further integrates into the wider system reporting
structures.
The BCF plan includes the following four metrics: non-elective admissions, delayed transfers of
care (DToC), residential admissions and reablement. The Better Care Fund programme schemes
are designed to reduce non-elective admissions, admissions to residential care, improve patient
satisfaction with services and increase the number of patients living at home after a discharge
from hospital.
Reduction in non-elective activity (NEA)
Alongside the frailty pathway, significant partnership work is being developed across
commissioners and providers from Greenwich and bordering authorities. This work includes
prioritisation of resources into identified areas, specifically around preventative measures. Jointly
commissioned programmes are being explored against priorities identified with working parties
developed. We are also continuing to further develop a NEA reduction plan with providers.
Residential admissions
A discharge to assess 20 bedded units (Duncan House) continues to provide a valuable service
supporting acute pressures. The data has continuously demonstrated that the service is effective
in enabling people to gain more independence through multidisciplinary team supportive approach
and returning home with more appropriate, often smaller, packages of care.
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Reablement service
The reablement service provides social care and therapy support to people, the majority of whom
have experienced a recent acute hospital admission. The objective of the service is to support
people to regain their confidence in the activities of daily living, with support provided for up to six
weeks. The most recent outcome data shows that 77% of clients became independent after their
reablement episode (this compares to 74% in 2017).
Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC)
Recognising DToC is a system issue, partnership working to identify reasons and explore
opportunities and solutions to address them has increased through wider systems work being
undertaken.
Community services
The joint emergency team (JET) is a multidisciplinary team made up of community health and
social care professionals. JET’s main function is to provide an urgent response to health or social
care situations that arise in the community, where the situation is likely to break down and result in
an emergency department (ED) attendance and/or admission. The team works with GPs and
London Ambulance Service to prevent hospital presentations; or with ED to prevent hospital
admissions for community health or social care reasons.
The average number of first appointments provided by JET in 2018/19 (year-to-end) is 213 per
month, which is an increase of 6% on 2017/18 activity (201 appointments per month).
District nursing
The district nursing service provides flexible capacity and support patients following admission or
aims to prevent deterioration where a risk has been identified.
Average activity in 2018/19 is 656 first appointments per month, which is an increase of 5% on
2017/18 activity (average of 626 contacts per month).
Domiciliary care
The number of people receiving domiciliary care in Greenwich has increased by 12% in 2018/19
(compared to the first six months of 2017/18).
On average 1280 people per month received domiciliary care in 2017/18 compared to 1440 in
2018/19. Of those receiving domiciliary care, there has been an 18% increase in clients with
complex needs receiving double-handed packages of care (on average 209 per month in 2017/18
compared to 246 in 2018/19).
Residential and nursing care
The number of people requiring nursing or residential care in the first six months of 2018/19
reduced by 3% when compared to the same period last year.
2,350 people lived in residential or nursing care in the first six months of 2017/18 versus 2281 in
the same period of 2018/19. The impact of the Duncan House discharge to assess facility and
other initiatives which support people to remain independent in their own home have facilitated a
reduction in the use of nursing and care home placements.
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Community Care Plus
Community Care Plus is a new service that provides one-to-one sub-acute healthcare for patients
in their own home, delivering interventions typically only available in a hospital setting. The focus
is on the delivery of therapies, IV antibiotics and breast drains. The team in-reach into hospital
wards to identify suitable patients who could continue their treatment at home under the
responsibility of the hospital consultant. The service has managed up to 25 patients at one time in
the last six months.

End of life (EOL) care
End of life care has been identified as a Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham joint priority for
2018/19. There is a working group, operating under the Unplanned Care Board looking to improve
identification of patients nearing the end of their life, reduce unnecessary hospital admissions /
lengths of stay and support more people to achieve their preferred place of death.
Whilst there are many outcome measures related to the end of life, one of the most important is
achieving a person’s preferred place of death. Our records show that 71% of patients in
Greenwich wish to die in their own home or care home. In Greenwich, only 24% of people achieve
this, with around 55% of all deaths of Greenwich residents occurring in hospital (Royal Borough
Greenwich Public Health team 2018).
We intend to better support people nearing end of life to be cared for and to die in their preferred
place of care, which is usually their home, or other community-based settings such as a care
home or sheltered housing. To achieve this we will continue to work with our partners, including
Greenwich and Bexley Community Hospice and Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, to
commission planned 24/7 community support, with advanced care planning, co-ordination of care
and effective multi-disciplinary team working.
A working group of key stakeholders has been meeting regularly over several months to review
existing end of life provision and develop recommendations for improvements within the following
workstreams:
•
•
•
•

Early identification and management
Workforce and development
Care planning
Connectivity between services

As a CCG we are currently working to deliver the following:
•
•
•
•
•

Delivery of seven-day specialist palliative care input into Queen Elizabeth Hospital
A programme of work to ensure consistency with guidelines and standard of best practice
Commissioning an end of life care programme of education for health and social care
professionals
Creation of an end of life portal with service directory, with potential to extend this offer to
patients and families
A rapid increase in the number of Co-ordinate My Care (CMC) records completed for
Greenwich patients from a current level of ~50 per year to over 800 per year – A CMC
record is a digital urgent care plan which is designed to record the patient’s personal
preferences and wishes on how they would like to be cared for, alongside key clinical
information. The plan is online and viewable 24/7 by all the health and social care
professionals involved in a patient’s care, and out of hours services including Out of Hours
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GPs (OOHGPs), NHS 111 and the London Ambulance Service. In addition to improving the
quality of life for Greenwich residents in their final days, these plans will help to avoid
unplanned visits to A&E and hospital admissions.
Diabetes transformation fund
The diabetes transformation fund is currently in its third operational year and comprises the
following:
Structured education for Type 2 Diabetes
Greenwich CCG joined with CCGs across South London so that patients with diagnosis of Type 2
diabetes can access education from any location across South London, to maximise patients’ selfmanagement. Structured education is available through a central booking system, which offers
additional choice and flexibility for patients who are now able to fit these courses around work and
other personal commitments.
Treatment target
The treatment target provides specialist support to patients with high long-term blood glucose
levels (HbA1C) to achieve reduction in their HbA1C levels. This service has continued to offer
additional support to practices, to ensure that the patients’ care processes and treatment targets
are achieved. Reports available have shown that patients accessing this service are successfully
achieving their treatment targets.
Specialist Multidisciplinary Diabetic Foot Team (MDfT)
The MDfT clinic at Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) has offered improved access for Greenwich
patients with active diabetic foot disease to improve management outcomes and reduce risk of
amputations. A committed team including a vascular surgeon, diabetologists and a podiatrist work
with local practices to deliver early interventions for diabetic patients, close to home, with a plan in
place to deliver a 24 hour seven days service across South East London.
NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme
This is led by Public Health identifying patients within the pre-diabetes range, to offer behavioural
intervention to enable them to reduce their risk of developing Type 2 diabetes through weight loss,
improved diet and increased levels of physical activity. As part of the commitment to minimise the
prevalence of Type 2 diabetes in Greenwich, Public health is working collaboratively with the CCG
to improve awareness of diabetes risks amongst residents as well as drive an increase in referrals
to this programme.
Musculoskeletal service (MSK)
The Greenwich Musculoskeletal Service (MSK) delivered by Circle Health began in April 2017 and
has continued to deliver a quality service for Greenwich patients. Over 95% of patients have
received treatment within 18 weeks of referral from their GP. In 2019/20, the service is focusing on
increasing service user engagement and recruiting more patient representatives to support this.
Continuing healthcare (CHC)
In 2018/19 the CHC team delivered transformational change to the CHC assessment process in
partnership with RBG. This has contributed to Greenwich CCG becoming one of the highest
performing CCGs across the country. During 2018/19 the CCG delivered both NHS England
(NHSE) national performance targets for CHC despite a 26% rise in demand from 2017/18:
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•
•

93% of all referrals for CHC funding assessment were completed with 28 days against the
national standard of 80%
No full NHS CHC assessments took place in an acute hospital setting thereby meeting the
‘less than 15%’ target.

CHC has maintained its commitment to offer everyone eligible for CHC funding a personal health
budget (PHB) and has significantly improved both systems and processes through commissioning
a new provider.
Our integrated partnership working with RBG delivered a transformation programme including two
new pathways - discharge to assess from hospital and joint funding - creating improvements and
efficiencies. We established a strategy to improve the care and provision of services for Young
People who are transitioning to Adult Services and this work will continue into 2019/20.
The CCG has worked towards closer collaboration with South East London CCGs through the
South East London Continuing Healthcare (SEL CHC) Review Group. We have achieved: A
shared policy for commissioning CHC services; a SEL CHC contract for specialist care; agreed
preferred providers and standard tariffs for domiciliary care; and conducted a retrospective
financial review of CHC services over five years.
Our challenge in 2019/20 will be to deliver high quality sustainable CHC services against
increasing cost pressures and the demand for complex health services.
Improved constitutional standards
Greenwich CCG continues to focus on improving performance across all acute and non-acute
NHS constitutional standards with regards to cancer standards. Two-week wait targets continue to
be met, both against trajectory and the national target. However, the 62-day target has not been
achieved.
Cancer performance continues to be monitored through the 62-day Leadership Group, and a
South East London cancer delivery plan has been developed to ensure that SEL providers can
improve performance and improve treatment times for tertiary referrals. A recovery plan that
focuses on challenged pathways – prostrate, lung/thoracic, lower gastrointestinal, head and neck
and gynaecology – has been progressed and most actions from the original plan are now
complete.
Performance analysis: Improving quality and performance
The CCG performance is measured against a set of national and local standards that reflect the
timeliness, quality and safety of care delivered to patients. These standards help to monitor how
well the CCG is performing. Areas of care that fall short of targets have robust action plans in
place to ensure improvement.
The CCG has two major reports that provide patients and interested parties with performancerelated information. The reports, which are listed below, are presented to the Governing Body and
are available on the NHS Greenwich CCG website:
•

The Integrated Performance and Quality report focuses on NHS constitutional standards for
acute and non-acute services, such as elective waiting times, and the targets that are
nationally required to demonstrate that the CCG is delivering timely, high quality, safe,
patient-centred and responsive care.
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•

The Finance report covers the activities and care the CCG purchases from provider
organisations such as hospitals, community and mental health services and the voluntary
sector, and provides information on how the CCG manages resources for the local
population.

This information is closely monitored by NHS England, primarily through the CCG assurance
process, as set out in the Improvement and Assessment Framework and through multiple returns
submitted throughout the year. The CCG is working closely with the South East London
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (SEL STP) assurance team to improve
performance.
The following table shows NHS Greenwich’s CCG performance against national performance
measures from April 2018 to March 2019.
Year end results for the Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) are published by NHS
England. In-year, the CCG IAF indicators are refreshed on MyNHS.
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NHS CCG Greenwich, Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)/Standards
Accident & Emergency (A&E) 4 hour wait - all types - at Lewisham & Greenwich NHS
Trust (LGT)
A&E 12 hour trolley wait (LGT)

Target/
threshold
92%
0

Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

87.6%

90.1%

90.0%

90.4%

89.1%

87.4%

88.6%

86.3%

86.3%

83.8%

81.6%

84.9%

Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC)

387

0
252

0
234

0
150

0
203

0
294

7
394

25
320

10
180

14
77

18
121

27
237

12
221

18 week, Referral To Treatment (RTT) Incomplete pathways

92%

87.9%

87.5%

86.9%

87.2%

86.5%

85.8%

86.5%

86.4%

86.6%

86.0%

86.0%

85.1%

0

14
99.0%

16
98.9%

15
98.7%

19
98.8%

14
98.9%

12
98.2%

14
98.3%

9
98.4%

8
97.0%

10
95.0%

13
96.7%

13
97.1%

95.8%
94.4%
98.7%
85.7%
96.6%

96.2%
93.8%
97.7%
92.9%
100.0%

95.6%
98.5%
94.4%
89.5%
96.8%

96.7%
95.5%
97.9%
93.3%
100.0%

95.8%
96.9%
96.8%
100.0%
97.8%

95.7%
100.0%
97.5%
100.0%
100.0%

96.5%
97.3%
98.9%
95.0%
100.0%

96.6%
93.9%
96.3%
94.4%
96.2%

97.0%
97.5%
94.1%
100.0%
100.0%

95.4%
90.0%
93.4%
88.9%
100.0%

97.3%
97.5%
97.1%
88.9%
100.0%

96.2%
98.4%
97.8%
100.0%
100.0%

RTT 52+ week waiters
Diagnostics – 6 weeks+
2 week wait - all cancers
2 week wait - breast symptomatic
31 day - 1st definitive treatment
31 day subsequent - surgery
31 day subsequent - chemotherapy

99%
93%
93%
96%
94%
98%

31 day subsequent - radiotherapy

94%

90.0%

96.4%

96.0%

94.7%

96.4%

92.3%

96.6%

97.1%

96.8%

94.7%

93.0%

97.7%

62 days wait from GP referral

85%

83.7%

85.1%

84.6%

69.6%

74.5%

65.0%

67.3%

76.7%

69.1%

64.0%

78.6%

74.5%

First treatment in 62 days, screening referral

90%

Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA), the number of breaches
Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) Risk Assessment (LGT)
Clostridium difficile
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Access Rate
IAPT - recovery rate
IAPT - % waited less than 6 weeks for a course of treatment (for those finishing a
course of treatment)
IAPT - % waited less than 18 weeks for a course of treatment (for those finishing a
course of treatment)

100.0%

100.0%

85.7%

90.9%

100.0%

81.8%

100.0%

66.7%

66.7%

100.0%

100.0%

0

2

3

2

0

3

1

1

6

1

1

2

4

95%
61

98%

97%

96%

96%

96%

97%

97%

97%

96%

0

2
0

3
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

2
0

3
1

5
0

0
2

3
0

0
0

2
0

>1.4%

1.3%

1.5%

1.2%

1.6%

1.4%

1.3%

1.4%

1.4%

0.9%

1.4%

1.1%

50%

56%

53%

56%

58%

53%

58%

60%

54%

58%

53%

52%

>75%

97%

97%

98%

96%

97%

96%

99%

96%

97%

95%

96%

>95%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

66.7%

70.0%
71

60.0%

80.0%

75.0%
65

50.0%

100.0%

100.0%
47

66.7%

88.9%

95.8
100.0%
45

50.0%

Care Programme Approach (CPA) follow up within 7 days

>95%

Early intervention in psychosis

>50%

Cancelled ops for non-clinical reasons (LGT)

98.9%

n/a

98.8%

95.5%

>66.7%

64.7%

65.3%

65.0%

65.6%

65.9%

65.1%

61.7%

61.4%

62.0%

62.5%

61.9%

55.6%

Friend & Family (F&F) inpatient % who recommend (LGT)

n/a

93.9%

95.6%

94.1%

93.2%

94.8%

95.0%

95.3%

92.9%

93.5%

95.1%

94.5%

95.3%

F&F A&E % who recommend (LGT)

n/a

95.3%

95.6%

94.7%

95.3%

95.7%

95.1%

95.5%

95.1%

94.8%

96.4%

94.9%

93.8%

F&F maternity antenatal % who recommend (LGT)

n/a

97.9%

93.1%

96.5%

96.8%

95.3%

95.1%

98.9%

97.8%

97.7%

98.2%

100.0%

97.9%

F&F maternity postnatal % who recommend (LGT)

n/a

83.6%

88.2%

90.1%

86.9%

88.0%

88.7%

86.9%

93.9%

96.5%

88.8%

92.3%

89.5%

Dementia diagnosis rate

F&F maternity birth % who recommend (LGT)
% NHS Full Continuing Health Care assessments (CHC) taking place in an acute
hospital setting
% cases with a positive NHS CHC checklist, the eligibility decision is made by the
CCG within 28 days from receipt of the checklist.
CHC - Number of incomplete referrals exceeding 28 days by 12+ weeks

n/a

94.2%

96.6%

96.8%

93.4%

92.3%

94.9%

92.1%

94.9%

96.4%

95.2%

96.5%

96.3%

<15%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

>80%

100%

95%

94%

100%

100%

86%

100%

100%

88%

88%

81%

94%

<5

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Performance delivered or achieved
Performance not delivered or achieved

30

Challenges addressed
Accident and Emergency four hour standard
The national target states that 95% of patients should be seen and treated and then
admitted or discharged within four hours of arriving into the Accident and Emergency
(A&E) department. The performance table *demonstrates that this was another
challenging year for Lewisham and Greenwich Trust (LGT) as the national target of
95% was not delivered. The Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham (BGL) system-wide
A&E Delivery Board will continue to monitor progress against the performance
improvement plan.
Some of the actions being taken to improve performance include the following:
•
•
•
•

LGT has placed a Consultant lead at the front door of A&E
Additional bed capacity came into operation at Queen Elizabeth Hospital
(QEH) in January 2019
Addressing staff shortages, for example through instituting overtime and split
shifts
Crisis Café for mental health patients opened at the beginning of January
2019 to help alleviate some of the pressures on the emergency department
and reduce 12 hour breaches.

Healthcare acquired infections (HCAIs)
There are three national targets for HCAIs:
•
•
•
•

Clostridium difficile (C.difficile)
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA)
Escherichia coli (E.coli) bacteraemia - this national target was introduced,
following a five-year national ambition launched in 2016 to achieve a 50%
reduction across the entire health sector by March 2021
There are no set trajectories for Methicillin-Sensitive Staphylococcus Aureus
(MSSA) Blood Stream Infection (BSI), or E. coli BSI, but they must be reported.

HCAIs can be acquired in the community or in hospital, and MRSA especially is
becoming more difficult to treat with antibiotics, so prevention is a priority area for all
NHS staff.
Clostridium difficile
• The Greenwich C.difficile target threshold for 2018/19 was 61. This number
includes cases originating from acute care and the community.
• In 2018/19 the figures to date show in total 25 cases of C.difficile in Greenwichregistered patients; of those cases 18 were community acquired and seven
were hospital-acquired C.difficile cases.
• Post-infection reviews consistently identify the need for improvement in the use
of antibiotics as a significant factor in reducing the burden of this infection.
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MRSA
• The Greenwich MRSA target threshold for 2017/18 was zero and remained the
same for 2018/19.
• In 2018/19 the figures to date show three cases of MRSA attributed to
Greenwich CCG commissioned services.
• An ongoing process for post-infection review for all MRSA cases is in place to
enable learning and action planning.
E.coli
• The Greenwich E.coli target threshold for 2018/19 was a 20% reduction from
the 2016/17 figure which was 189.
• In 2018/19 the figures to date show 146 cases of E.coli associated with
Greenwich CCG commissioned services.
Tuberculosis (TB)
• Greenwich has had the highest incidence of TB in South East London boroughs
for the last six years with >100 TB cases each year. Most of these cases of TB
are a reactivation of latent TB, which could have been prevented if those with
latent TB were treated with anti-TB medications.
• TB case numbers and rates in Greenwich continue to decline, although at a
slower pace since 2015. In 2017, 70 active cases of TB were notified in
Greenwich residents, a rate of 25 per 100,000 populations. The table below
shows the TB rate from 2014 until 2017.
2014
2015
2016
2017
N
Rate N
Rate
N
Rate
N
Rate
Greenwich 97
36.1
92
33.5
64
22.9
70
25
Active TB data for 2018/19 was not available at the time of the report publication.
Latent TB Infection (LTBI) testing and treatment by Greenwich GP practices
• Greenwich CCG and Public Health Greenwich support the NHS England and
Public Health England National LTBI testing and treatment programme 20152020 and rolled out the scheme across all Greenwich CCG practices from 2016.
• The LTBI testing and treatment is offered to new and existing patients who are
aged 16-35, were born outside the UK in a high-risk country and have lived in
England for less than five years.
• Greenwich has made good progress and expected to test a further 1200
patients by April 2019, having applied successfully to NHS England for
additional funding. Since the start of the screening programme out of 1720 tests
364 (21.16%) tests were LTBI positive.
Focus on mental health
Improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT)
Greenwich CCG continues to achieve and maintain one of the highest recovery rates
in the country for people accessing IAPT services (56.6% against a 50% national
target). However, the CCG did not meet the 19% access rate for 2018/19. Based on
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local figures we are currently achieving 15.7%. We are looking at how we can
improve our access rate and achieve the national target from 2019/20 onwards.
Dementia
The target is for at least two thirds (66.7%) of people with dementia to be diagnosed.
Greenwich CCG has reached 63.1% for 2018/19. There have been challenges with
data issues, which have affected the accuracy of the figures reported. The CCG is
working with the local provider and GPs to address this issue. Work is being
undertaken locally to ensure that GPs have recorded all people with a diagnosis of
dementia with a Greenwich GP, as well as working with providers, RBG and third
sector organisations to ensure appropriate and timely referrals are made to our local
Memory Service.
People with learning disabilities and or autism
The Transforming Care Programme (TCP) is the national response to the crises at
Winterbourne View and other inpatient units for people with learning disabilities (LD)
and or autism. Greenwich CCG is part of the South East London TCP which is
made up of six clinical commissioning groups, NHS England’s specialised
commissioners and six local authorities. They work with people with a learning
disability, autism or both, and their families and carers to agree and deliver local
plans for the programme. The programme originally ran from April 2016 to March
2019. The TCP has been extended to March 2020.
The TCP is overseeing two key areas of development:
• Admission prevention
o Autism Spectrum Disorder – proposals are being developed to look at support
services.
o Positive Behaviour Support training – training provided to families by the
Challenging Behaviour Foundation to learn more about positive behaviour.
The CCG is also considering enhancing the workforce within the community teams.
• Building capacity
o Intensive Community Support: proposals are being submitted to develop
intensive community support to the Learning Disability teams to embed
learning, advice and prevent crisis presentations
o Step-up Step-down service: a proposal has been submitted and the model
has been agreed in principle to develop a service for crisis presentations to
avoid service user presenting at A&E, but instead to be supported by a
specialist service.
o A transforming care partnership housing strategy will be developed. Funding
has been approved for the next stage of scoping the service.
Learning disability mortality review
The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme is the first national
programme of its kind aimed at making improvements to the lives of people with
learning disabilities. People with learning disabilities, their families and carers have
been central to developing and delivering the programme.
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A key part of the programme is to support local areas to review the deaths of people
with learning disabilities. The initial part of the programme was to develop a review
process for the deaths of people with learning disabilities. This has been happening
in Greenwich since May 2017. During this period Greenwich has recorded 16
deaths.
The CCG has an LeDeR steering group who meet regularly to collate information
about the deaths of people with learning disabilities so that common themes,
learning points and recommendations can be identified from the reviews to make
improvements to ongoing service provision.
Information about the CCG’s TCP can be found here.
Annual health checks
People with learning disabilities often have poorer physical and mental health than
other people. The annual health check enhanced service is a GP based scheme that
all Greenwich GPs are signed up to deliver. It is for adults and young people aged 14
or above with learning disabilities who need more health support and who may
otherwise have health conditions that go undetected. It aims to try and detect health
problems early.
The annual health check is also a chance for the person to get used to going to their
GP practice, and for young people to begin to develop a more independent
relationship with their GP; this reduces their fear of going at other times. We are
working alongside the TCP to increase the uptake of annual health checks by
providing training and guidance to GPs and promoting health checks within the
learning disability population. The CCG has commissioned a health facilitator to help
with this work. The NHS Long Term Plan states that the learning disability annual
health check target is 75% for 2019/20.
Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS)
Greenwich’s approach to improving outcomes for children and young people’s
mental health and wellbeing is outlined in the Children and Young People Plan 20172020. The 2018/19 Greenwich CAMHS local transformation plan refresh describes
our continued commitment to improving mental health and emotional well-being
services for children and young people (CYP). The plan was designed to align with
local and regional partners and priorities.
Priority areas include a focus on improving urgent and emergency care for children
and young people experiencing a mental health crisis out of hours, and enhancing
our early intervention and prevention offer. The priority areas will align with the local
authority's new Start Well early intervention and prevention service model.
As part of a tri-borough partnership including Bexley and Bromley CCGs, we are
funding out-of-hours children and young people mental health crisis liaison service,
which launched in early 2018/19. The service provides direct access to specialist
mental health support for children and young people presenting in a mental health
crisis at acute hospitals outside of working hours.
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Work on the South London Partnership New Models of Care Programme for
CAMHS, aims to improve the experience of young people and their families using
acute and specialist CAMHS services (Tier 4) in South London. The partnership is
comprised of three provider organisations - South West London and St. George’s
Mental Health NHS Trust, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and South London and
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust. The focus is on ensuring that children and young
people receive the right care closer to home. Children and young people in inpatient
settings are now placed within seven miles of home, compared with 73 miles last
year.
Greenwich CAMHS remain a ‘beacon site’ for the children and young people IAPT
programme.
In 2018/19 the CCG maintained focus on helping children and families to access
appropriate support and building capacity across children’s services.
Greenwich CAMHS is now providing established clinical in-reach to a range of
services, including state-funded schools, nurseries, children’s social care and the
offending youth service (co-located). Specifically, Greenwich clinical in-reach
includes:
•
•

Specialist mental health support, advice, consultation and training for
professionals as programmed activities (or when needed)
Targeted, outcomes-focused, evidence-based mental health interventions for
vulnerable children and young people with mild to moderate mental health
difficulties (e.g. looked after children, children in need, children on the edge of
care, young offenders, NEET).

We are committed to further improving national access rate targets, our provider is
working closely with NHSE and the STP to ensure up to date recovery plans are in
place, and we are piloting an online counselling service from Kooth.
The CAMHS parenting offer is now well established and communicated through the
parenting programmes, and specifically, the parenting lead transformation post, with
a wide variety of groups being held across a variety of settings. The objective of this
post was to develop and implement an evidence-based parenting strategy by
facilitating and supervising a range of parenting courses.
Regular engagement with children and young people, families and our partners has
been key to shaping our vision and transformation priorities, providing a core tenet in
the commissioning and development of services in Greenwich. These discussions
have been facilitated through a number of forums including:
• The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformation and Joint Commissioning
Groups with representatives from health, voluntary and community sector,
schools, social care, Public Health and early help. These groups meet regularly
to discuss priorities and to oversee the delivery of our transformation priorities.
• The Greenwich youth voice groups, particularly the Greenwich Young Mental
Health Ambassadors, a group of young people who have identified mental health
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•
•

as a priority and work with us to shape our transformation priorities and
engagement with children and young people across the borough.
A schools’ mental health network has been established to support our
discussions around the place of schools in support children’s mental health.
A parents’ reference group is in the process of being established to build in
additional opportunities to hear from parents.

The CCG in partnership with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, Bexley CCG, and
Bromley CCG bid for and was awarded £738,000 from the Perinatal Development
Fund to set up a perinatal mental health service as part of the Wave 2 sites for our
population.
The proposal is for a trust-wide specialist perinatal community service with a hub and
spoke model. The project manager and consultant psychiatrist have worked to
ensure:
• A service implementation group has been set up with representatives from
mental health, management in Oxleas, maternity and obstetrics, GP, CCG,
estates, finance, IT, HR and health visiting across Bromley, Bexley and
Greenwich.
• The team base has been identified.
• Meetings to establish pathways into the service have been held with
maternity, liaison psychiatry and obstetricians across the three boroughs and
Darent Valley.
The project went live on 29 February 2019.
We are also transforming care for young people with a learning disability and/or
autism. During Learning Disability Week in June 2018 we engaged with service
users and champions as part of the Greenwich Big Conversation. Read more here.
Transforming Care – learning disability and autism
In October 2015, NHS England, the Local Government Association and the
Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) published ‘Building the
right support ', a national plan to develop community services for people with a
learning disability and/or autism and who display behaviour that challenges
(including those with a mental health condition). The delivery of this plan is being
overseen by the national Transforming Care programme. In South East London, a
Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) has been established comprising Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and local authorities from Bexley, Bromley,
Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark, plus NHS England Specialised
Commissioning.
The South East London TCP has a vision for people with learning disabilities and/or
autism to achieve equality of life chances, live as independently as possible and
have the right support from mainstream health and care services.
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To achieve this, the TCP is implementing plans in three key areas:
1. Improving discharge from inpatient care: ensuring those that require a stay in
hospital are able to return to the community as soon as possible
2. Preventing admissions to inpatient care: ensuring that care services are able
to identify and respond to people at risk of admission living in the community
3. Building community service capacity: ensuring that the correct specialist
services are in place to support people living in the community
Engagement approach
The London Transforming Care Programme Board includes a user member who has
a learning disability who is from Greenwich through Advocacy in Greenwich. Our
Healthier South East London (OHSEL) Transforming Care Programme is part of the
London Board. The CCG’s Managing Director is the overall Senior Responsible
Owner for the South East London Transforming Care Programme, which has an
operational and strategic board (the strategic boards includes a user member from
the South East London Transforming Care Programme learning disability service
user forum).
The South East London Transforming Care Programme User Forum (meets bimonthly) – brings together learning disability service users and carers from across
south east London. This forum advises and participates in the CCG commissioning
of services across south east London.
The learning disability service user forum is supported by 3Cs advocacy group.
Greenwich has transforming care steering group which meets bi-monthly.
The CCG associate director of commissioning for mental health and learning
disability provides regular feedback to the Greenwich learning disability partnership
board.
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Financial overview

The CCG commissions healthcare services to meet the needs and improve the
health of the population of Greenwich. The main NHS providers are Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust, Guy’s and St.Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust and Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust. In addition, the CCG funds the prescribing costs of
Greenwich GP practices and holds delegated responsibility, from NHS England, for
commissioning primary care services within Greenwich.
Overall the CCG has delivered a surplus of £0.3 million for 2018/19. This is in line
with the planned surplus of £0.3 million.
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The CCG is required to achieve several specific financial targets. These are
summarised in the table below:
CCG financial targets 2018/19

Deliver
statutory
financial duties

Deliver
administrative
duty under the
better
payments
practice

Target
(£000’s)

Actual
(£000’s)

Achieved

Agreed Surplus

300

334

Achieved

Expenditure not to exceed
income
Operate Under Resource
Revenue Limit
Not to exceed Running
Cost Allowance
Operate under Capital
Resource Limit
95% of NHS creditor
payments within 30 days

438,956

438,622

Achieved

432,161

431,827

Achieved

6,161

6,128

Achieved

74

74

Achieved

95%

98.13%

Achieved

95% of non-NHS creditor
payments within 30 days

95%

98.31%

Achieved

As reported above, we are pleased to confirm that the CCG has delivered all its
financial performance targets for 2018/19.
A financial risk-share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in South East
London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the risk-share
agreement be enacted in 2018/19. The final revenue resource limit values included
in the 2018/19 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the risk-share
agreement.
CCG running costs
The CCG’s running cost allocation in 2018/19 was £6,157,000. Following last year’s
focus on recruiting permanent members to its structure the CCG has been able to
underspend its allocation by £237,000.
Future years
2019/20 represents the first year of a new planning period within the NHS, with the
intention that it provides the pillars upon which the CCG and wider health economy
can develop a system response to the healthcare needs of the Greenwich population.
The CCG is planning a surplus of £3,600,000 in year as its share of an overall South
East London control total. The achievement of the plan is dependent upon the delivery
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of significant QIPP savings of £12.9 million in 2018/19 together with the management
of other key financial risks.
The following pie chart shows the CCG plans to spend its budget in 2019/20.

Other matters
Remuneration paid to external auditors in relation to audit work for 2018/19 was
£55,854 (including non-recoverable VAT). Remuneration for non-audit work was nil.
The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for release
of information.
Annual Accounts
The full annual accounts together with the Statement of Accountable Officer’s
responsibilities and Independent Auditors Report are included in section 3.
Audit Committee highlights
• Approved an annual internal audit plan with RSM UK to provide the Audit
Committee and Governing Body with the assurance that Greenwich CCG is
operating effectively and productively and monitored any actions arising from
the audits.
• Monitored and reviewed financial and other risks and associated controls,
corporate governance and financial assurance.
Further detail of Audit Committee membership and activity can be found in the
members’ and governance sections.
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Integrated Governance Committee (replacing the Finance, Performance and
QIPP (FPQ) Committee from September 2018) highlights
• Provided assurance to the Governing Body that affordable and appropriate
budgets were set.
• Effectively monitored the finance and QIPP performance throughout 2018/19
and advised on corrective actions where appropriate.
• Maintained the QIPP Planning Delivery and Monitoring Group reporting to the
Financial Recovery Board for QIPP business plans.
Finance and Investment Committee (replacing Finance Recovery Board (FRB)
from September 2018) highlights
• The purpose of FRB is to lead and drive the financial recovery of the CCG, so
it can return to recurrent financial balance and ensure that patient safety and
quality are not compromised.
• During 2018/19, the FRB oversaw the delivery of the CCG QIPP efficiencies
of £12.5 million and approved the QIPP plan for 2018/19.

Quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP)
Quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) is a programme designed to
support clinical teams and NHS organisations to improve quality of care whilst making
efficiency savings that can be reinvested into the NHS.
The CCG had a fully identified QIPP plan of £14.3 million for 2018/19. The schemes
relate to improving the quality of care and efficiencies in the services that we are
required to commission and securing better value for money.
Acute schemes included demand management and referral management to the
appropriate healthcare setting and shifting activity from hospitals to community to
allow hospitals to be more efficient in treating those requiring attendance or admission.
Community schemes included the re-design of the community district nursing
service, the re-design and implementation of an integrated COPD/asthma/respiratory
service in the community, and the increased utilisation and more flexible use of
intermediate care and nursing home beds.
Primary Care and prescribing schemes related to increasing access to GPs for
Greenwich-registered patients and more efficient primary care prescribing using best
practice approaches.
£12.9 million of the QIPP schemes were fully delivered in 2018/19 leaving a shortfall
of £1.8 million against the plan.
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The table below summaries the delivery of each scheme in £000s.
QIPP performance 2018/19
Acute
CHC, community
Mental health
Primary care & Prescribing
Other
Total QIPP

Validated
Plan
6,442
3,449
450
2,550
1,396
14,287

Actual

Variance

4,874
3,249
450
1,810
2,471
12,854

(1,568)
(200)
(740)
1,075
(1,433)

Sustainable development
The NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy for England provides a framework which
addresses sustainability in how we operate as an organisation in our own right, and
in terms of how we contract for services from providers of healthcare. The plan aims
to:
•
•
•

drive down direct C02 emissions and energy usage whilst also reducing
revenue expenditure
influence commissioned services to reduce their carbon footprint in support of
the 10% target reduction
ensure that all new buildings and other initiatives are developed with
reference to the plan.

Local plans focus on the same areas and some of the key actions are detailed
below.
Energy and carbon management: our office in based in the Woolwich Centre, a
modern building with many sustainable features including automatic lighting that
switches off when no one is present, electricity generation from solar PV to offset the
buildings electrical costs and solar water heating. Cooling to the main areas of the
building is run by state-of-the-art energy efficient chiller system via chilled beams,
and heating in the building is run by 96% energy efficient condensing gas boilers.
Procurement and food: our main strategy is to influence the carbon footprint of
NHS services using our procurement framework, which addresses environmental
issues. All contracts for healthcare services include clauses requiring providers to
demonstrate their measured progress on climate change adaptation, mitigation and
sustainable development, and include performance against carbon reduction
management plans.
Low carbon travel, transport and access: we have implemented a range of new
services, and developed existing services, to bring them closer to the home. Cycling
has been promoted actively for employees now we have moved to The Woolwich
Centre with excellent cycle storage and related facilities. The Council operates a
cycle hire scheme that allows employees to make use of one of six Brompton
bicycles for work travel.
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Water: efficient use of water is embedded in new capital projects. For example,
Eltham Community Hospital and The Woolwich Centre harvest rainwater for use in
the building. The Woolwich Centre also has integral filtered watered in all its kitchens
for drinking.
Waste: recyclable waste is appropriately disposed of and we are part of RBG’s
active strategies to reduce waste and promote recycling. We continue to focus on
reducing our use of printing.
Organisational and workforce development: staff can use low carbon travel
options, with walking and cycling encouraged and aligned business mileage
processes. Audio, video and web conferencing technology and remote working
capability are in place and promoted to avoid going into Central London for
meetings. We are also promoting online services in GP practices, so patients can
also reduce their journeys.
Role of partnerships and networks: the Greenwich Core Strategy commits us to
working in partnership with stakeholders under Local Strategic Partnerships, in
particular RBG.
Finance: as part of the exercise to calculate the carbon footprint, carbon reduction
targets will be set to achieve the NHS target and take advantage of schemes which
support investment in energy efficiency initiatives.

Quality and safety
Quality is at the centre of NHS Greenwich CCG’s vision and values and we are
committed to ensuring that the services we commission on behalf of the people of
Greenwich are of the highest quality and are delivered with respect and compassion.
NHS Greenwich CCG has a statutory duty to ensure improvement in the quality of
services, and as such must exercise its functions with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals for or in connection
with the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness. In order to fulfil this
requirement, during 2018/19, the CCG has ensured that the quality and safety
mechanisms that have been established remain robust to ensure that high quality
and safe care is commissioned and maintained.
The CCG’s approach to quality is underpinned by the Five Year Forward View, CCG
Improvement and Assessment Framework, NHS Operational Planning, Contracting
Guidance and Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STPs) which are all
driven by the pursuit of better quality for all patients. The CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework includes Better Care priorities and the provision of high
quality for hospitals, primary medical services and adult social care.
Our commitment to quality of services was reinforced by putting in place improved
governance arrangements through the creation of an Integrated Governance
Committee in 2018/19 replacing the Quality Committee. The Integrated Governance
Committee was created to ensure oversight of the activities of the CCG and of
providers, particularly in respect of Quality, Safety, Performance and Finance.
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NHS Greenwich CCG has a number of mechanisms by which it ensures it monitors
the quality of services. These are listed below:
Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) meetings
As part of the contractual process, clinical quality review group (CQRG) meetings
are held with each acute, community and mental health provider organisation and
independent providers. Each provider is required to attend a CQRG. Relationships
have been established to support local accountability and response to local needs
and requirements.
The role of the CQRG includes:
•

Providing a robust mechanism where commissioners and providers can work
together to identify and strive to meet standards that will serve to deliver
services and improve quality.

•

Providing an opportunity to review areas for improvement and good practice
and monitor any improvement activities via the provider’s action plans.

•

Receiving data and information from the trust for scrutiny and challenge. This
data is triangulated with information available to the CCG about the provider
in the form of complaints or themes via our Quality alert system and also with
soft intelligence from patient feedback or through external agencies such as
Healthwatch. External scrutiny is provided through CQC inspections and, in
the case of Foundation Trusts, through NHS Improvement.

Improvements have been made in a number of areas following the work undertaken
in these meetings including ensuring that all providers have a robust process for
identifying and dealing with adverse incidents, including informing the patient and
service deep dives. There is a well-established process for learning across the
Health and Social Care System when a Health Care Acquired Infection (HCAI)
occurs in order to prevent further infections and a process established to eliminate
use of inappropriate mixed sex accommodation.
Quality visits
NHS Greenwich CCG has maintained a programme of site quality visits to our
providers. These are undertaken by our quality team through an agreed protocol and
with our neighbouring CCG partners for large commissioned services. These are
also undertaken on an ad-hoc basis within provider organisations when the CCG
have persistent or increasing quality concerns identified and provide intelligence to
gain assurance that there are robust measures in place within an organisation to
ensure that high quality care is in place, or to identify areas where improvement is
required. The visits are conducted by a small clinical team from the CCG using a
defined criterion based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) standards to assess the
standard of care, staffing and patient experience.
Greenwich CCG Integrated Governance Committee
This sub-committee of the CCG Governing Body is chaired by the CCG’s Governing
Body Nurse member and provides members with assurance in relation to the
systems and processes that have been put in place with regard to quality by the
organisation. This includes regular reports on complaints, performance, serious
incidents and quality alerts, quality visits, Healthcare Acquired Infections to identify
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trends and themes across commissioned services. The committee also reviews
inspection reports from regulatory bodies e.g. Care Quality Commission (CQC).
Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
NHSE leads a network of QSGs across the country to bring together different parts
of health and care systems locally and in each region of England to routinely share
information and intelligence to protect the quality of care patients receive. Over the
past year, Greenwich CCG has played an active role in the NHSE Quality
Surveillance Group which is held on alternate months.
The local health economy still has challenges to meet to improve the quality of
patients care. These are to:
• Reduce levels of harm in the event of serious incidents in particular never
event
• Reduce Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAIs)
• Achieve against the four hour A&E standard
• Promote patient dignity by eliminating mixed sex accommodation breaches
• Reduce the waiting times following a GP referral to treatment.
Quality highlights
• Implementation of revised terms of reference for the Oxleas Clinical Quality
Review Group (CQRG) to strengthen the focus on quality in community and
mental health services.
• The CCG set up a weekly Mental Health multi-agency Delayed Transfer of
Care (DTOC) working group which meets regularly to address the mental
health DTOCs that are reported at Oxleas. As a result of enhanced scrutiny,
streamlining and collaboration with partners in identifying and addressing
unnecessary Greenwich bed delays at Oxleas, the CCG has made good
progress in collaborating with RBG (RGB) colleagues to look at strategic joint
working.
• A programme of quality visits in 2018/19. These included:
- A medicines safety quality visit to Aspen Ward at Lewisham Hospital as
there had been concerns that Lewisham and Greenwich Trust (LGT) had
underperformed on two of the medicine management indicators
- Quality visit to Duncan House Care Home on 17 April 2018
- Quality Visits to Queen Elizabeth Hospital emergency department and
discharge lounge on 23 April 2018 with GPs and Quality team from Bexley,
Greenwich and Lewisham CCGs
- An assurance visit to a ward at Oxleas Foundation NHS Trust which
identified a significant gap in staff recording, understanding and
implementation of the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act.
• Implemented Service deep dives on quality at the provider CQRG meetings.
• Developed a quality framework for monitoring quality and reporting serious
incidents in general practice.
• Areas of outstanding and good practice outlined in the LGT CQC inspection
report published in January 2019.
• NHS Improvement notified LGT that they were no longer on the challenged
provider list
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What we will achieve in 2019/20:
• Ensuring commissioner assurance is received on the quality and safety
concerns identified in LGT Care Quality Commission (CQC) Improvement
plan.
• Accelerated implementation of the General Practice quality improvement
framework.
Information about our engagement across our health care providers and how we are
reviewing and responding to engagement activity and insight can be read on our
website at Engagement across our health care providers.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Oxleas appointed a new CEO, Matthew Trainer, with effect from October 2018. Mr
Trainer attended the March 2019 NHS GCCG Governing Body meeting and outlined
the progress underway. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertook an
inspection of Oxleas in November 2018. The inspection report was published in
March 2019 and the Trust received a Good rating, with a number of significant areas
of improvement. The CQC undertook an unannounced inspection of Oaktree Lodge
Unit at the Memorial Hospital site on 9 April 2018. As a result a warning notice was
served on Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust under Section 29a of the Health and Social
Care Act 2008. The CQC made a further unannounced visit to the unit on 20 June
2018 and found the Trust had met 95% of the areas identified in the notice. 5%
required further work and related to the Mental Capacity Act. The CQC found
significant improvements. The action plan continued to be reviewed at the CQRG
and related evidence provided to ensure the improvements are sustained on the unit
and shared across the Trust.
The CCG introduced a new meeting format for the Oxleas Clinical Quality Review
Group in 2018. A detailed programme was agreed with a series of deep dives into
commissioned services to enhance oversight and assurance.
Business cases for a Learning Disabilities Liaison nurse, Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) expansion and Service Community Adolescent
Mental Health (CAMHS) Liaison nurse were approved in 2018/19. Greenwich
CAMHS was recognised as one of five ‘Beacon Sites’ for the implementation of the
core principles of the Children & Young Persons (CYP) (IAPT) programme
(improving access to psychological therapies) and in delivering quality improvements
to patient and parent care. In particular, Greenwich CAMHS was commended for
delivering and embedding evidence-based care pathways across the service.
The Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) programme support work to increase the
uptake of annual health checks within GP practices has commenced.
Lewisham and Greenwich Hospitals NHS Trust (LGT)
LGT appointed a new CEO, Ben Travis, with effect from April 2018. Mr Travis
attended the January 2019 NHS GCCG Governing Body meeting and outlined a key
priority for the LGT was to continually improve safety and quality to provide the best
care for all patients.
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LGT’s new Chief Nurse, Angela Helleur, who started in April 2018, implemented a
more prudent approach to the reporting of serious incidents (SIs). A local policy to
lower the threshold for declaration of a new SI was introduced.
There was an increase in the number of PALS (Patients Advice and Liaison)
concerns reported at QEH and UHL sites since January 2018, with over 300
concerns expressed in April, May and June 2018. This correlated with an increase in
concerns expressed by patients, the public and staff to the CQC, which led to an
unannounced inspection visit to both sites in May 2018.
The inspection reports were published in July 2018. There were improvements in
several areas, with areas for improvement. Workforce was highlighted as a key area
for improvement. The vacancy rate improved from 17.4% in April 2018 to 13.9% in
December 2018 - 689 new staff since August with a “net joiner” position of 357.
The Trust introduced a new role of Associate Nurse to bridge the gap between
qualified and unqualified nursing staff. This has been devised with Health Education
England (HEE) and two cohorts of 20 students to commence the Nursing Associate
Programme 2018/19.
QEH Radiology service reported a 50% vacancy rate in radiology impacting on
reporting of x-rays.
A full CQC inspection took place in September 2018 and the Trust received an
overall rating of “Requires Improvement”. Within the report the Trust was rated as
good for the caring domain. Action plans were being developed with the CQC to
address the concerns identified in the report. The Trust continues to work on the
improvements needed to address the recommendations.
The Trust has a system in place for reviewing specified deaths using a Structured
Judgement Review (SJR) process. This is used in conjunction with National Early
Warning Signs (NEWS) audits and has contributed to improvements in care of the
deteriorating patients; this includes the NHSI recommended use of SBAR; Situation,
Background, Action, Review, to improve communication and handover in teams.
The Trust produced its quality account for 2018/19 concentrating on sustaining
improvements made in getting the basics right and “keeping patients safe” in
accordance with the requirements for quality accounts.
Patient safety
• NHS Greenwich CCG has a robust process in place to review pressure ulcers
from both Oxleas Foundation NHS Trust and Lewisham and Greenwich NHS
Trust, in partnership with NHS Bexley CCG. The CCG receives further
assurance via reports presented at Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG)
meetings on the management of pressure ulcers both in the community and in
the acute setting.
• The CCG continues to support providers to improve the quality of serious
incident (SI) reports through cooperative working, feedback and robust
monitoring of the implementation of all action plans.
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Having reviewed the findings from serious incident reports, we have classified them
as follows:
•
•

•

Diagnostic incidents including delays and failure to act on test results.
Pressure ulcers: Grade 3 and 4. We have seen an improvement in reporting
and are able to ensure that learning takes place which then helps to reduce
the incidence of ulcers and reduce re-occurrence. Grade 3 and 4 are the most
serious type of ulcers.
Apparent, actual or suspected self-inflicted harm, e.g. attempted suicide.

NHSI published a revised Never Events policy and framework in January 2018.
Never Events are serious incidents that are entirely preventable because guidance
or safety recommendations providing strong systemic protective barriers are
available at a national level and should have been implemented by all healthcare
providers. The main changes to the revised policy and framework are:
•
•

Removed the option for commissioners to impose financial sanctions on trusts
reporting Never Events.
Alignment of the Never Events policy and framework with the Serious Incident
framework, to achieve consistency across the two documents (a revised
Serious Incident framework will be published later in 2019).

Revisions to the list of Never Events, including two additional types of Never Events:
(i)
(ii)

Unintentional connection of a patient requiring oxygen to an air flowmeter
and
Undetected oesophageal intubation.

There were no never events for Greenwich residents reported by the CCG’s acute or
mental health provider for 2018/19.

Safeguarding adults and children
Safeguarding adults
Adult safeguarding activity has continued to increase in Greenwich following the
further implementation of the Care Act 2014 and associated statutory guidance
relevant to safeguarding. Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards applications continues to
see sustained growth, and although RBG (as the supervisory body) has improved
the process, authorising these within statutory timeframes remains challenging.
Together with RBG, we monitor the quality of care in nursing homes across
Greenwich, with a focus on care homes which have been rated as inadequate or
requiring improvement by the CQC. This is within the context of a fragile care home
market with workforce problems, changing ownership and clinical leadership
challenges. In 2017/18 the Safeguarding Adult Board asked the CCG to look at a
small number of deaths that occurred in care homes where choking risks had been
identified. In 2018/19 in partnership with RBG, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and
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the care home sector, we continued to act to reduce risks of further choking incidents
and improve care home staff awareness and management of risks.
Working closely with RBG safeguarding team, the CCG monitors the number of
category three and four pressure ulcers in care homes with nursing and supports
both of the pressure ulcer panels established by Lewisham and Greenwich Trust
(QEH site) and Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. The number of pressure ulcers
reported from care homes with nursing is relatively low, with 12 reported in 2018/19
to date of this report. Only one of those has been assessed as avoidable, and hence
developed as a result of neglect by care staff.
Responsibilities in high-risk areas such as Prevent and Modern Slavery have also
increased: Greenwich has a well-defined multi-agency referral and management
system to Prevent referrals (Channel Panel) to reduce the risks associated with
extremist radicalisation. The CCG has also teamed with RBG safeguarding and
community safety to provide multi-agency Modern Slavery awareness training to
staff. CCG staff are required to complete mandatory e-learning packages to Prevent
and Adult Safeguarding.
Domestic Homicide Reviews locally have identified that primary care staff need
further education and awareness raising in the area of domestic abuse. Specific
domestic abuse training has been delivered to GPs and practice staff in December
2018 and February 2019, in partnership with RBG’s Community Safety team. In
2019/20 it is planned to commission the IRIS programme, a domestic abuse
package targeted explicitly at improving identification and referrals in primary care.
Safeguarding children
In 2018/19 NHS Greenwich CCG fulfilled its statutory safeguarding children
responsibilities as set out in the NHS accountability and assurance framework 2015.
The CCG has strong links with local partners and is part of multi-agency
safeguarding children work. In this reporting period, the CCG has worked with local
Health providers to ensure there are safeguarding arrangements in place. This
includes our work with other local partners and the Greenwich Safeguarding Board,
which ensured that we met all statutory requirements and adhered to national
guidelines through our involvement in robust section 11 audit processes.
The CCG now has a full complement of all statutory safeguarding roles in place, i.e.
Named and Designated professionals including the appointment of a GP Clinical
Lead for Safeguarding. We provided quarterly safeguarding training at level three
with a more extensive professional reach across the Greenwich community. These
groups included GP Trainees, Practice Staff, Community Pharmacists, Safeguarding
Personnel in the Military, Drug and Alcohol Professionals at the Beresford Project
and a newly commissioned Bariatric Team. Designated professionals provided
regular supervision to named professionals in provider organisations; and in the area
of assurance, the CCG reviewed the provider Key Performance Indicators (KPIs),
various safeguarding pathways and monitored safeguarding referrals. The
safeguarding children team carried out quality visits to targeted GP practices and the
Greenwich Children’s Community Nursing Team to ensure there are effective
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safeguarding processes and procedures in place. The CCG has developed a model
for safeguarding policies, a GP resource pack and is providing a rolling programme
of safeguarding training and specialist training.
The CCG engaged in direct public facing events to improve community awareness
including The Great Get-Together and other stand-alone events raising awareness
of Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), Neglect and a Handling Babies with Care
campaign.
Three serious case reviews were published in 2018/19, and the CCG took the lead in
ensuring the learning from the various reviews are embedded in practice across
health organisations. Additionally, the CCG commissioned focused learning events
on Abusive Head Trauma, and Safer Sleep drawn from two of the serious case
reviews, which were directed at GPs, health visitors, midwives and children centre
staff. These were all part of a strategic approach of raising local awareness to the
need to handle babies with care.
Learning from health cases highlighted the need to strengthen how health providers
work together when there are concerns raised that a child’s illness may be
fabricated. The Designated Professionals have developed a fabricated and induced
illness policy and a pathway to support this challenging area of safeguarding work.
The CCG is participating in work streams focused on reducing knife crime in
Greenwich.
Child Death Reviews also identified areas requiring professional learning and quality
improvement and these were also delivered through a learning event for health
professionals. Significant progress was made in ensuring that health visitors ensure
that the sleeping arrangements of all babies are adequately assessed and monitored
as part of routine practice. In the area of safeguarding partnership arrangements, the
tri-borough Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) work is on-going and arrangements
with Bexley and Lewisham are at an advanced stage.

Clinical effectiveness
The Quality Alert Management System (QAMS) was developed to improve
communication between primary care, other providers and commissioners of NHS
funded care with regard to the quality of care to patients. The aim of the system is to
achieve improvements to services as a result of real time feedback regarding a
concern that is raised about the quality of care. QAMS is a GDPR compliant webbased system with the ability to manage all communications related to each alert
internally and provides the secure transfer of any patient data that may be required
to fully investigate the issues raised. The system also provides an audit trail for each
alert and has the facility to produce various analytical reports for both providers and
commissioners.
Greenwich GPs have now been using the QAMS system for a third year but the take
up remains low. This year Greenwich CCG has worked with GPs and practice staff
to raise their awareness of QAMS and to engage with the system. The feedback
that the CCG received from GPs was that the system is not user friendly and that it
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needed to be redesigned to suit the needs of a busy GP practice. As a result quality
alert champions have worked closely with the system designers, Promatica, on
simplifying its format and have been working towards synchronising with the GP’s IT
management systems to allow autofill functionality. Additionally, quality alerts can
now be raised on the system without the user being registered and GP will now be
able to receive responses to the quality alerts raised directly from the provider.
Examples of the benefits of using QAMS:
•

A patient attended the surgery about a letter he had received from
Environmental Health informing him he had contracted Salmonella. The
patient was of course very shocked to have received this letter and quite
rightly angry he hadn’t been informed of this. The practice checked their
records to discover that they were never sent the third results which were
positive for Salmonella. As a result of this the Trust logged and investigated
this as a serious incident.

•

An urgent gastroenterology referral included a full history and description of
primary clinical concerns and differential diagnosis. Despite this referral being
marked as urgent the patient was not offered an appointment until May/June
2018. The history was highly suggestive of inflammatory bowel disease
(symptoms + raised faecal calprotectin and ESR). Owing to the delay, the
patient’s symptoms deteriorated in the interim and an urgent same day
assessment was needed.

•

The Trust thanked the GP for bringing this to their attention and apologised for
the delay in informing them. Assurance was given that the patient was also
scheduled to see a consultant at the hospital where they were currently being
treated, including a follow up appointment in the gastroenterology department.
It was recognised that this did not excuse the delays in the process.
Assurance was given that the referrals team and the General Manager of the
department would be made aware and ensured any remedial actions required
were implemented.

Engaging people and communities - patient and public involvement
Our approach
Engagement is a key priority for the CCG, and one of our corporate objectives.
Effective engagement is an important part of everybody's role, with the
communications and engagement team providing guidance and support. We strive to
actively involve local people and service users to plan, design and feedback on local
services, and we are committed to building relationships with our communities to
understand their needs, so that we can plan services accordingly.
We engage with our local communities to:
•
•
•

identify health needs and aspirations, develop our commissioning intentions
and priorities
design and improve services
take patients' views into account when we buy services
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•

use patients' experience to improve safety and quality of care

We have a strategic approach to Patient Public Engagement outlined by our Patient
Public Engagement Strategy and underpinned by our mission, vision and principles.
Our 15, launched in September 2017 through to 2020, sets out our vision, approach
and infrastructure for delivering our legal duties to engage patients and the public in
our work. By engaging with the local community, we understand the needs, concerns
and experiences of residents so we can deliver the best possible health services. We
understand that the best way to achieve positive health outcomes for the people of
Greenwich is by putting local people at the heart of our decision making.

NHS Greenwich CCG involves Greenwich patients, partners and residents
throughout the commissioning cycle to ensure that local people have a strong voice.
Our efforts to improve the way we involve and engage public and patients in the past
year resulted in an improved assurance rating with NHS England between 2017 and
2018 from "Requires Improvement" to "Good" for this important area. We are
delighted with this progress, although we recognise that we are on a journey, and will
strive to continually improve in this area.
There are a several ways patients can get involved and influence services, including:
•
•
•
•

Joining a mailing list to be kept informed about the CCG’s work, events and
involvement opportunities
Through their GP practice’s Patient Participation Group
At engagement events
At Governing Body meetings
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•
•
•

Through their local Healthwatch
Through Greenwich Diabetes Group
Remotely, by telephone, post or email, and at events and meetings.

We can provide information in other languages both verbal and written, braille, large
font, easy read and can arrange for support during meetings and events so that
everyone can participate. Contact details are:
Email: greccg.nhsgreenwichccg@nhs.net
Telephone: 020 3049 9000
By post: Freepost engagement response, Communications and Engagement Team,
NHS Greenwich CCG, The Woolwich Centre, 35 Wellington Street, London SE18
6ND.
Our Governing Body meetings are held in public and we host a dedicated session at
each Governing Body meeting giving local people ongoing opportunity to engage
with the CCG leadership and raise their concerns first hand. All Governing Body
agendas and papers are published on our website.
Two of our Governing Body members have responsibilities for patient and public
engagement - one lay member as lead on the Governing Body, and one GP lead
who has patient and public engagement in their portfolio. Meetings see regular
attendance from members of the public and Healthwatch Greenwich, and the
dedicated session is popular, with questions raised at each meeting.
Developing our engagement approach with the Governing Body
Feedback and recommendations at the November 2018 Governing Body meeting and
from the December CCG Patient Reference Group resulted in discussion about how
best to offer enhanced, inclusive and accessible engagement opportunities around the
Governing Body meetings held in public. The Governing Body reflected on public
feedback and decided to trial interactive sessions with members sitting with the public
for 30 minutes before each Governing Body in public. The first such session in March
2019 brought together public and GB members successfully in a more intimate
conversation and the arrangements will be reviewed at the September 2019
Governing Body meeting.

We use our stakeholder networks and existing channels and groups as forums for
discussion. We have strong links with Healthwatch Greenwich, METRO GAVS, RBG
and other local groups and are constantly working to build and extend our
stakeholder network.
We value our partnerships as the best way of working and delivering meaningful
outreach and engagement. We collaborate with partners in Greenwich and beyond.
Our partners guide our engagement and equalities activity and provide independent
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assurance on our work programmes. This partnership approach gives us the
greatest reach to Greenwich communities, and this allows us to develop the most
comprehensive plans for future services.
In 2018 we established a Greenwich-wide communications and engagement group
which has enabled coordinated campaigns and engagement opportunities
throughout 2018/19. We work closely with partners across South East London, and
pan-London.
Our strategy development was a process of collaboration and resulted in the first
integrated commissioning strategy for Greenwich. We are committed to continually
reviewing and extending our networks to build lasting relationships and connections.
We actively strive to involve community and voluntary organisations and community
partners in our work and in 2018/19 Greenwich Charitable Trust has launched a
small grants funding programme.
'The Greenwich Charitable Trust is delighted to have worked with community
partners to establish the Greenwich Community Fund. This fund, being administered
by METRO GAVS, is providing important seed funding to the local voluntary sector
to address key issues in health and social care, and this year has focused on
children, young people and mental health. The Fund is aligned with the priorities of
Greenwich CCG and plays an important part in ensuring that residents of Greenwich
are involved in decisions about their own health and wellbeing.' Dr Greg Ussher
Chair Greenwich Charitable Trust.
Here are three examples of our partnership working and its impact on our plans and
decision-making.
METRO GAVS
The CCG has been extending our networks to include wider more diverse individuals
and groups, seldom heard communities. METRO GAVS are a valued partner who
have introduced us to many organisations and individuals, and have supported
discussions around how best to engage with seldom heard groups. METRO GAVS is
the community voluntary sector for Greenwich bringing together hundreds of
services and organisations spanning diverse communities and interests.
The CCG has worked with METRO GAVS extensively, and our community and
voluntary partners have been an integral part of developing and implementing our
integrated strategy and commissioning priorities. Mental health and wellbeing is a
key priority in the voluntary sector strategy launched in 2018, and this is mirrored in
the CCG strategy priorities.
In 2018:
Health and Wellbeing Forum
• We presented a session to introduce the CCG to the METRO GAVs health
and wellbeing forum, and discussions evolved around how the organisations
could partner together to support outreach with seldom heard groups and
communities.
54

•

We facilitated a workshop to de-mystify the NHS and develop our
commissioning strategy and plans with focused discussions on children and
young people, and older people.
• We developed full feedback on a line by line basis describing impact, for
example the changes to plans, practice and policies which the CCG made
based on discussion at the workshop sessions, and an explanation where we
were not able to make changes.
• We presented a winter campaign event and fed back on the strategy
development and implementation, for which the voluntary and community
sector partners played a key role. This event was our first delivered as a
Greenwich-wide system, alongside public health, RBG, Charlton Athletic
Community Trust. We offered a comprehensive suite of winter messages and
materials for all our communities.
BME Forum
We facilitated a session on mental health, and the winter campaign with
representatives of organisations from Black Asian and minority ethnic communities
and fed back on the strategy development and implementation. This event was
interactive and invited lively discussion around ways to engage and include seldom
heard communities.
Governing Body
The CCG Governing Body welcomed a presentation from METRO GAVS on
voluntary sector support for the health and social care system in Greenwich and
setting out a vision for co-production, working together, extending reach and
maximising prevention opportunities – another key priority in the CCG strategy.
Contact details for METRO GAVS:
Ist Floor,
Woolwich Equitable House
7 General Gordon Square
London SE18 6FH
020 8305 5000
dawn@metrocharity.org.uk
Age UK Bromley and Greenwich
As part of the CCG extending networks programme, we've been delighted to build on
our relationship with Age UK Bromley and Greenwich through meetings and
discussions, involving service users and their representatives in our commissioning
development plans, patient experience events, as well as ongoing participation in our
strategy implementation workshops, particularly around frailty and community-based
care.
In 2018 we have valued input from staff and from service users of:
•
•
•

Men in Sheds
Women in Sheds
The Okey Cokey club
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Further developing our networks and an evolving engagement approach we followed
up on conversations with services users to involve people in different ways according
to preference and in different fora. Our connections have led us to developing
relationships with seldom heard individuals and groups such as the Nepalese
community, and target areas and communities of Greenwich. Our connections
brought us to develop and deliver events and workshops with Greenwich Pensioners
Forum, for example a frailty workshop in October 2018, and with Emergency Exit
Arts, in August 2018.
Commissioning engagement and outreach with the Greenwich Nepalese
Community
"The Okey Cokey Club has given NHS Greenwich CCG much valued reach and
insight with the Greenwich Nepalese community, opening up discussions with a
large group of seldom heard people who experience health inequalities and poorer
health outcomes than others in the borough.
Working with the community to evolve our engagement and outreach approach has
been informative and had a real impact. We've welcomed the opportunity to
undertake outreach in different areas of Greenwich, and the chance to have
translated individual and group discussions. It's been a pleasure to work with the
group and their advocates to understand accessibility needs, and a privilege to learn
more and facilitate cultural needs and preferences.
The group were an integral part of the 2018 Greenwich Big Conversation, through
which we developed our first integrated strategy. Our feedback event offered an
opportunity to continue our conversations. We are delighted that the three recent
cancer workshops have been well-received and successful and are planning the
upcoming diabetes workshop. We value our relationship and the support we can
offer each other and look forward to continuing our partnership, with the ultimate aim
of improving health services and outcomes for local Nepalese people. Namaste"
Background - NHS Greenwich CCG have reached out to the Nepalese community
between 2017 and 2019, to understand people's experience and needs for health
services, as well as preferred methods of involvement. There is a strong military
history in Greenwich, and approximately 15,000 Gurkha related people are
estimated to live in the borough, predominantly based in the Plumstead area. The
2011 census figures had showed a population of 5407 but this is likely to be much
higher now.
The early death rate within this community is high compared to the rest of the
borough. There is a high prevalence of Type 2 diabetes, hearing problems, stroke,
heart conditions, prostate cancer and arthritis. The main barrier to this community
accessing healthcare services is communication (the lack of interpretation), as well
as lack of awareness of the system. The community forms opinions and views
through peer influence and knowledge and some of the views about the NHS and
what services are available are incorrect. Many prefer to travel to Nepal for their
medical care.
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As well as a number of events and workshops in 2017 and 2018 evolving in
collaboration with the community, the CCG had discussions with representatives and
advocates including Age UK Bromley and Greenwich coordinators responsible for
social activities with the community, and representatives from the military who work
with Gurkha veterans.
The Okey Cokey club group includes mainly older females, most are wives of
Gurkhas. They meet regularly and informally and require information and discussion
verbally with translation and not in written form. The CCG broke down information
and responses into key bite-sized messages for immediate verbal translation to
promote understanding and best meet the needs of the community. The community
provided guidance on their communication and access needs, and their preference
for a female translator for specific topics. Discussion topics have included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Health and wellbeing needs and issues
Cultural and communication needs
Experience of and confidence in NHS
Commissioning plans and development
Feedback on commissioning strategy, and annual review
You said, we did including follow up on individual queries, comments and
complaints
How to engage in the best way
Medicines and self-management
Cancer screening and awareness

More sessions are planned with the community in 2019 on cancer, diabetes and
medication and other conditions, and women's health.
Contact details for Age UK Bromley and Greenwich:
Greenwich Office:
2-6 Sherard Road
Eltham
SE9 6EX
Phone number for both - 020 8315 1850
Email for both - info@ageukbandg.org.uk
Healthwatch Greenwich
Healthwatch Greenwich is the independent consumer champion created to gather
and represent the views of the public. NHS Greenwich CCG works very closely with
Greenwich Healthwatch to ensure that we address the issues raised by Healthwatch
about local NHS services.
Greenwich Healthwatch plays a key role in our Patient Reference Group, primary
care commissioning committee, and is also represented at our quality committee,
Governing Body, provider contract monitoring meetings and processes, and other
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groups within the CCG, within Greenwich and on a South East London basis.
Healthwatch are an invaluable source of insight into patient experience and needs
and have been integral to our commissioning strategy development and
implementation.
Some highlights of our partnership work with Healthwatch Greenwich:
• Worked together to develop a new approach to patient involvement in
commissioning, by training a group of patient volunteers to visit services,
gather feedback and input directly into regular CCG contract monitoring
meetings with service providers.
• Collaborated to produce a new patient registration leaflet and targeted
communications with practices and affected groups.
• Collaborative partnership at strategic meetings including Greenwich Health
and Wellbeing Board, the CCG Governing Body and Primary Care
Commissioning Committee, the Healthier Communities and Adult Social Care
Scrutiny Committee and the CCG Patient Reference Group.
Healthwatch also provide information and support to enable local people to access
local health and social care services.
Contact details for Healthwatch Greenwich:
Gunnery House
9-11 Gunnery Terrace
Woolwich
London SE18 6SW
020 8301 8340
info@healthwatchgreenwich.co.uk

Patient Reference Group
The CCG Patient Reference Group (PRG) is a committee of the Governing Body. It
provides oversight and assurance of the CCG’s engagement and equalities
activities, and oversees the CCG’s work to develop and support Patient Participation
Groups (PPGs).
The PRG is chaired by the lay member for Patient Public Engagement on the
Governing Body and its membership includes representatives from local GP Patient
Participation Groups (PPG), Public Health, Healthwatch and voluntary organisational
representatives such as GrIP (Greenwich Inclusion Project).
The PRG oversees delivery of our patient and public engagement strategy. The PRG
meets on a monthly basis and reports to the Governing Body regularly with minutes
and highlights reports. Minutes from Patient Reference Group meetings are available
on our website.
58

We are committed to making our communications which support engagement as
accessible and appealing as possible for each of our audiences. Some examples
include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Developing Easy Read materials for people with learning disabilities.
Creating a plain English and visually appealing annual review of the year as
an accessible alternative to this annual report.
Using translator services for community engagement events - most recently in
our Nepalese outreach work.
Providing visual and audible accessible presentations for our engagement
events.
Considering the many and varied needs of our communities.
Offering our publications in alternative formats.

Developing a clinical commissioning strategy for Greenwich
The approach to public engagement around the clinical commissioning strategy and
commissioning plans has been to build relationships with community and voluntary
sector partners who represent specific communities, and undertake outreach with
the general public. Engagement around the strategy has taken place in different
settings across the borough through a series of outreach, presentations and
conversations. This approach allowed us to reconnect with existing stakeholders,
and reach out to new, wider and more diverse individuals and groups.
Communications about events and opportunities to participate were targeted through
the CCG website and social media (including over 10,000 twitter followers), partner
organisation communication channels, direct email of existing stakeholder networks
and hand delivery of flyers and surveys to groups who prefer printed materials.
Much of the engagement around the clinical commissioning strategy was branded
the Greenwich Big Conversation. This took place between March and August 2018
and involved local people and representatives, member practices, staff, and key
partners working together to develop and finesse the clinical commissioning strategy.
Over 350 members of the public directly had their say, and the programme provided
many more opportunities to see the CCG brand and spokespeople, and to discuss
priorities and ambitions for the future.
The first three Greenwich Big Conversation events in March involved 167 delegates
from across the borough. A whole day workshop brought together community and
voluntary sector partners with commissioners and providers, and two shorter
workshops brought members of the public together to discuss and deliberate future
healthcare needed in Greenwich, within the context of NHS England policy, financial
constraints and increasing demand on services.
The discussion and feedback at these events helped shape the direction of the
strategy, and a number of priority areas and enablers were identified. Conversations
progressed around these priorities although public engagement was restricted during
the pre-election period between the end of March to early May. During this time,
engagement focused on developing models with partner organisations, with three
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frailty workshops bringing together over 100 partner organisations. Healthwatch
Greenwich participated in the first of these workshops.
In May and June the CCG reached out to a range of organisations including
Healthwatch Greenwich, Age UK Bromley and Greenwich, and MENCAP. The draft
clinical commissioning strategy was presented to the June Health and Wellbeing
Board meeting, where members agreed to create a Greenwich Health and Wellbeing
Executive group which will be instrumental in progressing transformation across the
system.
The CCG facilitated a workshop with the METRO-GAVs Health and Wellbeing
Forum, which is made up of community and voluntary services and organisations in
Greenwich. This helped us to forge new links with seldom heard groups and
communities and contacts made during the session have been followed up.
Additional invitations were issued to Practice Participation Groups (PPGs), and
several representatives joined the workshop, adding valuable debate and discussion.
The themes from the discussion and workshops have been threaded through our
commissioning plans, and feedback for each discussion point will be shared at the
September METRO-GAVS Health and Wellbeing Forum.
The Great Get Together on 30 June brought the CCG together with many members
of the public, and provided sound networking opportunities with other organisations.
The CCG stand focused on several key messages, including asking people to
participate in a survey monkey about clinical commissioning plans.
The online and paper survey monkey tested the emerging priorities and enablers
with the general public in June and July with a total of 173 people completing a full
survey. A shorter open-answer survey was used in an all-day outreach session at
Tesco Woolwich. Over 50 people completed the shorter survey, highlighting common
issues such as waiting times, access and availability of services.
The next stage of the Greenwich Big Conversation involved further engagement and
outreach with individuals and groups. Materials were tailored for each audience.
Many of the outreach and events included presentations and completion of the
surveys, some were led by the individual and their desire to be heard on particular
points, some included a short two question survey, and some a longer conversation
with an individual. All were fed back to the commissioning team. These contacts
include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Learning disability week outreach with service users and champions
Governing Body strategy engagement session
NHS 70th birthday outreach at the Woolwich Centre and on General Gordon
Square
Workshop on commissioning plans and draft strategy at Charlton House
Workshop with the Nepalese community
Recovery College annual celebration
Coldharbour Tenants and Residents Association (TRA)
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•
•
•
•
•

Women’s shed Mycenae House
Migrant Hub
Queen Elizabeth Hospital patient user group
All day outreach at Tesco Woolwich
Outreach with service users and volunteers of WSUP, a grass-roots drop-in
project tackling homelessness, vulnerable housing, recovery from illness and
social isolation.

Feedback with each group was undertaken and provided opportunities for further
engagement. Most participants completed either a survey or feedback form, and
many gave the CCG permission to keep in touch. Where direct feedback was not
possible the multi-channel launch and campaign gave the greatest possibility of
reaching those who had participated.
The Greenwich Big Conversation has provided a great opportunity to build and
widen CCG networks and relationships, and our engagement has and will continue.
Our approach is to continually involving local people, particularly those who are
seldom heard, throughout our commissioning plans and the Greenwich Big
Conversation is one step in a longer journey.
Case study public consultation on Greenwich CCG Commissioning Strategy
implementation approach
To support the implementation of the CCG’s strategy we held a series of
engagement events with service users and voluntary groups to help us to define our
sets of outcomes for the four priority areas of the strategy. One of our service users
spoke to the CCG about her involvement and why it was important to engage with
residents and service users.
“No service about me without me”
Why did you get involved? ‘As an older person with a number of co-morbidities
and registration as disabled (visually impaired), I bring a lot of service user and life
experience to the role. I am a strong advocate for the ‘Altogether better’ agenda of
‘no services about me, without me’ within Health and Social Care sector.
On retirement in 2007, I became actively involved in the development of Southwark’s
CCG’s Patient Participation Group development strategy and a volunteer with the
local Healthwatch. I was then recruited onto a number of NHS Governance
Committees and working parties, and I currently serve on the London Clinical
Senate. When I moved to Greenwich a couple of years ago, I joined Greenwich
Healthwatch and became an active member of RBG’s Adult Transformation User’s
Group.
How did you find the experience? I was not initially impressed by the level of
Greenwich CCG’s patient engagement as Southwark CCG had adopted a far more
robust and inclusive co-production and co-design model, but I have noticed a distinct
improvement and change in culture over the past year. I would describe my
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experience of working on the Older People’s Frailty Pathway as excellent to date and
am impressed by the commitment and dedication shown by my fellow stakeholders
to address the needs of this particular cohort and a desire to ‘get it right the first
time’. I found the team open to new ideas and integrated working with others in the
local Health and Social Care economy. I also feel that my views are listened to and
taken into account and I am treated as a member of equal value not just as a ‘tick
box’ exercise.
What difference has your involvement made? I hope that my fellow team
members consider my input useful in the design and improved delivery of future
services. It is my firm belief that patients, or the ‘end user’, need to be embedded
throughout all stages in the design and delivery of services, a golden thread to
ensure that they are effective, value for money and accessible. Despite its
occasional shortcomings, I am a firm advocate for the NHS and see my role as a
‘critical friend’. I believe that sometimes representatives from large, complex
organisations such as the NHS and Local Authorities can often act as ‘echo
chambers’ and that ‘outsiders’, such as a lay representative, can occasionally offer a
fresh perspective or reframe a proposal and even express an unpalatable truth
without fear of demotion!
Would you recommend getting involved to others? I am keen for a wider range
of service users to get involved so that user feedback and views are more
representatives of Greenwich’s diverse population. To recruit and retain more active
volunteers, I urge the NHS Greenwich to provide more investment in their training,
financial and administrative support to help more individuals, especially those with
‘protected characteristics’, to develop their skills and confidence.
How we use equalities and involvement in our planning process
The CCG places people at the heart of our planning processes, and we are
committed to our legal duty to involve the public in our commissioning and planning
process. In 2018/19, the CCG revised its business case approval process to ensure
a consistent approach to how projects are managed through their lifecycle. The
revised process ensures that all commissioning plans, projects, procurement of a
new service, proposals for service change, policy development, or an operational
commissioning decision which affects patients and the public require completion of
an:
•
•
•

Equality impact assessment (EIA) form
Quality impact assessment (QIA) form
Engagement log

The forms must be completed at the start of the planning process for any
commissioning activity, and before operational commissioning decisions are taken
which may impact on the range of commissioned services and/or the way in which
they are provided. The impacted groups identified within equalities work and EIAs
determine the engagement approach and target stakeholders for each project.
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The forms must be completed and attached to all procedural documents when
submitted to the appropriate committee for consideration and approval. Business
cases for which an EIA and QIA has been completed and approved through the
committee sign off process include co-ordinate my care, referral management,
respiratory, medicines management and enhanced care home. An EIA was also
completed for the 2018-2022 Commissioning Strategy which informed the outreach
and engagement approach for the development and implementation of the strategy.
This is an identified area requiring further strengthening in 2019/20.
Reviewing and responding to engagement activity and insight with our health
care providers
The standard NHS contract for health care providers outlines contractual
requirements in relation to communication with and involving service users, the
public and staff. Providers collect patient experience data and the CCG reviews this
at regular Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) meetings. Outcomes are fed into
the work of the CCG to inform redesign and review of services.
The CQRG meetings review reports on the provider's progress and implementation
of the:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Workforce Race Equality Scheme (WRES)
Equalities delivery system - EDS2
Mental Capacity Act
Accessible Information Standard
Patient surveys
Friends and family test
Patient reported outcome measures (PROMS)
Complaints and compliments.

Sometimes we become involved in individual complaints that have been escalated to
commissioners when an issue cannot be resolved locally by providers – this often
flags an ongoing piece of commissioning work is required for example a gap in the
services commissioned has led to confusion as to who is responsible for providing
care.
Some providers have specific roles that are focused on patient engagement work
and we receive individual reports on the work that they have been doing. For
example, one provider Greenbrook Urgent Care Centre has a patient champion who
provides a detailed monthly report. The Duncan House team have a remit to engage
with residents to deliver activities that will support health care and we receive an
update on this each month. We also collect information on how providers are
engaging patients directly in local improvements.
Healthwatch Greenwich is an invaluable source of insight into patient experience and
needs and regularly review provider services.
In 2018 we worked together to develop a new approach to patient involvement in
commissioning, by training a group of patient volunteers to visit services, gather
feedback and input directly into regular CCG contract monitoring meetings with
service providers – placing them at the heart of decision-making and monitoring.
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Some examples of our provider engagement activity include:
•
•

Service users involved in interview panels.
A lived experience practitioner programme is supporting people with lived
experience to be employed.

Feedback gathered through these channels will be used to inform commissioning
decisions, service improvement, and contract negotiations. See the case study
below for information about how South East London CCGs worked together and
placed patients at the heart of planning, procurement, decision making and
mobilisation for the Integrated Urgent Care service.
Case study
South East London NHS 111 service: In February 2019, the new integrated South
East London NHS 111 service was launched.
Provided by the London Ambulance Service, the new service will improve access for
those who dial 111. Available 24 hours a day, the service will provide a new Clinical
Assessment Service comprised of GPs, pharmacists and nurses who will provide
clinical consultations to residents across South East London. The service can
provide patient information, issue prescriptions to a pharmacy of choice, book a GP
appointment, and, if necessary, refer people to emergency services. Even when a
GP practice is closed, residents will be able to access this service and will be
directed to NHS 111 and 111 online.
Patients across South East London have informed and influenced this new
service. Two patient engagement events were held in 2015/2016 and a survey was
sent out to local people across south east (SEL) London. Feedback was used to
inform the development of the specification for the service which was approved by
the South East London CCGs.
After March 2016, an information pack detailing the response to the patient feedback
received – in the form of ‘you said, we did’ – and the more recent developments to
the IUC design, was produced and shared with local people. Additionally, patient
groups were identified for further targeted engagement. These groups were identified
on the basis of those who had access issues (deaf or hard of hearing; patients for
whom English is not their first language; patients with learning disabilities) and
groups that the equality impact analysis had highlighted as not having been engaged
with so far such as people from the LGBT community.
Each CCG was asked to choose one of the patient groups and facilitate engagement
with that group. Where possible, this was through the programme team attending an
existing patient engagement meeting or convening a meeting for this express
purpose. Where this was not possible, information was sent to relevant organisations
that liaised with their service users and responded on their behalf. The following
activity was undertaken:
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•
•

•

•

•

Information sent to Bromley Deaf Access group; the response received
included the importance of providing advice relating to staff training,
promotion of the service, and the use of deaf friendly language.
Engagement session held with a Vietnamese group in Lewisham – 9 out of
the 10 attendees had never heard of 111 before. Discussions explored the
differences between 111 and 999, the translation service available through
111, the redesign of 111 and the best ways to promote the service to the
Vietnamese community. The current service and the new design were both
very well received.
Information sent to a KeyRing who supported Speaking Up – Southwark (a
group for people with learning disabilities) to get their views on the new design
for 111. The response indicated that current members of Speaking Up had not
used the 111 service because they hadn’t needed to, but they were aware of
it and would use it if they needed to.
Information sent to Metro (a SEL wide LGBT group); the response received
included the importance of providing advice relating to staff training,
promotion of the service, monitoring LGBT usage and links to voluntary sector
services.
Engagement session with Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) Patient
and Public Advisory Group – there were three people who attended who were
knowledgeable about 111. There was a very detailed discussion about the
current service and the proposed changes. The group approved of the
proposed changes. Two members were recruited to the SEL 111 Programme
Board and IUC Procurement Evaluation Panel.

All the feedback received was incorporated into the revised service specification.
Two patients are now permanent members of our programme board. They sat on the
SEL IUC Procurement Evaluation Panel and contributed to the scoring of the written
bids and the scoring of the bidders at the Objective Structure Clinical Examination
(OSCE) day. They also took part in workshops to finalise the questions used in the
procurement process. Training was provided to enable them to fully contribute to the
procurement process.
During the mobilisation of the new service, the patients have sat on the SEL IUC
Mobilisation Programme Board, the Alliance Leadership Team (responsible for
building relationships between 111, the GP out of hours services and GP
federations), the Clinical Advisory Group (responsible for agreeing patient pathways,
standard operating procedures and clinical profiling of services on the Directory of
Services) and the Communications and Engagement Group (responsible for
informing stakeholders about the changing service).
The patient representatives will remain on our programme board as we move into
the benefits realisation stage of the project. One of the patient representatives is also
a permanent member of the SEL IUC Clinical Governance Group.
The patient representatives, Paul Brown and Moh Okrekson, said: “We have served
as public and patient voices on the 111 Programme Board (since re-designated the
Integrated Urgent Care Programme Board) in our capacity as members of the Our
Healthier South East London Public and Patient Advisory Committee.
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"We were fully involved in the development of the new enhanced NHS 111
integrated urgent care service (IUC) for SE London and in the procurement which
awarded the contract to the London Ambulance Service. Since then, we have
continued to be involved in the mobilisation of the new service. We have been
impressed with the transparency of the process and the willingness of clinicians and
managers involved to answer our questions and take our views into account. We
have felt part of the team.
"We hope and believe that the IUC service now launched will see many more
patients given health advice by clinicians or booked directly into an appropriate NHS
service. It will serve patients better and ensure that people get the right care at the
right place for their needs and therefore make better use of resources.”

Annual 360-degree stakeholder survey
We strive to build and nurture strong relationships with our partners to shape and
support effective local commissioning. A key component of our planning and
engagement work is the annual 360 degree stakeholder survey, commissioned by
NHS England and delivered by Ipsos MORI. This allows stakeholders to feedback on
our working relationship, and the results provide intelligence to help with our
organisational development, and relationship management. Fieldwork took place
between 14 January and 28 February 2019 across our 35 member practices, along
with other providers and key stakeholders.
The uptake rate in the 2016/17 annual survey was low at 41% (member practice
participation 42%) and the feedback from respondents was often critical. The CCG
proactively managed the process in 2018 and again in 2019, with a robust project plan
and senior leadership. Our efforts returned a much improved response rate of 92%
(member practice participation 91%) in 2018 with further improvement in the response
rate this year at 96% overall response rate and 94% from member practices. This
provides us with a wealth of information to inform the development of our plans and
activity, and much of the feedback has shown year on year positive progress since
2017.
Governance Review
The Good Governance Institute (GGI) was commissioned by Greenwich CCG to
undertake an independent review of the organisation’s governance between January
to March 2018, with a particular focus on Governing Body member roles and
responsibilities and committee meeting effectiveness. The GGI found the CCG to be
on a significant improvement trajectory and considered the organisation to be much
better placed to fulfil its purpose, that is, to commission safe and effective services
for the people of Greenwich.
The report made recommendations relating to the areas reviewed on:
•
•
•
•

Clarity of purpose
Leadership and strategic direction
Effectiveness of relationships
Membership engagement
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•
•
•
•
•
•

Public and community engagement
Quality and safety structures
Focus on outcomes
Better decision-making
Control systems
Organisational effectiveness.

The recommendations were translated in to a robust Improvement Plan to
strengthen the CCG’s governance structures, systems, processes and meeting
effectiveness and were fully implemented by March 2019.
Commissioning capability programme
During 2018/19 NHS England invested in a major commissioning capabilities
building programme for senior commissioning leadership in order to help these
leaders develop the skills they need to tackle today’s and tomorrow’s challenges
across the health system, whilst also focusing on developing a programme to help
CCGs migrate towards new models of care in the future. This was one of a number
of NHS England programmes/initiatives in place to support commissioners to drive
improvement in performance.
The scope of the Commissioning Capability Programme (CCP) proposed by NHS
England was broken into three modules focused on building capability in
commissioning leaders as they focus on the following challenges:
Module 1 - Delivering today’s challenges: provides tailored capability development
programmes to equip leaders with the skills and insights they need to manage
financial challenges, system wide transformation and change over the next 12
months.
Module 2 - Delivering clinical priority programmes: supports commissioning
leaders to develop their skills to support improvements in commissioning clinical
priority areas including cancer, mental health, primary care and urgent and
emergency care.
Module 3 – Preparing for the future: is focused on the development of specific
skills to improve whole system collaboration supported by whole population health
management, e.g. the required partnerships and systems for ACS success, whole
population analytics and health management.
The senior management team (SMT) at Greenwich CCG were one of the first CCGs
to undertake module 1 of the programme between February and April 2018. The
outputs informed how the new leadership team would work together in 2018/19,
shaped the emerging vision and commissioning strategy, the identification of
individual and collective priorities and supported the development of the CCG
Organisational Development Plan. The Senior Management Team then participated
in a formal evaluation of the programme by Ipsos-MORI on behalf of NHS England.
Between September and December 2018 Greenwich CCG leaders also then
participated and contributed to a module for aspirant Integrated Care Systems the
SE London Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.
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Governing Body development programme
In view of the fact that the first half of the financial year saw significant changes to
the leadership of the Governing Body with a new Chair and six new GP members,
coupled with a new senior management team in place by May 2018, it was agreed to
commission the Good Governance Institute (GGI) to deliver a bespoke Governing
Body development programme between October 2018 and March 2019. This has
comprised observation of key committees, review of prime documentation,
developmental workshops, an away day, 1:1 coaching, group coaching on risk and
risk appetite and use of the Board Assurance Framework to drive the strategic
agenda, individual and collective feedback.
The programme has been very well received and will be evaluated in early 2019/20.
In addition a bespoke development programme was commissioned for the new
Clinical Chair of the CCG. This had a particular focus on governance and finance.
The outputs have shaped personal objective setting for 2019/20.
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Clinical engagement
As a clinically led organisation, part of the CCG’s remit is to ensure that we have
clinical leadership and engagement on all our pathway work. The CCG achieves this
through several clinical engagement mechanisms.
Each GP on the Governing Body carries a portfolio within these areas:

We employ GP project leads to work alongside commissioning staff. During 2018/19
the CCG engaged GPs in the development and planning of pathways in the following
areas:
GP project lead
Mental health and learning disabilities
Workforce and education
Medicines management
Individual funding requests
End of life and cancer

Session/week
2/3
1
2
1
2/3

We engage with our GP members through local network meetings and the quarterly
Council of Members Meeting. GP leads are involved in engagement events too.
Syndicate Leads, who now hold a position on the Governing Body, provide a conduit
between the CCG and the membership GPs.
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Membership engagement and constitutional changes
A summary of key developments and achievements of 2018/19 for GP member
practices is as follows:
• Development of a Clinical Commissioning Strategy with full and extensive
engagement of membership, key stakeholders and the public from February
to August 2018.
• The launch of our new Greenwich Commissioning strategy at our Annual
General Meeting on September 2018.
• Greenwich-wide Forum meetings focused on the emerging strategy, clinical
priorities, the development of primary care at scale and the new Alternative
Provider Medical Services (APMS) contract.
• In June 2018 a programme of visits to all 35 practices commenced led by
Governing Body GPs and CCG management representatives to hear the
views of practice staff and listen to their feedback on the emerging strategy
and vision for integrated care in Greenwich. In April 2019 the final practice
visit was undertaken.
• Membership election in June of six new GPs to sit on the Governing Body
• Members voted for the Managing Director to become a voting member of the
Governing Body.
• Members also voted for a GP majority to be maintained on the Governing
Body.
• Members voted to reduce the period of time that a GP needs to have worked
in Greenwich from two years to one year (as a salaried GP or GP partner) as
part of the eligibility criteria for nominating oneself as a prospective member of
the Governing Body.
• On 20 July 2018 six new GPs joined the Governing Body with three other GPs
enjoying their second three-year terms.
• Four of these new GPs became our Syndicate Leads thereby strengthening
membership engagement and ensuring a stronger and direct relationship
between practices and the Governing Body.
• New meeting structures were subsequently established (monthly syndicate
meetings, quarterly Locality Care Networks meetings, and quarterly meetings
with the Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) chairs).
• This has strengthened the relationship between the CCG, Syndicate Leads
and LLPs to debate the GP Forward View and primary care development.
• Dr Ellen Wright stood down as Clinical Chair after serving for four years and
Dr Krishna Subbarayan was elected as our new Clinical Chair on 5
September 2018.
• Members also voted to disestablish the Greenwich-wide Forum and establish
a new Council of Members (CoM) with an independent GP Chair.
• The role of the Council is to approve CCG Commissioning Intentions, the
Annual Report and to agree constitutional changes and hold the Governing
Body to account.
• Nominations for senior clinical representation from all 35 practices were
received.
• The inaugural Council of Members took place on 27 February 2019 to sign off
commissioning intentions for 2019/20.
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Sustainability and transformation partnership
Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) is South East London’s Sustainability
and Transformation Partnership (STP) and brings together our health and social care
partners in South East London to make sure we are doing all we can to work in
partnership to get the best health outcomes for our population.
OHSEL evolved from a commissioner-led strategy – established in 2013 - into a
partnership between local commissioners and providers, working with local
authorities, patients and the public.
Published on 4 November 2016, the original Sustainability and Transformation Plan
was a series of plans for different clinical areas and enablers, such as workforce and
estates, which are at different stages of development. Our South East London
Sustainability and Transformation Plan was one of the first in the country to be made
public.
The NHS Long Term Plan was published on 7 January 2019 with a requirement for
us to review our existing plan and agree a refreshed version based on the
commitments set out in the new Long Term Plan. We will be submitting our revised
plan for the next five years in autumn 2019.
In December 2018, we completed an 11 week aspirant Integrated Care System
(ICS) programme. The vision set out in the Long Term Plan is for all STPs to
become ICSs by 2021. As part of the programme we looked at delivering better
joined up care at borough level as well as networking more specialist services. We
will be taking forward work toward becoming an ICS in 2019/20.
Our STP has set the following five priorities:
•

•
•
•
•

Developing consistent and high quality community based care (CBC), primary
care development and prevention. This is an essential building block of our
ICS approach alongside the development of at scale approaches to
preventing ill health and reducing health inequalities.
Improve quality and reduce variation across both physical and mental health.
This includes better integration of mental health and reducing the pressure on
and simplifying urgent and emergency care.
Reducing cost through provider collaboration. This includes consolidation of
some clinical and non-clinical support services such as pathology and finance
back office functions.
Developing sustainable specialised services. This includes mental health
collaboration, renal and cardiac work.
Changing how we work together to deliver transformation. This focuses on
how we can make sure that we are able to provide care for the population of
South East London as it grows and ages, in a way that is affordable and
meets the needs of a 21st century population. In particular, it looks at new and
more effective ways of providing care, avoiding the need to visit hospitals and
making the best use of new technology.
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Engagement
The models of care developed through OHSEL are the result of several years of
partnership working between clinicians, commissioners, council social care leads
and local hospitals and have been informed by extensive engagement at South East
London level and through CGGs with local communities, patients and the public.
Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG): We have patient and public voices
(PPVs) on each of our clinical work streams influencing all our key programmes of
work and feeding into our PPAG. The PPAG is made up of 14 PPVs, each of whom
covers one or more specific work streams. PPAG meets on a bi-monthly basis.
Elective Orthopaedic Clinical Network: Orthopaedic surgery is one of the main
reasons for people having operations in South East London. Formed in 2018, our
network aims to ensure equal outcomes at all our hospitals across the STP. The
network is comprised of healthcare professionals and a patient representative with
personal experience of receiving elective orthopaedic care at Orpington Hospital.
This year we have agreed a standard pathway for people having hip and knee
replacements. We set up focus groups of patients who had experienced these
procedures, to inform development of the standard pathway.
Maternity Voices: A Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP) is a group made up of
women and their families, commissioners and healthcare professionals working
together to review and contribute to the development of local maternity care. There
are MVPs across all of the six boroughs of South East London and each MVP has a
local action plan. In addition there is MVP representation on both the South East
London maternity public health work stream and the South East London Better Births
Plan work stream. The role of the MVP member within these work streams is to be
the voice of the women who will use the maternity services, providing guidance
around the needs of this group of women and fully contributing to all discussions
around the work stream objectives.
Stakeholder and Equalities Reference Group meetings: We continued to hold
these meetings in 2018/19 to ensure our plans are assured around patient and
public engagement and equalities issues. The Stakeholder Reference Group
submitted feedback as part of NHS England’s initial engagement on developing the
NHS Long Term Plan.
Some highlights from 2018/19
Cancer - Better access to diagnosis and advice through a new nurse-led out-ofhours helpline for all cancer patients across South East London; targeted bowel
cancer screening for people with learning disabilities; free home testing kits for
patients showing potential signs of colorectal cancer but at low risk; a new Rapid
Access Diagnostic Clinic, which is now also working more closely with mental health
services; a new academy at Guy’s Cancer Centre to enhance excellent cancer care.
Community Based Care - Introducing the Red Bag Pathway across South East
London reduces the time taken for ambulance transfers, A&E assessments and
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helps reduce avoidable hospital admission for care home residents through a
systematic and easily recognisable way of transferring paperwork, medications and
personal belongings
Better estates - developing our estates strategy; receiving national capital and other
funding for projects to support improved access to a broader range of more joined-up
services in community settings; starting to redevelop Gallions Reach Health Centre
in Thamesmead, one of the largest community estates investments in our STP.
Mental health - increasing access for young people through a free online
counselling service, Kooth; increasing support for women in the first year after birth;
increasing access to support for people with mental ill health by training peer
mentors who have lived experience of mental ill health.
Urgent and Emergency Care - the new 111 Integrated Urgent Care service was
launched earlier this year. It gives people easier access to advice and services
where needed with additional input from GPs, nurses, paramedics and pharmacists.
Developing our workforce - by increasing their skills and increasing the range of
professionals working in GP surgeries. For example, the Physician Associate
Development Programme aims to increase the number of physician associates
working in South East London and enhance the skill mix and capacity of GP
practices in our boroughs.
Pathology - in 2018, provider trusts and clinical commissioning groups in South East
London started to work together to implement a network for delivering pathology
services under a single shared specification, in line with NHS Improvement’s national
pathology strategy. The chosen option was to procure a networked model and a
South East London pathology board was established to oversee the process.
Healthy London Partnership
Greenwich CCG, along with all of London’s 32 CCGs, Greater London Authority,
London Councils, Public Health England and NHS England (London) contributed
funding towards Healthy London Partnership (HLP) in 2018/19. The aim was to bring
together the NHS and partners in London to work towards the common goals set out
in Better Health for London, NHS Five Year Forward View and the devolution
agreement.
HLP works as a partnership across London’s health and care system and beyond to
achieve these goals. This includes NHS organisations in London, including
Greenwich CCG, NHS England, NHS Improvement, hospital trusts and providers, as
well as working across health and care with the Greater London Authority (GLA), the
Mayor of London, Public Health England and London Councils. Additionally, HLP
hosts the London Health and Care Strategic Partnership Board which provides
oversight and leadership for devolution plans, working closely with the London
Health Board secretariat. HLP is supporting the development of the refreshed shared
vision for health and care to ensure all partners are clear about their role in making
London the world’s healthiest city.
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2018/19 has been another busy year for Healthy London Partnership. Through
successful partnership working across health and care in London, HLP has helped to
deliver on a range of programmes, outputs and achievements spanning primary and
community care, secondary care and mental health, as well as those focussed on
integration of health and care and place based care. All this work is part of the
partnership’s collective aim to make London the world’s healthiest city.
HLP director, Shaun Danielli, outlines how by working together we are improving
Londoners’ health and wellbeing, so everyone can live healthier lives:
“Healthy London Partnership has continued to support the transformation of health
and care for Londoners in 2018. There has been significant progress in areas such
as mental health, greater use of technology and increased access to family doctors.
“None of this would be possible without key agencies, organisations and people
working together. Partnership working is the only way in which we will tackle
London’s most complex health and care challenges and ensure that we meet our
shared aim of making London the healthiest global city.
“As we look ahead, the NHS Long Term Plan and a five year funding settlement
gives us a huge opportunity to transform the way we support the health and care of
Londoners. Everyone involved with HLP looks forward to shaping and implementing
improvements for London.”
During 2018, there was a collaborative focus on social prescribing, which is a way of
linking patients in primary care with sources of support within the community for nonmedical needs. The HLP proactive care team has worked closely with partners to
develop a draft ‘Social Prescribing Vision for London’. The draft vision was
developed by the GLA, NHS England, HLP and the London Social Prescribing
Network, in collaboration with partners across the NHS, local authority and voluntary,
community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector to support the scale and spread of
social prescribing across London.
Other engagement highlights in 2018/19 include a number of significant projects
undertaken by Thrive LDN, the citywide movement launched by Mayor Sadiq Khan
to improve the mental health and wellbeing of all Londoners. This included helping
young Londoners to organise a festival of cultural activity as part of Thrive LDN’s
wider Are we OK London? campaign, which this year had a potential reach of over
23 m people. This year’s campaign engaged with a more diverse audience, grew
Thrive LDN’s followers and subscribers and increased discussion and action around
how inequality and discrimination can affect Londoners’ mental health and wellbeing.
More recently, Thrive LDN published Londoners Said… – a report summarising the
findings of the 17 community conversations run in partnership with the Mental Health
Foundation (MHF) in half of London’s boroughs. Each community
conversation produced a comprehensive write-up to underpin a plan for local action.
The report includes 10 recommendations from Londoners on how to ensure people
have the right support to stay mentally healthy.
Following on from the Great Weight Debate, which engaged Londoners on how best
to tackle childhood obesity, HLP has worked with fast food shops, businesses and
charities and young people in three London boroughs (Southwark, Lambeth and
Haringey) to pilot their ideas for making high streets healthier for children and young
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people through the Healthy High Streets Challenge. The Challenge provided
invaluable insights into how to make healthier choices easier on London’s high
streets. The findings informed obesity strategies across all London boroughs and the
Mayor’s policy to restrict the advertising of food and drink that is high in fat, sugar
and salt across Transport for London’s advertising estate from February 2019.
Further focus on children and young people was demonstrated through London’s
annual #AskAboutAsthma campaign. Led by HLP in conjunction with NHS England
London region, the campaign coincided with the start of the new school year when
hospital admission rates for asthma are at their highest. The campaign reached over
5.9 m people online in 2018. Additionally, HLP has developed the London asthma
standards for children and young people, bringing ambitions for how asthma care
should be delivered across the city with national and local standards, along with a
new online toolkit for staff which to date has been accessed just under 19,000 times.
2018 saw a further increase in patients across London accessing online GP
appointment booking, ordering of repeat prescriptions and access to coded
information in records. HLP has been working with London’s CCGs and NHS
England London region to support GP practices to offer and promote online services
to patients.
Elsewhere on digital developments in 2018, London saw the full rollout of an NHS eReferral Service (e-RS) across 23 providers one month earlier than the national
target date. This was achieved through proactive and successful partnership working
between London’s health and care organisations and now means that all GP
practices in the capital can manage a patient’s first referral from primary care to
hospital through a paperless process.
The London Mental Health Dashboard makes a wide range of London’s mental
health data publicly accessible in one place. Urgent suspected cancer referral
activity data is also now presented in a useful interactive dashboard developed by
HLP.
There has also been a strong focus on mental health transformation across London
during 2018/19. London’s crisis care system has been working to improve the quality
and consistency of care for people in mental health crisis. Through HLP, London’s
A&E departments and police forces have worked together to develop a handover
process for voluntary mental health patients in emergency departments, which has
resulted in 83% fewer people going missing from A&E during a mental health crisis
compared to the previous year. The handover process was awarded the Best Patient
Safety Initiative in A&E at the 2018 HSJ Awards.
This year saw the NHS in London invest an extra £6 m into specialist mental health
services to support women during pregnancy and in the first year after giving
birth. From March 2019, services for perinatal mental health problems will be
available across all of London. The extra resource has resulted in 79 new whole time
equivalent clinicians for London during 2018/19 and this important specialist care is
now offered to nearly 5,300 women a year.
HLP also launched a Mental Health in Schools Toolkit in 2018 which provides a
range of information for schools, governors and commissioners on mental health and
emotional wellbeing in schools. The suite of resources includes links to relevant
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guidance, practical tools and resources, and examples from across London of new
initiatives and approaches in schools or across local authorities.
By October 2018, Good Thinking – London’s unique digital mental wellbeing service
– had supported over 100,000 Londoners to actively tackle anxiety, sleeplessness,
stress and depression. Since its launch at the end of 2017, Good Thinking has
offered personalised new ways to improve mental wellbeing for Londoners.
Elsewhere through partnership working in 2018, a whole system estates planning
function has been established through the London Estates Board. In spring 2019, the
first London Health and Care Estates Strategy was developed which will support a
coordinated approach to using capital and the release of surplus to requirement NHS
estate, meaning much needed money is reinvested back into London’s health and
care system.
Finally, the clinically-led London Choosing Wisely programme concluded its work in
2018 to develop eight pan London commissioning policies. Managed by HLP, the
programme established clinical expert working groups to inform the harmonisation of
clinical commissioning policies for a limited number of specific treatments. The
policies were presented to CCG governing bodies in December 2018 for further
engagement as required, prior to any implementation. Once implemented, the
policies will reduce variation of care for patients across London.
This is only a snap shot of all HLP’s work to make London the healthiest global city.
You can explore HLP’s various programmes via its website or search the HLP
resources section for publications or case studies
The South East London Commissioning Alliance (SELCA)
Launched on 1 April 2018, South East London Commissioning Alliance (SELCA)
brings together the six CCGs in South East London (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich,
Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark) to build on our existing collaboration to
commission services more efficiently and effectively for local people in each borough
and across South East London.
As part of the new arrangement, Southwark, Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich and
Lewisham CCGs agreed to share a single Accountable Officer and single Chief
Finance Officer (CFO). Andrew Bland has been the Accountable Officer for the year
and Usman Niazi started as CFO on 12 February 2019. The CCG Directors of
Finance acted as CFOs for their CCGs until Usman’s appointment. Andrew Eyres
remained as Accountable Officer for Lambeth and Croydon CCGs.
Each CCG in South East London retained their sovereign status and accountability
for commissioning primary, community, mental health and hospital services for
residents in their boroughs.
In its first year the Alliance explored opportunities for CCGs to work more
collaboratively looking at functions that can be carried out once on behalf of all
CCGs including development of a South East London Assurance team, and activities
where greater collaboration brings better outcomes for patients. Toward the end of
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2018, we undertook focused work on our model for becoming an Integrated Care
System through an 11-week programme with NHS England.
2018/19 highlights
The Integrated Contracting Delivery Team (ICDT) significantly streamlined our
contracting and negotiating functions and brought about improvements across all our
providers. The team also works closely with each of the CCGs so that we can roll out
initiatives at scale. A good example of this is in Planned Care, where we have rolled
out a range of tools, such as Consultant Connect and VisualDx which help support
GP decision making and reduce the need for patients to be referred to hospital.
Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham CCGs started to develop ways of working to
address the challenges within those three boroughs for commissioners, providers
and local authorities. With a focus on Quality, Innovation, Productivity and
Prevention, a new team and different governance structure was set up to support
new joint working arrangements help to reduce the demands on each CCG.
As a system, we have also made smaller changes that contribute to being more
effective and making better use of funding, for example by implementing a single
software package for managing governing body and committee papers across all
CCGs.
Looking forward to 2019/20 the Alliance will continue to support even greater
collaboration to support us in refreshing our plans following publication of the NHS
Long Term Plan and our move toward becoming an Integrated Care System.
South East London (SEL) Integrated Governance and Performance (IG&P)
Committee
In November 2018 the South East London (SEL) Integrated Governance and
Performance (IG&P) Committee was established by agreement of the governing
bodies of the six CCGs within the South East London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP) area. Collectively the CCGs agree that some
performance challenges (particularly those related to the acute sector) require a
consistent approach to resolve these issues and this is best addressed at a South
East London level. There is also a mutual dependency in respect of financial
delivery, which impacts all SEL CCGs. SEL CCGs recognise the need to understand
the collective position and mitigations for each organisations contribution to the SEL
financial position.
As such, the SEL IG&P has been established to monitor the delivery of provider
organisations’ statutory and delivery responsibilities to ensure agreed actions and
mitigations are followed through; to discuss and agree appropriate remediation; and
to pro-actively identify and address declining performance indicators, ensuring
deterioration is managed rapidly. The current scope of the SEL committee includes
oversight of and coordination of the SEL CCGs’ response to: the delivery of the SEL
CCG control total (and as such the individual annual CCG control totals); the
sustainable delivery of the NHS Constitution standard for referral-to-treatment (RTT)
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waiting times, cancer and diagnostics; and identification and pro-active management
of key strategic and operational risks relating to these areas.
The committee is chaired by an independent lay person (who does not sit on the
governing body of any CCG). Membership is made up of representatives from all
SEL governing bodies and the south east London commissioning alliance (SELCA)
executive team.
During January and February 2019, the scope and approach of the SEL IG&P have
been reviewed and recommendations for its future scope and function within CCGs’
governance structures will be taken to all SEL governing bodies for agreement.

Equality and diversity
Equality and Diversity Public Sector Equality Duties
The public sector equality duties are of both general and specific. The broad aim of
the general equality duty is to ensure consideration and the advancement of equality
into the everyday business of all bodies subject to the duty. The general equality
duty is intended to accelerate progress towards equality for all, placing a
responsibility on bodies to consider how they can work to tackle systemic
discrimination and disadvantage affecting people with particular protected
characteristics.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Race
Disability
Sex
Age
Religion or belief
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Pregnancy and maternity

The first aim of the general equality duty is to have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited
by the Act because of any of these protected characteristics. The second aim of the
duty requires the CCG to have due regard to the need to minimise or remove
disadvantages, to take steps to meet the different needs of people with different
protected characteristics and to encourage participation in activities by those whose
participation is disproportionately low.
Meeting the public sector equality duties in 2018/19
The challenges to make NHS services inclusive and ‘fit for purpose’ for Greenwich’s
diverse population cannot be underestimated within the current financial constraints
on health and social care expenditure. Our focus for 2018/19 was to consolidate our
equality, human rights and health inequalities work. Protecting human rights and
promoting inclusion are integral to our core business and are reflected throughout
everything that we do. The Equality Act 2010 provides a legal framework to
strengthen and advance equality and human rights. The Act consists of general and
specific duties. The general duty requires public bodies to show due regard to:
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•
•
•

Eliminate unlawful discrimination
Advance equality of opportunity
Foster good relations.

We must comply with this general duty when ‘exercising a function’ when formulating
policy and any decisions made in applying the policy in individual cases. Compliance
with the duty should result in:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Better-informed decision-making and policy development
A clearer understanding of the needs of service users, resulting in better quality
services which meet varied needs
More effective targeting of policy, resources and the use of regulatory powers
Better results and greater confidence in, and satisfaction with, public services
More effective use of talent in the workforce
A reduction in instances of discrimination.

In 2018/19 the CCG specifically developed equality and diversity guidance for
commissioning managers to ensure that issues relating to Equality and Diversity are
adequately and appropriately considered during the commissioning and procurement
process and decision making. The guide is to be used as an aid to ensure that
appropriate consideration of Equality, Diversity and Human Rights is given within the
commissioning cycle. Supporting this process is face-to-face equality and diversity
training, as well as equality impact assessment training, was delivered to
commissioning and quality teams
Equality objectives 2017-21
The equality objectives reflect local equality priorities for our community. They also
reflect the key equality priorities pertinent at that time.
•
•

•
•
•

Equality and inclusion will be considered at all levels within the organisation to
ensure that there is a clear and concise link between strategic thinking, function
and service improvement.
Achieve better health outcomes with services commissioned, procured, designed
and delivered to meet the health needs of the local community that reduce health
inequalities. Ensure that these services are safe free from mistakes, mistreatment
and abuse.
Improve patient access and experience.
Work with stakeholder organisations to develop and improve services.
Improving Communications with people with learning disability and groups whose
voices are seldom heard.

The Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The Equality Delivery System (EDS2) is the NHS equalities reporting framework. It
helps us to identify what we are doing well, what we need to improve on, and the
equality gaps or risks that we need to close or mitigate. This year the CCG has
mapped and reviewed the use of data across the CCG, in terms of demographic
data relating to access outcomes and experience. It is apparent that the CCG needs
to develop the quality of data and information collected from providers and by the
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CCG to use it to improve existing and future commissioned services. An equality
and diversity working group is being set up to oversee this work and to approve and
sign off the equality impact assessments that are undertaken with every business
case which is part of the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
programme. Equality and diversity training and equality impact assessment training
for the commissioning and quality teams has been delivered
Partnership working
We are working with our partners across South East London to develop plans for
future services. The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) aligns with
Greenwich CCG’s equality objectives, and we play an active role along with other
South East London CCGs, in the Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL)
Equalities Steering Group. The Equalities Steering Group ensures that the latest
intelligence and insight on health inequalities is shared across all CCGs and
addressed by the programme. It identifies risks to the STP and its associated
programmes whilst maintaining an overview of health inequalities and related public
health insights. In 2018/19 the focus of this group was more on the risks to the
programme if equalities issues are not identified and resolved.
NHS Greenwich CCG works in partnership with provider organisations to include
equality, diversity and human rights clauses within our contracts. Clinical Quality
Review Groups (CQRGs) are established with providers which allow scrutiny of this
work. A Healthwatch representative is on the NHS Greenwich CCG Integrated
Governance Committee.
We determine assurance of our trusts meeting their Public Sector Equalities Duty
through monitoring NHS Equality Delivery Systems (EDS2) and the NHS Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES) of our service providers. As part of our performance
monitoring we work closely with trusts to improve their demographic data collection,
to enable them to assess equalities and to measure success in addressing
inequalities.
Equality is central to the CCG, both internally and externally, to ensure that all staff
are considered in engagement. A staff health and wellbeing group has been
established within the CCG to inform policies and procedures, appraisal and
performance, organisational development, and health and wellbeing.
Workforce
The CCG collects and analyses workforce statistics by groups of staff with protected
characteristics enabling us to complete our Workforce Race Equality Standards
annual return and produce a detailed Workforce Race Equality Standards Action
Plan. The collection of data on the workforce by ethnicity covers both workforce data
and staff survey data to enable data analyses on staff employed and regular reports
on workforce to go to the Integrated Governance Committee. The CCG serves an
ethnically diverse population which is reflected in its workforce.
This year as a result of the WRES findings, the CCG has sourced unconscious bias
training for staff involved in recruitment. Additionally, the CCG will be providing a
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guide to employees that provides help and advice on bullying and harassment at
work. In an attempt to reduce the number of reports of bullying, training will be
provided to managers on how to prevent it and to be able to deal with it should it
occur. Plus the development of a statement of acceptable and unacceptable
behaviours within the workplace which all staff will be expected to sign up to. We are
committed to ensuring that staff are recruited and retained from diverse
backgrounds, provided with a positive and valuing work environment and given
training and support to achieve their maximum career development potential.

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR)
Greenwich CCG submitted its EPRR Assurance to NHS England in October 2018. In
accordance with the requirements laid out in the National Assurance process
documentation, an organisation’s overall level of compliance is based on the total
number of Amber and Red ratings agreed at the review. In respect of NHS Greenwich
CCG, for Core Standards 1-51, the CCG was rated fully compliant with all Core
Standards with no red or amber ratings:
NHSE noted that Greenwich CCG has demonstrated an on-going high standard of
EPRR and had appropriate documentation alignment with ISO 22301 Standard, which
sets out the requirements for a business continuity management system (BCMS) and
is considered the only credible framework for effective business continuity
management in the world.
The CCG action plan submitted was based around minor improvements to the
Business Continuity Policy and Plan, updating the Staff Handbook to include
Business Continuity and the requested that the Emergency Planning Lead Officer
attended Regional exercises:
Exercises and Training
Our staff undertook a range of training and exercise initiatives to support EPPR during
2018.
Date
03/05/2018

Exercise
Propello, Counter-Terrorism
Tabletop Exercise

Attended by:
EPLO

11/05/2018

SRRF Workshop - Power and
Telecommunications Disruption

EPLO

15/08/2018

Telecommunications Exercise

All staff

15/11/2018

Set up and testing of Command
Centre

29/11/2018

SRRF Workshop Voluntary Sector

Director of Quality and
Integrated Governance
and EPLO
EPLO

05/12/2018

Mass Casualty Exercise

EPLO
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Signed on behalf of the Board

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Section 2 Accountability Report

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Members’ Report
Our members
These are the 35 member practices which form the membership body of the CCG.
Blackheath and Charlton
Blackheath Standard PMS
Burney Street PMS
Greenwich Peninsula Practice
Manor Brook PMS
Plumbridge Medical Centre
Primecare PMS (South Street)
Fairfield PMS
Vanbrugh Health Centre
Woodland Surgery
List total – 90,978
Eltham
Dr V Sandrasagra’s
Briset Corner Surgery
Dr Baksh’s Practice
New Eltham Medical Centre
Eltham Medical Practice
Eltham Palace Surgery
Eltham Park Surgery
Elmstead Medical Centre
Sherard Road Medical Centre
List total – 63,800

Excel (Plumstead and Abbeywood)
Abbey Wood Surgery
All Saints Medical Centre PMS
Bannockburn Surgery
Waverley PMS
Clover Health Centre
Glyndon PMS
Mostafa PMS
Plumstead Health Centre PMS
Basildon Road Surgery
Triveni PMS
List total – 67,613
Network (Woolwich and
Thamesmead)
Conway PMS
Valentine Health Partnership
TMA PMS (Gallions Reach Health
Centre)
Royal Arsenal PMS
St Marks PMS
Thamesmead Health Centre
The Trinity Medical Centre

List total – 78,759

Practices are formed in four syndicates: Blackheath and Charlton, Eltham, Excel and
Network. Each syndicate covers a geographical area and practices within the
syndicate work together through peer review and regular meetings.
Each practice has signed the CCG’s Constitution. This states how member practices
will be engaged through regular syndicate meetings and with the GP Executive
through the quarterly Greenwich wide forum meetings. However, following
consultation with the membership during 2018/19, the forum meeting changed to a
Council of Members meeting with new Terms of Reference. A GP Syndicate Lead for
each of the four syndicates is now a voting member of the Governing Body.
Syndicate Leads act as the conduit between the CCG and its GP membership body
to deliver messages and get feedback on commissioning decisions. Syndicate
meetings are held bi-monthly in line with the Constitution.
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Governing Body
The Governing Body oversees the delivery of the CCG’s commissioning plan, sets and
leads the strategy for the CCG, and is accountable for the delivery of Greenwich CCG’s
functions as a statutory body. It monitors performance against objectives, provides effective
financial stewardship and makes sure that high standards of corporate governance are
achieved. Having GPs and other clinical members of the Governing Body ensures all our
decisions are made with clinical leadership and considering Greenwich patients.
The Governing Body meets on alternate months in public, with extra meetings as
necessary. Papers and minutes of the meetings are published on the CCG website. All
meetings have declarations of interests as an agenda item and these are recorded. All
members are required to record any interests relevant to their role on the Governing Body.
The register of interests is a public document which is open to public scrutiny and published
on the CCG website.
The composition of the Governing Body in 2018/19 (including advisory and non-executive
members) is as follows:
Name

Role

Andrew Bland #

Accountable Officer

Maggie Buckell #

Registered Nurse

Dr Vivenne Chai # (from 20.7.18) GP Member
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi #
(from 20.7.18)

GP Member

Councillor
David Gardner (until 24.5.18)

Local Authority Nominee

Amana Humayun # +

Vice Chair and Lay Member for Audit, Remuneration
and Conflicts of Interest Guardian

Neil Kennett-Brown #

Managing Director

Yvonne Leese

Director of Quality and Integrated Governance (until
10.2.19)
Deputy Managing Director and Director of Quality (from
11.2.19)
Local Authority Nominee

Cllr Averil Lekau
(from 24.5.18 to 31.12.18)
David Maloney #

Acting Chief Financial Officer (until 11.2.19)
Director of Finance (from 12.2.19)
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Virginia Morley (formal GB
Director of Commissioning Development
member as Director of
Commissioning until 1.5.18)
Dr Sylvia Nyame # (until 20.7.18) GP Member
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo #
(from 20.7.18)
Dr Nayan Patel # + (until 20.7.18)
Simon Pearce (from 8.1.19)
Dr Ranil Perera # +
Usman Niazi (from 12.2.19)
Dr Janakan Ratnarajan #
(from 20.7.18)
Richard Rice #
Dr Sabah Salman # (from
22.4.18)
Robert Shaw (from 1.5.18)
Dr Vijay Sivapalan #
(from 20.7.18)
Dr Krishna Subbarayan #

GP Member
GP Member
Local Authority Nominee
GP Member
Chief Financial Officer
GP Member
Lay Member Primary Care Commissioning Lead
GP Member
Director of Commissioning (until 10.2.19)
Chief Operating Officer (from 11.2.19)
GP Member
GP Member Chair from 5 Sept 2018

Dr Greg Ussher # +

Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement

Dr Iyngaran Vanniasegarum # +

Secondary Care Doctor Governing Body

Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja #
(from 20.7.18)

GP Member

Dr Hany Wahba # (until 20.7.18) GP Member
Steve Whiteman

Director of Public Health, Royal Borough of
Greenwich

Dr Ellen Wright # (until 31.8.18)

Chair of the Governing Body and GP Member

# = Voting member
+ = Member of the Audit Committee
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Governing Body Committees 2018/19
During 2018/19 the Governing Body was supported by the following committees
Audit
Clinical Commissioning (from 1.9.18)
Finance Performance and QIPP (until 31.8.18)
Financial Investment Committee (from 1.9.18)
Financial Recovery Board (until 31.8.18)
Greenwich Executive Group (until 31.8.18)
Integrated Governance (from 1.9.18)
Patient Reference Group
Primary Care Commissioning
Quality (until 31.8.18)
Remuneration

Greenwich Executive Committee
The Greenwich Executive Committee met until 31.8.18 and consisted of the GP Executive
(elected Governing Body members) and the CCG senior management team and was made
up of the following staff:
Name
GP Executive
Dr Vivienne Chai (from 20.7.18)
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi (from 20.7.18)
Dr Sylvia Nyame (until 20.7.18)
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo (from 20.7.18)
Dr Nayan Patel (until 20.7.18)
Dr Ranil Perera
Dr Sabah Salman (from 22.4.18)
Dr Vijay Sivapalan (from 20.7.18)
Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja
(from 20.7.18)
Dr Hany Wahba (until 20.7.18)
Dr Ellen Wright (until 31.8.18)
Senior Management Team
Andrew Bland
Neil Kennett-Brown
Yvonne Leese
David Maloney
Virginia Morley

Role
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member and Chair of
the Governing Body
Accountable Officer
Managing Director
Director of Quality and Integrated
Governance
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Commissioning
Development
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Robert Shaw (from 1.5.18)

Director of Commissioning

Register of interests
Greenwich CCG is committed to the principles of good governance, leading to open and
transparent decision making. We have therefore established a policy to manage conflicts of
interests to ensure that decisions made by the CCG will be taken and seen to be taken
without any possibility of the influence of external or private interests. Our policy takes
account of the latest statutory guidance.
A conflict of interest is defined as:
• A conflict between the private interests and the official responsibilities of a
person in a position of trust.
• A set of conditions in which professional judgement concerning a primary
interest (such as patients’ welfare or the validity of research) tends to be unduly
influenced by a secondary interest (such as financial gain).
• The creation of a set of circumstances where one party is favoured over another
by an inadvertent preferential interest.
In line with our Conflicts of Interest Policy, arrangements to seek and receive declarations
of interest and maintain Registers of Declared Interests and Gifts and Hospitality have been
put in place. We publish our register of interests and gifts and hospitality register on our
website.
The CCG’s conflicts of interest policy and procedures were independently audited in
2018/19. The CCG was given an overall rating of “reasonable assurance”, the second
highest rating, with the comment that the CCG “can take reasonable assurance that the
controls in place to manage this risk are suitably designed and consistently applied.”

Personal data related incidents
Information relating to the disclosure involving data loss and confidentiality breaches can be
found in the Annual Governance Statement.

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
•
•

So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report.
The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern slavery statement
NHS Greenwich CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual
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Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
However, in line with best practice we publish a statement detailing our local approach on
our website.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed
the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of Greenwich CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•
•
•
•
•

•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities),
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and with a view to
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with
Section14R of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended)), and
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to
223J of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended)).

Under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each CCG to prepare
for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the
Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its income and expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•
•
•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
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•

Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that Greenwich CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the auditors are unaware.
Disclosures
NHS England issued legal directions to help address long standing performance problems
with local urgent and emergency care services. Under these directions from 1 September
2017 our responsibility for acute commissioning and contracting was temporarily transferred
to Southwark CCG. This has also supported our ambitions as a CCG and helped us
address areas found to require improvement in 2017/18 and 2018/19. High quality
healthcare and patient experience are of paramount importance to Greenwich CCG and we
have worked closely with local NHS partners to ensure that patients receive the very best
standards from the NHS. The Integrated Contracts Delivery Team (ICDT) hosted by
Southwark CCG has provided regular performance monitoring reports to our Finance
Performance and QIPP Committee and in the second part of 2018/19 to our Integrated
Governance Committee (following the restructure of some of our committees from 1
September 2018). Legal Directions were lifted in March 2019.
I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that
I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Governance statement
Introduction and context
NHS Greenwich CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2018, the clinical commissioning group has been subject to directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006 as
follows:
•

•
•

NHS England issued legal directions to help address long standing performance
problems with local urgent and emergency care services. Under these directions
from 1 September 2017 our responsibility for acute commissioning and contracting
were temporarily transferred to Southwark CCG. We welcomed the lifting of the legal
directions in March 2019.
You can read more about the legal directions here.
You can access the latest published information about the CCG’s performance
against the improvement and assessment framework (IAF) here.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set
out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
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Greenwich CCG is responsible for the procurement of services on behalf of the residents of
Greenwich. We are responsible for creating suitable arrangements with providers of services
that are in the best interests of the service users, and also represent value for money.
Considering the complexity and range of services offered it is vital that we have a
governance structure with sufficient delegation to ensure that decisions can be made but
also sufficient oversight to prevent any deviation from the statutes of the constitution.
Greenwich CCG is accountable for exercising its statutory functions. It may delegate
authority to act on its behalf to:
•
•
•
•

any of its members
the Governing Body
employees
any committees or sub-committees established by Greenwich CCG for the purpose
of exercising its statutory functions.

The extent of the authority of the respective bodies and individuals depends on the powers
delegated to them by Greenwich CCG as expressed through:
1. Its Scheme of Reservation and Delegation; and
2. for committees, their terms of reference.
The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation sets out:
1. Those decisions that are reserved for the GP membership as a whole
2. Those decisions that are the responsibilities of the Governing Body designated
committees, the Accountable Officer and the Chief Finance Officer.
However, Greenwich CCG remains accountable for all of its functions, including those that
it has delegated.
Greenwich CCG has a robust corporate governance structure with the roles and
responsibilities of the members of the Governing Body and supporting Committees clearly
set out.
Each member of the Governing Body shares responsibility as part of a team to ensure that
the group exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically, with good
governance and in accordance with the terms of its constitution. Each Governing Body
member brings their own unique perspective, informed by their skills, knowledge and
experience.
During 2018/19 the Governing Body has:
•
•
•

Approved the CCG’s operating plan and corporate objectives for 2019/20
Agreed the CCG’s budget for the year
Approved the annual equalities report
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Approved the CCG’s Clinical Commissioning Strategy 2018-2022 and its
Implementation Plan
Approved proposed amendments to the CCG Constitution to be voted upon by the
membership
Approved terms of reference for Governing Body Committees
Approved terms of reference for SE London Committees in Common and the
piloting of a SE London Integrated Governance and Performance Committee to
facilitate collaborative working across SE London
Approved an action plan to address the findings of the annual 360 degree
stakeholder survey into engagements between the CCG and its membership and
key partners
Elected a new Clinical Chair of the Governing Body
Received integrated performance and quality and finance reports, through which
the Governing Body has been advised of the quality and safety of commissioned
services and other performance and financial issues.
Received and taken assurance that strategic risks were effectively mitigated
Received confirmation that the CCG was compliant with all the NHS England Core
Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)
Ensured that any conflicts of interest were appropriately managed
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Governing Body Members’ attendance at Governing Body and development meetings 2018/19

Andrew Bland
Maggie Buckell
Dr Vivienne Chai (from 20.7.18)
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi (from 20.7.18)
Cllr David Gardner (until 24.5.18)
Amana Humayun +
Neil Kennett-Brown
Yvonne Leese
Cllr Averil Lekau
(from 24.5.18 until 31.12.18)
David Maloney
Virginia Morley (until 1.5.18, attendee at
subsequent GB meetings)
Usman Niazi (from 12.2.19)
Dr Sylvia Nyame (until 20.7.18)
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo (from 20.7.18)
Dr Nayan Patel + (until 20.7.18)
Simon Pearce (from 8.1.19)
Dr Ranil Perera +
(Audit Committee member from 20.7.18)
Dr Janakan Ratnarajan (from 1.9.18)
Richard Rice
Dr Sabah Salman (from 22.4.18)
Robert Shaw (from 1.5.18)
Dr Vijay Sivapalan (from 20.7.18)
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Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Dr Greg Ussher
Dr Iyngaran Vanniasegarum
Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja (from 20.7.18)
Dr Hany Wahba (until 20.7.18)
Steve Whiteman
Dr Ellen Wright (until 31.8.18)

Key:

GB = Governing Body
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Members must attend at least 75% of meetings of the Governing Body or, where this is not possible, the Chair must be satisfied as
to the reasons.
Key:
P = Public Meeting, D = Development Meeting,
AGM = Annual General Meeting.
+ = Member of the Audit Committee
Greenwich CCG uses a number of committees to provide challenge and assurance over specific areas, for example performance
and quality of services to patients, Quality, Improvement, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) delivery and financial performance through
the Integrated Governance Committee.
All committees are formed with a membership that provides a sufficient range of skills, including clinical expertise and lay
membership, to provide effective management and oversight. The committees are referenced within the NHS Greenwich CCG
Constitution. For those committees which report directly to the Governing Body, minutes are available in the Governing Body papers.
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The performance of the Governing Body includes development workshops held throughout
the year, some with external facilitation. All GP Governing Body members and the Chief
Officer have a review halfway through the year and an appraisal at the end of the year with
the CCG Chair.
Governing Body Officers, i.e. the Chief Finance Officer and all directors have an appraisal
with the Accountable Officer or the Managing Director as appropriate.
During the year the CCG’s Membership and NHS England approved changes to the CCG’s
Constitution designed to strengthening member engagement and voting arrangements on
the CCG’s Governing Body. GP practices are organised into four syndicates and the
Syndicate Leads are now also GP members of the Governing Body. In addition a Council
of Members, on which each practice in Greenwich has a named GP representative, began
meeting in February 2019 and it is proposed to have an independent GP chair.
The Council has specific responsibility to approve further changes to the CCG Constitution,
CCG Committees are accountable to either the Governing Body or the committee that
established them. Control is exercised through the receipt of their minutes by either the
Governing Body or the relevant sponsoring committee. Reports can also be made to these
meetings by the Committee Chairs where required and the Chairs can also bring matters
onto the agendas of their sponsoring body/committee whenever they believe this is
necessary. The minutes and reports of committees that report to the Governing Body
96

(unless they are confidential) are published on the CCG website with the Governing Body
papers.
The terms of reference for committees are approved by their sponsoring body/committee
and cannot be exceeded without further subsequent approval.
•
•
•

The Nolan principles are embedded within the CCG’s governance arrangements.
The Risk Register is maintained to a good standard giving adequate details on risks,
controls and action plans in place.
The Governing Body Assurance Framework comprehensively addresses strategic
risks to the organisation.

Audit Committee
The committee was established to take an independent and objective view of the CCG’s
financial systems, compliance with laws and compliance with best practice in its arrangements
for corporate governance. The committee has reflected on its work and had agreed that it goes
about its work in organised, accountable and informed way. In 2018/19:
•
•
•

Its work programme followed a plan agreed at the start of the year
It makes it clear to CCG management and staff what is required from them in the
preparation and running of meetings
It reports to the Governing Body via provision of minutes of the meetings once
confirmed.

During the year, the work of the Audit Committee included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Approved the 2017/18 Annual Report and Annual Accounts on behalf of the Governing
Body
Approval of updated Audit Committee terms of reference
Approved the external auditors Management Representation Letter
Approved the Annual Audit Letter
Received the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2018/19.
Approved the Internal Audit Plan for 2018/19 and commented on reports of the reviews.
Reviewed Service Auditor Reports.
Approved the counter fraud work plan for 2018/19 and commented on progress.
Scrutinised and advised on the format and content of the Board Assurance Framework,
including detailed discussions in to specific areas.
Reviewed the local security management workplan for 2018/19 and commented on
progress.

There were four meetings of the Audit Committee during the year. The committee was
supported by the CCG management team, with appropriate attendance as required. The
Chief Finance Officer attended all meetings.
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UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we
have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG.

Discharge of statutory functions
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group
has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a
result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk management
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Greenwich CCG has assessed its key risks and uncertainties throughout the year using the
Governing Body Assurance Framework. The Assurance Framework sets out the principal
risks in delivering our strategic objectives and how these risks are managed. There is an
established methodology in place to identify, monitor, control and mitigate risks throughout
the CCG as part of, and within, the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Assurance
Framework.
The key elements of the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Assurance Framework
involve the application of logical and systematic methods for:
• communicating risks and consulting throughout the organisation
• establishing the context for identifying, analysing, evaluating, treating risk associated
with CCG activity, processes and functions
• monitoring and reviewing risks
• recording and reporting results appropriately.
Effective risk management enables the CCG to set priorities and improve decision making
to reach an optimal balance of risk, benefit and cost. Robust risk management assists in
the prevention of risks and reduces the CCG’s vulnerability in all its corporate objectives.
Continuous monitoring of internal systems and processes together with regular deep dive
reviews act as fraud deterrents and ensure the earliest identification of possible risks.
The CCG recognises that some risks are inherent and not all risks can or should be
avoided or eliminated, but these should be identified. The CCG does not aim to create a
risk-free environment, but rather one where risk is regularly assessed and considered as
part of everyday management and appropriately identified and controlled. Every effort is to
be made to ensure that all risks are maintained at as low a risk grading as reasonably
practicable.
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Risk Management is not just the responsibility of one person within the organisation
because it is everyone’s responsibility. To support the development of a proactive risk
management approach across the organisation, any member of staff may raise a concern
of a risk and discuss it either individually with a line manager, or within their team, and or
directorate meeting. Support and advice can be sought from the Quality and Patient Safety
Manager by either the individual and or the line manager raising the risk at any time. On
approval of the appropriate director, an identified risk will be added onto the organisation’s
system for managing risks, which is Datix. Risk reports are monitored monthly, and actions
are updated accordingly by identified leads.
The CCG is working toward a mature risk appetite. The CCG has no appetite for financial
risk and zero tolerance for fraud and regulatory breaches e.g. safeguarding breaches, poor
professional conduct of its staff and information governance (data protection) breaches.
Greenwich CCG may take considered risks, where the long-term benefits outweigh any
short-term losses. The CCG supports well-managed risk-taking and will ensure that the
skills, ability and knowledge are there to support innovation and maximise service
improvement. The Governing Body commits to review its risk appetite statement on an
annual basis.
As part of the embedded risk management process, the CCG also uses Datix for local
incident reporting. Any member of staff may report an internal incident online as a link for
reporting on Datix is on the main intranet page with its own unique icon. No specific login
detail is needed as the CCG encourages open reporting to identify potential risks and
minimise harm.
Another way the CCG has embedded risk management into its core business is via its
current business case template. The CCGs of Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham (BGL)
use an approved BGL business case template that gives due consideration to quality
impact assessments (QIAs), equality impact assessments (EQIAs) and data protection
impact assessments (DPIAs) as part of the review. The template also requires the
assessment of public and patient engagement to ensure that relevant stakeholders have
been identified and due consideration given to the potential need for consultation and
engagement.
Capacity to handle risk
A strong organisational commitment to risk management ensures that risks identified at all
levels in the organisation are appropriately managed. Risks are escalated to the Governing
Body through the governance structures in the CCG with the corporate Risk Register being
the consistent factor throughout the whole organisation.
The CCG has established and maintains via the Audit Committee and the Integrated
Governance Committee (IGC) continual reporting, monitoring and auditing of risks to
ensure that standards are being implemented and therefore, risk is being controlled to the
lowest reasonably practicable levels.
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All risks on the corporate Risk Register are aligned to the CCG’s corporate objectives with
an identified lead Director and lead Clinical GP from the Governing Body membership. The
complete corporate Risk Register is presented at alternating months at the IGC and
quarterly at the Audit Committee meetings. Risks that are scored 12 and above on the
corporate Risk Register are presented as the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF) at the bi-monthly public facing Governing Body meetings of the CCG for scrutiny
and discussion. The complete corporate risk register is also attached as an Appendix in the
GBAF reports to the Governing Body.
Subcommittees that feed into the IGC include the Joint Safeguarding Group (JSG) and the
Information Governance Steering Group (IGSG). Both these subcommittees review risks
specific to safeguarding (JSG) and information governance (IGSG). They review and
monitor actions on the risk register, and these are then updated and reported into the IGC.
Governance structures were strengthened in the CCG with a new Governing Body structure
established in September 2018. Following new membership on the Governing Body, the
CCG secured training from the Good Governance Institute (GGI) for all members of the
Governing Body. This was part of the CCG’s commitment to ensure its Governing Body
members were equipped to robustly manage governance and risk in a way appropriate to
their authority and duties. Workshops were held at timed intervals to embed the knowledge
and skills gained from working closely with the GGI.
The CCG is also part of the NHS South East London [SEL] Commissioning Alliance
(Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark CCGs). The CCG is a
member of the SEL Integrated Governance and Performance Committee, which meets on a
monthly basis and has an SEL Integrated Governance and Performance Board Assurance
Framework (BAF) that reviews risks identified at the SEL strategic level. Good practice is
shared and disseminated from this meeting, and the CCG utilises this as a way of learning
and improving continuously.
Risk assessment
The top risks for Greenwich CCG identified in 2018/19 were:
•

•

Risk of a reducing primary care GP workforce (due to retirement, natural wastage
and difficulty recruiting and retaining GPs nationally and locally) set against an
increasing population thus impacting on primary care resilience over time. Mitigation
for this included engagement with the International GP Recruitment programme
(IGPR), Community Education Provider Network (CEPN) working closely with the
Vocation Training Scheme (VTS) to link practices with vacancies with soon to be
qualified trainees and holding quarterly Protected Learning Time (PLT) events for
practice staff to support their learning needs.
Risk of not achieving the improvement trajectory for meeting the access to cancer
treatment as measured by the constitutional standard for 62 days from urgent GP
referral to treatment. Mitigation for this risk has included achieving local actions for
individual provider improvement; development of a further SEL Network approach to
areas such as dermatology and urology where SEL pooling of employment as a
sector to reduce workforce issues has improved shared capacity in the system
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•

•

•

where available; and work being undertaken on demand management with regards
to management of referrals from outside the SEL sector.
Risk of not fully delivering core functions if acute contracts over perform in 2018/19.
Mitigation for this risk has included the implementation of the Planned Care
Programme Board across Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham with focus on high
referring specialities, referral optimisation and increasing access to specialist opinion
to reduce referral levels.
Risk of not halving the numbers of patients waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment
at March 2018 compared to numbers by March 2019. Mitigation of this risk was
managed via outsourcing arrangements that were implemented to bridge the
capacity gap identified from in-house capacity.
Risk of not achieving its financial statutory duties in 2018/19. Due to the robust
implementation of the Financial Recovery plan, the CCG achieved financial balance
at year end.

The CCG has worked throughout the year on managing its finances to ensure delivery of
high quality care with the best value for money. The CCG will continue to ensure it
manages its financial position as effectively as possible.

Deterrents to risk arising: counter fraud
During 2018/19 the CCG commissioned TIAA, a local counter fraud specialist, to deliver a
counter fraud service. The TIAA follows the guidance and standards, set by NHS Protect.
The local counter fraud specialist TIAA provides the CCG with assurance through regular
meetings with the Chief Finance Officer to review the counter fraud plan and discuss cases.
The local counter fraud specialist also presented regular reports to the CCG Audit
Committee and also provides training regarding counter fraud, bribery and corruption to all
CCG Staff. Counter fraud policies and services are provided by internal audit. Regular
updates and alerts are communicated to all staff.
The following arrangements are in place:
•
•
•

•

•

Proactive and reactive measures are taken by the counter fraud services to deter
and identify fraud as well as to encourage staff to report fraud.
The CCG’s standing orders, standing financial instructions and the scheme of
reservation and delegation.
Conflicts of interests (CoI) are declared at all Governing Body and Committee
meetings and subcommittee meetings. The CCG is compliant with CoI guidance and
the Governing Body and Senior Management Team participate in development
sessions on CoI.
Management notifies the local counter fraud service and/or Chief Finance Officer of
any concerns of fraud. At the conclusion of an investigation, the local counter fraud
service forwards recommendations to the Chief Finance Officer, which are also
reported to the Audit Committee, internal audit and the local counter fraud service
hold liaison meetings during the year in order to discuss high risk areas.
Where management identifies any risk of fraud they are able to introduce appropriate
controls to counter the risk.
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Risks relating to fraud and bribery will be added to the risk register when they occur and
then reviewed by the Governing Body as appropriate.
Risk assessment matrix used within the CCG

Other sources of assurance
Internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level
rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
NHS Greenwich CCG’s system of internal control is intended to manage risks and not to
eliminate risks. To this effect, we have different committees who are responsible for
overseeing the process of risk management within the CCG. Overall responsibility for risk
management rests with the Governing Body.
Our system of internal control has been maintained through the monitoring and delivery of
its Governing Board assurance framework (GBAF) by the Governing Body. Led by the
Director of Quality and Integrated Governance, the GBAF provides a structure and process
that enables the CCG to focus on those risks that might compromise achieving its most
important (principal) annual objectives. It maps out both the key controls that should be in
place to manage those objectives and confirms that the Governing Body has gained
sufficient assurance about the effectiveness of those controls.
The effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of internal
auditors, external auditors, Governing Body, committees, directors and clinical leads within
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the CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework. The Governing Body assurance framework provides the evidence that
the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks of the CCG achieving its strategic
corporate objectives have been reviewed. The framework has been actively managed and
reviewed regularly by the Executive Team, Governing Body and Audit Committee.
The risk management framework sets out the overarching approach to the management of
risk in the organisation. The Governing Body is aware of all significant risks and has
sufficient information to enable it to make decisions on the implementation of appropriate
controls and the allocation of appropriate resources.
The CCG’s aims and objectives are aligned to the Governing Body assurance framework,
which is presented at each meeting of the Governing Body in public. Organisational
objectives are embedded in the annual objectives of CCG staff at all levels within the
organisation and success in achievement of them is measured through the staff appraisal
process. All CCG policies follow a standard operating procedure and adhere to the CCG’s
policy on policies. The policy on policies outlines the appropriate governance route for
approval of policies.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The CCG’s conflicts of interest policy and procedures were independently audited in
2018/19. The CCG was given an overall rating of “reasonable assurance”, the second
highest rating.
To make staff across CCGs more aware of their duty to make true declarations, NHS
England has developed online training that was launched in January 2018 and was
mandatory for all decision-makers in the CCG to complete by the end of May 2018.
Data quality
In line with the “need to know” principles set out in the Caldicott 2 Information Governance
Review Report, the CCG ensures that information presented to the Governing Body and
other governance forums does not identify individuals and is fully anonymised.
Senior management diligently reviews information to be set out in governance and
decision-making prior to consideration and presentation to the relevant governance forum.
The quality of information that the Governing Body and other governance forums receive to
consider and direct decision making is also assured through service level specification
arrangements with the North East London Commissioning Support Unit (NEL CSU) and the
use of contractual arrangements with commissioned providers.
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Information governance
The NHS information governance framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is supported by a
Date Security and Protection (DSP) toolkit and the annual submission process provides
assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. The CCG
demonstrated a high level of compliance by completion of the DSP Toolkit which was
published in March 2019.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of
their information governance roles and responsibilities.
The Director of Quality and Integrated Governance was the executive lead on the
Governing Body for information governance and was also the senior information risk owner
(SIRO) until 30 September 2018. The Caldicott Guardian was a GP and Governing Body
member. From 1 October 2018 the Managing Director became the SIRO and the Director of
Quality and Integrated Governance became the Caldicott Guardian. The Information
Governance Steering Group meets bi-monthly.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.
Business critical models
NHS England recognises the importance of quality assurance across the full range of its
analytical work. In partnership with analysts in the Department of Health we have
developed an approach that is fully consistent with the recommendations in Sir Nicholas
Macpherson's review of quality assurance of government models. The framework includes
a programme of mandatory workshops for NHS England analysts, which highlights the
importance of quality assurance across the full range of analytical work.
The Macpherson Report on the review of quality assurance (QA) of Government Analytical
Models set out the components of best practice in QA making eight key recommendations.
We recognise the importance of this and have been working with partners to ensure
appropriate quality assurance processes are in place across its analytical work.
For 2018/19, Greenwich CCG has continued to work with other CCGs and NHS providers
in South East London, as part of the Our Healthier South East London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP), to develop and maintain the strategic business and
financial modelling. The modelling is led through the STP Director or Financial Strategy who
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reports back to the South East London provider and commissioner Chief Financial Officer
Group, which is represented by all NHS organisations within the STP. The output of the
financial modelling is reviewed by a varied number of stakeholders from different
disciplines, both internal and external, and underpins the financial opportunities of the
impacts of service changes over a five year period.
Locally, Greenwich CCG has developed a number of business and financial models which
underpin areas such as local financial planning, QIPP delivery and service transformation.
The identified senior responsible officer is the Chief Financial Officer, who ensures that
there are effective processes underpinning the modelling, including appropriate guidance,
documentation and training, as well as sharing best practice. This includes ensuring that
appropriate assurance processes are in place to govern the robustness of any modelling.

Control issues
No significant control issues have been identified.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
In year monitoring of performance against our plans, in terms of quality, finance and other
performance standards (e.g. NHS constitutional standards) has been carried out by our
Quality Committee and Finance, Performance and QIPP Committee and after September
2018 by the Integrated Governance and Financial Investment Committees. This includes
assuring that projects and programmes are delivering economic, effective and high quality
services.
Under the CCG improvement and assessment framework indicators leadership ratings are
reviewed on a quarterly basis, the latest available results (to quarter 3 2018/19) show that
the CCG is rated requires improvement for the quality of leadership. Year end results for
the Improvement and Assessment Framework are published by NHS England.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2018/19
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is
required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and
governance processes. The opinion should contribute to the organisation's annual
governance statement.
1.1 The opinion
For the 12 months ended 31 March 2019, the head of internal audit opinion for Greenwich
CCG is as follows:
Head of internal audit opinion 2018/19

Please see appendix A for the full range of annual opinions available to us in preparing this
report and opinion.
1.2 Scope and limitations of our work
The formation of our opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with
management and approved by the audit committee; our opinion is subject to inherent
limitations, as detailed below:
•

the opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and assurances
relating to the organisation;

•

the opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans generated
from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such, the assurance
framework is one component that the board takes into account in making its annual
governance statement (AGS);

•

the opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work undertaken, the
scope of which has been agreed with management;

•

the opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to the
area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;
106

•

where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where
these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a
reduction in compliance;

•

due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to attention; and

•

it remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of
risk management, internal control and governance, and for the prevention and
detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be
seen as a substitute for management responsibility around the design and effective
operation of these systems.

1.3 Factors and findings which have informed our opinion
Based on the work undertaken in 2018/19, as at 10 May 2019, there is a generally sound
system of internal control, designed to meet the CCG’s objectives, and controls are
generally being applied consistently. The reports issued following our internal audit reviews
have all received Reasonable assurance opinions and have not identified any significant
control issues.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Performance Management of Providers
QIPP and Sustainability
Organisation Recovery Plan
Conflicts of Interest
Risk Management and Assurance Framework
Primary Care Delegated Commissioning (joint SEL review)
Governance (joint SEL review)

We also issued an advisory report for General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).
Whilst no significant control issues were identified as part of any of the abovementioned
reviews, we have identified some areas for improvement and where those were highlighted,
we have agreed actions with management with agreed deadlines for implementation.
These are followed up on a regular basis and their status reported to each meeting of the
Audit Committee.
A summary of internal audit work undertaken, and the resulting conclusions, is provided at
appendix B.
1.4 Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual governance
statement
Based on the work we have undertaken on the CCG’s system on internal control, we do not
consider that within these areas there are any issues that need to be flagged as significant
control issues within the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The CCG may wish to
consider whether any other issues have arisen, including the results of any external reviews
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which it might want to consider for inclusion in the Annual Governance Statement. It may
also choose to mention that for part of the year, the CCG operated under special measures,
although these were lifted in March 2019.

2. The basis of our internal audit opinion
As well as those headlines discussed at paragraph 1.3, the following areas have helped to
inform our opinion. A summary of internal audit work undertaken, and the resulting
conclusions, is provided at appendix B.
2.1 Acceptance of internal audit management actions
Management have agreed actions to address all of the findings reported by the internal
audit service during 2018/19.
Management have agreed actions to address most of the findings reported by the internal
audit service during 2018/19.
2.2 Implementation of internal audit management actions
Where actions have been agreed by management, these have been monitored by
management through the action tracking process in place. During the year progress has
been reported to the audit committee, with the validation of the action status confirmed by
internal audit on a rolling basis.
Our follow up of the actions agreed to address previous years' internal audit findings shows
that the organisation had made good progress in implementing the agreed actions.
10
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4
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1
0
Completed

In Progress
High

Medium

Not Due
Low
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For the 2018/19 year there were a total of 17 management actions raised which consisted
of 12 medium and five low priority management actions, as of which all 14 management
actions had fallen due for implementation as at 31 March 2019. There was a total of 13
management actions which had been fully implemented, which consisted of nine medium
and 4 low priority actions. One Medium action is in the process of being implemented.
2.3 Working with other assurance providers
In forming our opinion, we have considered the work of other providers as set out in the
Service Auditor report section below. We have also worked closely with your Local Counter
Fraud Service providers and External Audit during the year.
Service Auditor report
We have reviewed the Service Auditor Report for National Shared Business Services, who
provide financial transactional support to the CCG, via its contract with NHS England. For
the year ending 31 March 2019 no exceptions were identified.
The Service Auditor Report for NHS Digital did not raise any exceptions. NHS Digital (the
trading name of the “Health and Social Care Information Centre”) provides IT services as
part of the end to end service alongside other organisations to support processing of NHS
payments and deductions to providers of general practice (“GP”) services in England. The
service auditor report was for the year ending 31 March 2019.
We considered the Service Auditor Reports for the first half of 2018/19 and second half of
2018/19, from the internal auditors of Capita, who process payments to providers of general
practice via a contract with NHS England, from whom the CCG has delegated primary care
commissioning responsibilities. We found that improvements had been made in the second
half of the year and there were fewer exceptions identified, none of which were considered
to be significant to the CCG’s control environment.
We have considered the findings of the Service Auditor report covering both the first half of
2018/19 and the second half of 2018/19, carried out by the internal auditors of NHS
England, where finance and payroll services are provided to the CCG from NEL
Commissioning Support Unit. Although there were a small number of exceptions, none of
these were considered to be significant.

109

3. Our Performance
3.1. Wider value adding delivery
Area of work

How this has added value

Health Matters
quarterly
publications

We published our Health Matters quarterly publications. The publication focussed on hot
topics within the health sector and highlighted key questions that health organisations
should be asking themselves together with areas of good practice that can help
strengthen the control environment.

Client Briefings

As part of our client service commitment, during 2018/19 we issued monthly news
briefings and summarised the most pertinent ones for the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee

We contributed to the discussions at the audit committee on various items on the
agenda in order to ensure that the CCG benefits from wider input in order to strengthen
its governance arrangements.

GDPR Benchmarking As part of our internal audit service we have undertaken a benchmarking exercise
considering the findings from our GDPR audits between the period of August 2017 and
January 2018. We have appended the results as a separate paper.
Board Assurance
Framework
Benchmarking

As part of our internal audit service we have undertaken a benchmarking exercise
comparing the CCG’s BAF to other CCGs. The following key findings in relation to
Greenwich CCG arose from the benchmarking;
Greenwich CCG had a total of 37 risks on the BAF in comparison to an average of 16.2;
Greenwich CCG rated 14 risks as ‘significant’ (+16) which represents 37.83% of the total
number of risks on the BAF. This compares to an average of 36% for other CCGs;
and
Greenwich CCG documented a total of 41 actions on the BAF which was in line with the
average.
Our benchmarking paper also highlighted further information in relation to risk themes,
risk evaluation, target risk, assurances, good practice and case studies.

Conflicts of Interest
Benchmarking

Following revised statutory guidance being issued by NHS England in June 2017, we
undertook a benchmarking exercise utilising the data from our internal audit reviews
across our client base in 2017/18. This exercise included data from 40 CCGs. The
following key findings in relation to Greenwich CCG arose from the benchmarking;
Greenwich CCG received one of the 11 substantial assurance opinions provided.
Two low priority actions arose from the 2017/18 audit.
Our benchmarking paper also highlighted further information in relation to common
themes across a number of areas including governance arrangements and policy,
declaration of interests and gifts and hospitality, and maintenance of registers of interest,
gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions. Areas of good practice identified
through the benchmarking are also included.

Service Auditor
Reports (SAR)
controls catalogue

Following the management action raised by External Audit, as part of their year-end
work for 2017/18, RSM have developed a controls catalogue which documents the
controls from the individual SAR reports from 2017/18. A summary report was prepared
detailing the key findings raised from the service auditor reports and presented to the
Audit Committee at the January 2019 meeting.
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3.2 Conflicts of interests
RSM has not undertaken any work or activity during 2018/19 that would lead us to declare
any conflict of interest.
3.3 Conformance with internal auditing standards
RSM affirms that our internal audit services are designed to conform to the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).
Under PSIAS, internal audit services are required to have an external quality assessment
every five years. Our risk assurance service line commissioned an external independent
review of our internal audit services in 2016 to provide assurance whether our approach
meets the requirements of the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF)
published by the Global Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) on which PSIAS is based.
The external review concluded that “there is a robust approach to the annual and
assignment planning processes and the documentation reviewed was thorough in both
terms of reports provided to audit committee and the supporting working papers.” RSM was
found to have an excellent level of conformance with the IIA’s professional standards.
The risk assurance service line has in place a quality assurance and improvement
programme to ensure continuous improvement of our internal audit services. Resulting from
the programme, there are no areas which we believe warrant flagging to your attention as
impacting on the quality of the service we provide to you.
3.4 Quality assurance and continual improvement
To ensure that RSM remains compliant with the PSIAS framework we have a dedicated
internal Quality Assurance Team who undertake a programme of reviews to ensure the
quality of our audit assignments. This is applicable to all Heads of Internal Audit, where a
sample of their clients will be reviewed. Any findings from these reviews are used to inform
the training needs of our audit teams.
This is in addition to any feedback we receive from our post assignment surveys, client
feedback, appraisal processes and training needs assessments.
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3.5 Performance indicators
A number of performance indicators were agreed with the audit committee. Our
performance against those indicators is as follows:
Delivery

Quality
Target

Actual Notes
(ref)

1

Target

Actual

Conformance with PSIAS

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Audits commenced in Yes
line with original
timescales

75%

Draft reports issued
within 10 days of
debrief meeting

100%

100%

Liaison with external audit
to allow, where appropriate
and required, the external
auditor to place reliance on
the work of internal audit.

Management
100%
responses received
within 10 days of draft
report

100%

% of staff with CCAB/CMIIA >50%
qualifications

>60%

Final report issued
within 3 days of
management
response

100%

100%

Respond to general
enquiries for assistance
within two working days

100%

% of High & Medium
actions followed up

100%

100%

Respond to emergencies or 100%
notifications of potential
fraud within one working
day

100%

Notes
(ref)

N/A

Notes
1: Start dates for the joint SEL CCG audits for Governance and Primary Care Commissioning were moved in agreement with
management.
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Appendix A: Annual opinions
The following shows the full range of opinions available to us within our internal audit
methodology to provide you with context regarding your annual internal audit opinion.
Annual opinions

Factors influencing our
opinion
The factors which are
considered when
influencing our opinion
are:
• inherent risk in the
area being
audited;
•

limitations in the
individual audit
assignments;

•

the adequacy and
effectiveness of
the risk
management and
/ or governance
control framework;

•

the impact of
weakness
identified;

•

the level of risk
exposure; and

•

the response to
management
actions raised and
timeliness of
actions taken.
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Appendix B: Summary of internal audit work completed 2018/19
Assignment

Performance Management of
Providers

Executive lead

Assurance level

Yvonne Leese – Director of
Quality and Integrated
Governance

Actions agreed
H

M

L

0

5

0

0

2

0

0

2

0

0

0

4

0

1

0

0

2

1

0

3

2

0

0

2

Reasonable
QIPP and Sustainability

David Maloney – Director
of Finance
Reasonable

Organisational Recovery Plan David Maloney – Director
of Finance
Reasonable
Conflicts of Interest

Yvonne Leese – Director of
Quality and Integrated
Governance
Reasonable

Risk Management and
Assurance Framework

Yvonne Leese – Director of
Quality and Integrated
Governance
Reasonable

Primary Care Commissioning
(joint SEL review)

David Maloney – Director
of Finance
Reasonable

Governance (joint SEL review) Christina Windle, Director
of Commissioning
Operations, SEL Alliance
Reasonable
GDPR and Data Security and
Protection (DSP) Toolkit

David Maloney – Director
of Finance

Advisory

All of the assurance levels and outcomes provided above should be considered in the
context of the scope, and the limitation of scope, set out in the individual Assignment
Report.
We use the following levels of opinion classification within our internal audit reports.
Reflecting the level of assurance the board can take:
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Taking account of the issues identified, the board
cannot take assurance that the controls upon
which the organisation relies to manage this risk
are suitably designed, consistently applied or
effective.
Urgent action is needed to strengthen the control
framework to manage the identified risk(s).

Taking account of the issues identified, the board
can take partial assurance that the controls to
manage this risk are suitably designed and
consistently applied.
Action is needed to strengthen the control
framework to manage the identified risk(s).
Taking account of the issues identified, the board
can take reasonable assurance that the controls in
place to manage this risk are suitably designed
and consistently applied.
However, we have identified issues that need to
be addressed in order to ensure that the control
framework is effective in managing the identified
risk(s).

Taking account of the issues identified, the board
can take substantial assurance that the controls
upon which the organisation relies to manage the
identified risk(s) are suitably designed,
consistently applied and operating effectively.

RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP
May 2019
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and
internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing Body,
the Audit Committee, the Quality Committee, the Integrated Governance Committee,
Internal Audit and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of
the system is in place.
The Governing Body and Audit Committee have provided regular feedback on the
completeness and effectiveness of our systems of internal control via comments and
feedback on the completeness of the Board Assurance Framework. Control and assurance
gaps were sometimes identified, resulting in existing controls and assurances being further
reviewed and strengthened. The Audit Committee also carried out reviews in to the risks
associated with the CCG priorities.
The report into the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) process from our Internal Auditors
stated that there is reasonable assurance that the controls in place to manage the risks are
suitably designed and consistently applied. Issues were identified that need to be
addressed in order to ensure that the control framework is effective in managing the
identified risks.
The risk management arrangements at Greenwich CCG were reviewed and an overall
assessment of reasonable assurance was provided.
Conclusion
In conclusion I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Remuneration and staff report
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises of five members and has met twice
during the past year.
A full list of the NHS Greenwich CCG members and their roles is below.
Name
Amana Humayun

Role

Maggie Bucknell

Lay Member/ Vice Chair (Audit and Conflict of
Interests (COI))
Governing Body Registered Nurse

Greg Ussher
Dr Iyngarun Vanniasegarum

Lay member (Patient and Public Involvement (PPI)
Secondary Care Doctor

Richard Rice

Lay member (Lead for Primary Care Commissioning)

In addition to the members listed above, the following CCG employee
provided the committee with advice which was material to the committee’s
deliberations.
Name
Yvonne Leese
Robert Shaw

Role
Director of Quality and Integrated
Governance
Director of Commissioning

Service
Advice
Advice

The North East London Commissioning Support Unit (NELCSU) provides HR
advice and support to the CCG in accordance with an agreed Service Level
Agreement. This includes advice and support to the Remuneration Committee
including agreeing agendas with the Chair of the Committee and preparing and
presenting papers at Committee meetings. The advice given to the
Remuneration Committee is based on national guidance and benchmarking
information. The HR Business Partner is appointed by the NEL CSU.
Remuneration policy
The committee’s deliberations are carried out within the context of national pay and
remuneration guidelines, local comparability and taking account of independent
advice regarding pay structures. Business expenses are reimbursed in accordance
with the CCG policy based on national guidelines. There are no benefits in kind. This
policy remains the same for 2019/20.
Senior managers’ performance related pay
The CCG does not have a policy of performance related pay for senior managers.
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Senior managers’ service contracts
Senior managers’ contracts are permanent with a notice period of six months. There
have been no termination payments in year or any awards to current or former
members of the Governing Body, although the CCG made a settlement agreement
with one person.
Senior managers’ salaries and allowances 2018/19 (unaudited)
All members of the Governing Body are deemed to be individuals with significant
financial responsibility during the financial year and are therefore regarded as ‘senior
managers’. No other CCG senior managers have significant financial responsibility.
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Senior Manager Remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (audited)
Financial Year 2018-19

Name

Title

Salary &
Fees
bands of
£5,000

Taxable
Benefits
Disclosed in
£ to the
nearest £100

Annual
Long-term
Performance Performance All Pension
Related
Related
Related
Bonuses
Benefits
Bonuses
bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£2,500

Total
bands of
£5,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

25-30

0

0

0

0-5

25-30

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5
120-125

Andrew Bland

Chief Officer

Usman Niazi

SEL Chief Financial Officer from 11 February 2019

Joanne Murfitt

Chief Officer from 1 November 2016 to 10 Sep 2017

Neil Kennett-Brown

Managing Director from 25 September 2017

115-120

0

0

0

2.5-5

David Maloney

Chief Financial Officer from 20 February 2017

60-65

0

0

0

2.5-5

70-75

Robert Shaw

Director of Commissioning from 1st May 2018

100-105

0

0

0

5-7.5

105-110

Liz James

Interim Director of Commissioning Until 30 Sep 2017

Vanessa Fowler

Director of Commissioning from 1st October to 15th
December 2017

Director of Quality and Deputy Managing Director
Director of commissioning from 27 Nov 2017 until 1 May
2018
Virginia Morley
Chair and GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG
Governing Body until 31 Aug 2018
Dr Ellen Wright
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
until 20 July 2018
Dr Hany Wahba
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
until 20 July 2018
Dr Nayan Patel
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 August 2015 until 20 July 2018
Dr Sylvia Nyame
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 May 2014
Dr Ranil Perera
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Krishna Subbarayan
From 1 July 2014
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 Aug 2015
Dr Sabah Salman
Secondary Care doctor on the NHS Greewich CCG
Dr Iyngaran Vanniasgarum Governing Body from 08 Jan 2014
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Janakan Ratnarajan
From 1 September 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Vivienne Chai
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Vijay Sivapalan
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Anuj Chaturvedi
From 20 July 2018
Registered Nurse on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 08 Jan 2015
Maggie Buckell
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 April 2013
Dr Greg Ussher
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 April 2013 until 11 June 2017
Mr Jim Wintour
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 20 March 2017
Mr Richard Rice
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja from 17 Jan 2018
Vice Chair and Lay Member for Audit and Remuneration
and Conflicts of Interest Guardian from 12 June 2017
Amana Humayun
Yvonne Leese

Not Applicable

Not Applicable
Not Applicable
105-110

0

0

0

50-52.5

160-165

65-70

0

0

0

12.5-15

75-80

20-25

0

0

0

0

30-35

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0-2.5

10-15

40-45

0

0

0

67.5-70

110-115

55-60

0

0

0

7.5-10

65-70

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Not Applicable
10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

20-25

0

0

0

135-137.5

155-160

0

0

0

0

0

0

Councillor David Gardner Local Authority Member

0

0

0

0

0

0

Director of Public Health

0

0

0

0

0

0

Steve Whiteman
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*Andrew Bland has been the Accountable Officer for Southwark CCG since April
2013. He took over the Accountable Officer role for Bexley CCG from 5 February
2018 and that for Greenwich, Lewisham and Bromley CCGs from 1 April 2018. His
total salary for the year for these NHS roles was £140,000 to 145,000, expenses
£200, and pension related benefits £nil. Corresponding entries are shown in the
other CCG accounts.
*David Maloney has been Director of Finance for Greenwich and Lewisham CCG’s
all period. His total salary for the year for these NHS roles was £125,000 to 130,000
and pension related benefits £5,000 to £7,500. Corresponding entries are shown in
the other CCG accounts.
No Governing Body member, or any other manager, received any performance
related pay or bonus, or taxable benefit.
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Senior Manager Remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (audited)
Financial Year 2017-18

Name

Title

Salary &
Fees
bands of
£5,000

Taxable
Benefits
Disclosed in
£ to the
nearest £100

Annual
Long-term
Performance Performance All Pension
Related
Related
Related
Bonuses
Bonuses
Benefits
bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£2,500

Total
bands of
£5,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

30-35

0

0

0

15-17.5

45-50

Chief Officer from 1 November 2016 to 10 Sep 2017

50-55

0

0

0

0

50-55

Neil Kennett-Brown

Managing Director from 25 September 2017

65-70

0

0

0

0

65-70

David Maloney

Chief Financial Officer from 20 February 2017

120-125

0

0

0

37.5 - 40

155-160

Robert Shaw

Director of Commissioning

Liz James

Interim Director of Commissioning Until 30 Sep 2017

70-75

0

0

0

377.5-380

445-450

Vanessa Fowler

Director of Commissioning from 1st October to 15th
December 2017

Andrew Bland

Chief Officer

Usman Niazi

SEL Chief Financial Officer from 11 February 2019

Joanne Murfitt

Director of Quality and Deputy Managing Director
Director of commissioning from 27 Nov 2017 until 1 May
2018
Virginia Morley
Chair and GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG
Governing Body until 31 Aug 2018
Dr Ellen Wright
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
until 20 July 2018
Dr Hany Wahba
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
until 20 July 2018
Dr Nayan Patel
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 August 2015 until 20 July 2018
Dr Sylvia Nyame
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 May 2014
Dr Ranil Perera
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 July 2014
Dr Krishna Subbarayan
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 Aug 2015
Dr Sabah Salman
Secondary Care doctor on the NHS Greewich CCG
Dr Iyngaran Vanniasgarum Governing Body from 08 Jan 2014
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 September 2018
Dr Janakan Ratnarajan
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Vivienne Chai
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Vijay Sivapalan
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 20 July 2018
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi
Registered Nurse on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 08 Jan 2015
Maggie Buckell
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 April 2013
Dr Greg Ussher
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 April 2013 until 11 June 2017
Mr Jim Wintour
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 20 March 2017
Mr Richard Rice
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja from 17 Jan 2018
Vice Chair and Lay Member for Audit and Remuneration
and Conflicts of Interest Guardian from 12 June 2017
Amana Humayun
Yvonne Leese

Not Applicable

20-25

0

0

0

0

20-25

100-105

0

0

0

90-92.5

185-190

20-25

0

0

0

0

20-25

55-60

0

0

0

0

55-60

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

40-45

0

0

0

280-282.5

320-325

40-45

0

0

0

75-77.5

115-120

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

0

0

0

0

0

0

Councillor David Gardner

Local Authority Member

0

0

0

0

0

0

Steve Whiteman

Director of Public Health

0

0

0

0

0

0
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Pensions Benefits as at 31 March 2019
Pension Benefits 2018-19
Real Increase in
Cash
(Proportion of
Employer
time in Post) contribution to
stakeholder
Equivalent
pension
Transfer Value

Real Increase in
pension at age 60
(bands of

Real Increase in
pension lump sum at
age 60 (bands of

£2,500)

£2,500)

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

0-2.5

£0

30-35

65-70

£444

£374

£66

Nil

5.0-75

0

20-25

0

0

127

0

Nil

0-2.5

0

40-45

95-100

786

669

79

Nil

2.5-5

7.5-10

40-45

120-125

954

786

129

Nil

0-2.5

0

25-30

50-55

471

398

44

Nil

Member of Governing Body

2.5-5

5-7.5

15-20

40-45

246

166

69

Nil

Krishna Subbarayan
Member of Governing Body

0-2.5

0-2.5

0-5

5-10

64

46

9

Nil

0-2.5

0

0-5

5-10

138

107

17

Nil

0-2.5

0

0-5

5-10

55

43

6

Nil

0-2.5

0

10-15

25-30

146

129

5

Nil

0-2.5

0

15-20

40-45

409

341

39

Nil

5-7.5

15-17.5

5-10

35-40

188

80

103

Nil

Name

Andrew Bland
Chief Officer
Usman Niazi
SEL Chief Financial Officer
from 11 February 2019

Total

Cash
Lump Sum at age 60
equivalent
related to accrued
accrued pension pension at 31 March Transfer Value
at age 60 at 31 2019 (bands of £5,000) at 31 March
2019
March 2019
(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2018

David Maloney
Chief Financial Officer
Yvonne Leese
Director of Quality and
Integrated Goverance
Neil Kennett-Brown

Ranil Perera

Virginia Morley

Sylvia Nyame

Sabah Salman

Robert Shaw

Jaisun Vivekanandaraja

*Andrew Bland held the position of Accountable Officer for Southwark, Bexley,
Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich CCG throughout the period. As the pension
disclosure represent an actuarial valuation of his future benefits these have not been
allocated across the CCG but are included in full in each set of financial statements
where he has received remuneration.

*Usman Niazi held the position of Chief Finance Officer for Southwark, Bexley,
Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich CCG from 12 February 2019. As the pension
disclosure represent an actuarial valuation of his future benefits these have not been
allocated across the CCG but are included in full in each set of financial statements
where he has received remuneration.
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The pension benefit figure is based on the HMRC method for calculating the
increase in the annual pension entitlement for deferred benefit schemes. It is not the
same as the cost to the CCG of its contribution in respect of the individual concerned
(the employer’s contribution).
NHS organisations are required to disclose the pension benefits for those persons
disclosed as senior managers of the organisation, where the clinical commissioning
group has made a direct contribution to a pension scheme.
Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement).

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS
Greenwich CCG in financial year 2018/19 was £122,500 (in 2017/18 it was
£127,500, including VAT and agency premium; in 2018/19 there was no agency
cover at a Governing Body level, due to this there was a change in the highest paid
member). This is 2.74 times higher than the median remuneration of the workforce,
which was £44,021 (2017/18 was 2.65 and £48,106.)
In 2018/19 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
member of the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £17,613 to £122,500
(annualised estimated earnings of highest paid director).

123

In calculating the relationship between the highest paid person in the organisation
and the median remuneration, the CCG has to remove VAT and an estimate of
agency premiums from the payments for all contractors and treat all appointments
and employments as if they were full-time and for twelve months.
Total remuneration includes salary and pensionable benefits. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
Expenditure on consultancy
A total of £0.46 million was spent on consultancy during 2018/19. Primarily this was
spent on services to support the development of the CCG’s QIPP programme.
Off payroll engagements
Off-payroll engagements existing at 31 March 2019 for more than £245 per day and
have lasted longer than six months are as follows:
The number that have existed:
For less than one year at 31/3/19
For between one and two years
For between two and three years
For between three and four years
For four years or more
Total number of existing engagements at 31/3/19

0
0
0
0
0
0

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been
subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance
has been sought.
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For all off-payroll engagements in 2018/19 for more than £245 per day and more
than six months:
Number
Total number of new engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
Of which
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as NOT caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contract to department) and are
on departmental payment
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/ assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 following the
consistency review

3
0
3

0
0
0

Off-payroll engagement of Governing Body members and senior officials with
“significant financial responsibility” between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019:
Number of off-payroll engagements of Governing Body members,
and senior officials with “significant financial responsibility” during
the financial year
Number of individuals who have been deemed Governing Body
members, and senior officials with “significant financial
responsibility”, during the financial year (payroll and off-payroll)

0

7

The off-payroll engagement relates to a one month period whilst the individual was
brought on to the CCG’s payroll where they remained until their employment ceased.
I hereby sign off the Remuneration Report element of the NHS Greenwich CCG
Annual Report 2018/19.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
Table 1: Exit packages
Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element

Less than
£10,000
£10,000 £25,000
£25,001 £50,000
£50,001 £100,000
£100,001 £150,000
£150,001 –
£200,000
>£200,000
TOTALS

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY
1

£s
4,086

3

58,921

1

51,866

Number of
other
departures
agreed

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Cost of other
departures
agreed

£s

Total
number of
exit
packages

Total cost of
exit packages

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

Number of
departures
where special
payments
have been
made
WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Cost of special
payment
element
included in exit
packages

£s

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year.
In 2018/19 the CCG undertook a number of restructures which resulted in five redundancies. These were approved by the
Remuneration Committee and is accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The settlements include £8,067
which relate to in lieu of notice payments as part of the redundancy agreements.
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I hereby sign off the Remuneration Report element of the NHS Greenwich CCG
Annual Report 2018/19.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Our staff
Employee benefits and staff numbers
Employee benefits 2018-19
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,429
427
360
5
4,221

794
0
0
0
794

4,223
427
360
5
5,015

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

4,221

794

5,015

Employee benefits 2017-18
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,255
354
396
3
4,008

1,032
0
0
0
1,032

4,287
354
396
3
5,040

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

4,008

1,032

5,040

Average number of people employed
2018-19
Permanently
employed
Number
Total

71

2017-18

Other
Number
10

Total
Number
81

Permanently
employed
Number
63

Other
Number
11

Total
Number
74
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Communicating and engaging
There are a number of ways in which we communicate and engage with staff and member
practices including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Weekly staff briefs which are shared on the intranet and where staff are encouraged to
pose questions, celebrate success and share ideas.
Intranet.
Monthly lunch and learn sessions offering a chance to network and share knowledge
across the organisation.
Staff away days and events.
Team and directorate meetings.
Regular 1:1s.
Annual staff survey with collective all-staff action planning.
Annual awards which were relaunched for 2017/18 to include staff and member practices
and built around our organisational values.

Training, development and support
We offer a comprehensive training package online via e-learning with some opportunities for face
to face training. All staff are required to complete their statutory and mandatory training, and
compliance is monitored through the workforce system. Staff have regular 1:1s and appraisals and
are offered training and support through personal development plans. Objective-setting takes
place in quarter 1 of the year and is linked to the corporate objectives to ensure that each member
of staff understands the role they and their team plays in achieving the CCG’s objectives.
The CCG has a number of staff forums such as Staff Brief and Staff Health and Wellbeing Group
where workforce issues are discussed and updates provided. Staff are welcome to join one of the
various recognised trade unions. The majority of CCG staff are employed under Agenda for
Change terms and conditions and pay and pay progression is governed under this system.
The CCG provides an Occupational Health service and Employee Assistance Programme which
assist in providing advice and support to managers and staff.
Staff survey
Each year Greenwich CCG takes part in the NHS staff survey. The 2018 survey achieved a high
response rate of 90%, up from 85% in 2017 and 12 per cent above the national average in
England. The Picker Institute conducted the survey and produced the report which identified areas
for improvement. An action plan is being developed based on the findings of the survey.

Employee consultation
Organisational change is managed in accordance with the principles and procedures contained
within the CCG's organisational change policy. The CCG also informally communicates and
consults with employees via regular staff briefings.

Policy on disabled employees
Disabled employees are protected under the protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010,
one of which is disability. The CCG ensures that requirements and reasonable adjustments
necessary for employees with disabilities are managed during their employment and that people
with disabilities are not discriminated against on the ground of their disability at any stage of the
recruitment process or in their employment with the CCG.
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The CCG's sickness absence policy confirms that where an employee becomes disabled as a
result of sickness, the CCG will make any necessary reasonable adjustments, as required, and in
accordance with the Equality Act to enable the employee to return to work. The types of
adjustments may include adjustments to work base, working hours, redeploying the employee to
another suitable position and providing any necessary equipment to assist the employee to
perform their role.
Equalities for staff
The CCG promotes a working environment in which all parties and procedures relating to
recruitment, selection, training, promotion and employment are free from unfair discrimination,
ensuring that no employee or prospective employee is discriminated against, whether directly or
indirectly on the grounds of age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race
including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality; religion or belief; sex (gender); sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership; trade union membership; responsibility for dependents
or any other condition or requirement which cannot be shown to be justifiable.
The CCG has a number of HR policies providing clarity and guidance to staff and managers over a
wide range of workforce related matters. The CCG is committed to the elimination of discrimination
and these policies aim to ensure those with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act
2010 are not disadvantaged in either recruitment or their employment. The CCG enacts this
commitment through its policies such as the recruitment policy, where the CCG commits to
ensuring that people with disabilities are not discriminated against on the grounds of their disability
at any stage of the recruitment process. Where any disabled applicant meets the essential criteria,
within the person specification, then they will be guaranteed an interview with any reasonable
adjustments provided for. The sickness management policy confirms that where an employee
becomes disabled as a result of sickness, the CCG will make any necessary reasonable
adjustments, as required, and in accordance with the Equality Act 2010, to enable the employee to
return to work. Adjustments may include work base and working hours changes, redeploying the
employee to another suitable position and providing necessary equipment and training to assist
the employee to perform their role.
Expenditure on consultancy during 2018/19
A total of £0.46 million was spent on consultancy during 2018/19. Primarily this was spent on
services around the development and delivery of the CCG’s QIPP programme and wider
development of the CCG’s Commissioning Strategy.
Trade union facility time
As a CCG with a full-time equivalent employee number of more than 49 people, we are obliged to
report on paid time off for union representatives to carry out trade union activities. In 2018/19 two
members of staff were relevant union officials, with 0.17 whole time equivalent (WTE) of their paid
time allocated for union activities. This accounts for 0.134 % of the CCG total pay bill.
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Staff composition
Based on 31 March 2019. The total numbers in each table differ depending on the inclusion of
Governing Body members alongside staff members.

Governing
body

Clinical lead

Employee

Femal
e

Male

Female

Male Female

3

3

51

17

Gender
Female
Male
Grand total

Gender
Female

Female total
Male

Male total
Grand total

Band
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Local salary
Band 4
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Local salary
VSM

4

Local salary

Very senior
manager (VSM)

Male

Femal
e

Mal
e

Female

Male

6

4

2

0

2

Grand
total

92

Headcount
62
30
92

FTE
44.77
20.49
65.25

Headcount
1
2
4
3
13
10
6
7
3
2
11
62
1
1
5
2
2
2
1
3
11
2
30
92

FTE
1.00
2.00
3.80
3.00
11.49
8.20
4.60
5.80
2.20
1.80
0.87
44.77
1.00
1.00
5.00
2.00
2.00
2.00
1.00
2.14
2.35
2.00
20.49
65.25
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Religious belief
Atheism
Buddhism
Christianity
Hinduism
I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief
Islam
Other
Grand total

Band description
Employee
Employee
Employee & VSM
Employee
Employee & VSM
Employee
Employee

Ethnic origin
A White - British
A White - British
B White - Irish
C White - Any other White background
G Mixed - Any other mixed background
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background
M Black or Black British - Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
P Black or Black British - Any other Black background
R Chinese
S Any Other Ethnic Group
SE Other Specified
Z Not Stated
Grand Total

Disabled
No
Not Declared
Yes
Grand Total

Band description
Employee & VSM
Employee
Employee

Headcount
6
1
32
5
17
5
4
70

Band description
Employee
VSM
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee

Headcount
26
2
1
1
1
3
1
2
4
2
12
1
4
2
2
6
70

Headcount
48
19
1
92

Sexual orientation
Bisexual
Gay or Lesbian
Heterosexual or Straight
Not stated (person asked but declined to provide a response)
Grand Total

FTE
4.94
0.60
30.80
3.60
14.09
4.60
3.40
62.03
FTE
24.74
2.00
0.80
1.00
1.00
2.00
0.60
1.60
3.60
2.00
10.60
1.00
2.00
1.60
1.80
5.69
62.03

FTE
42.03
17.00
1.00
65.25

Headcount
1
3
59
29
92

FTE
0.12
2.07
42.07
20.99
65.25

Sickness – 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
Absence % (FTE)

Absence days

Absence (FTE)

Available (FTE)

4.50%

1052

1038

23,058.50
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Age
20-24

Band description
Employee

Headcount
1

FTE
1.00

25-29

Employee

4

2.80

30-34

Employee

3

3.00

35-39

Employee

9

8.00

40-44

Employee

12

9.60

45-49

Employee & VSM

10

9.49

50-54

Employee & VSM

6

5.80

55-59

Employee

16

13.54

60-64

Employee

7

7.00

65-69

Employee

1

1.00

70-73

Employee

1

0.80

70

62.03

Grand total

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Greenwich CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and
charges are included as notes in the financial statements of this report at section 3 Annual
Accounts. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report.
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Section 3 Annual Accounts
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS
GREENWICH CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group (“the CCG”)
for the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity and Statement of Cash Flows,
and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note one.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of its income and
expenditure for the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in
England and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2018/19.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities
under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion.
Going concern
The Accountable Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they have
not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer
of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at
least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).
We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting
is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the
use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our
evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions we considered the inherent risks to the CCG’s
operations, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how these risks might affect the CCG’s financial
resources, or ability to continue its operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report
in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG will
continue in operation.
Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together
with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information. In our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report
for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements.
Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with guidance
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board. We have nothing to report in this respect.
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Remuneration and Staff Report
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018/19.
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 89, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view. They are also responsible for: such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the CCGs ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to
dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

is

provided

on

the

FRC’s

website

at

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if the CCG has not made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Qualified conclusion
Except for the matters outlined in the basis for qualified conclusion paragraph below we are satisfied that
in all significant respects NHS Greenwich CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Basis for qualified conclusion
In considering the CCG’s arrangements for informed decision making, we considered that the CCG was
placed under Legal Directions by NHS England on 1 September 2017. The Legal Directions required the
CCG to cease to exercise its acute commissioning functions including the contract with Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust. During the period of Legal Directions, acute commissioning functions were to be
exercised by NHS Southwark Clinical Commissioning Group on behalf of NHS Greenwich Clinical
Commissioning Group. The Legal Directions were removed by NHS England on 5 March 2019.
The CCG has made progress in relation to the areas identified in the Legal Directions. It has complied
with the terms of the Legal Directions to produce an Urgent & Emergency Care Recovery Plan in respect
of the services set out in the contract with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, together with
improvements in both contract management arrangements and in the working relationship with the Trust.
Due to the imposition of the Legal Directions for eleven months of the year ended 31 March 2019 and the
Urgent & Emergency Care Recovery Plan having not yet been fully delivered, we do not have sufficient
assurance of the CCG’s arrangements for informed decision making in respect of arrangements for Urgent
and Emergency Care.
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Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 89, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. We are required
under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCGs arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) in November 2017, as to
whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. We planned our
work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice and related guidance. Based on our risk assessment,
we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if:
•

we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or
has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or

•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;
or

•

we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Greenwich CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of
the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Greenwich CCG in accordance with
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Richard Hewes
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London E14 5GL
24 May 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2019

Note

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(6,701)
(20)
(6,721)

(7,055)
(233)
(7,288)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5,015
5 432,729
5
302
5
502
438,548

5,040
416,939
361
534
422,874

Net Operating Expenditure

431,827

415,586

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

431,827

415,586
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31 March 2019

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

2018-19

2017-18

£'000

£'000

8

1,033
1,033

1,262
1,262

9
10

9,157
16
9,173

15,118
141
15,259

10,206

16,521

(40,054)
(40,054)

(45,421)
(45,421)

Non-Current Assets less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(29,848)

(28,900)

Assets less Liabilities

(29,848)

(28,900)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(29,848)
(29,848)

(28,900)
(28,900)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

11

The notes on pages 143 to 164 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 139 to 142 were approved by the Audit Committee on 20th May 2019 and signed on its
behalf by:

Chief Accountable Officer
Andrew Bland

Chief Finance Officer
Usman Niazi
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2019
General
fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at
31 March 2018
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’
equity for 2018-19
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(28,900)

(28,900)

(28,900)

(28,900)

(14)
(431,827)

(14)
(431,827)

(431,841)
430,893
(29,848)

(431,841)
430,893
(29,848)

General
fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at
31 March 2018

(33,654)

(33,654)

(33,654)

(33,654)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’
equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year

(415,586)

(415,586)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(415,586)
420,340
(28,900)

(415,586)
420,340
(28,900)

The notes on pages 143 to 164 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
9
11

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

10

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

(431,827)
302
(14)
5,962
(5,346)
(430,923)

(415,586)
361
0
(3,621)
(1,640)
(420,486)

(95)
(95)

0
0

(431,018)

(420,486)

430,893
430,893

420,340
420,340

(125)

(146)

141
16

287
141

The notes on pages 143 to 164 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the
Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
During the year the Governing Body and its sub-committees has considered and approved a number of documents that assume that services will be
provided on an on-going basis:
- South East London Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) updates
- Agreement of Greenwich wide Commissioning Strategy
- Commissioning Intentions
- Continuation of full delegation from NHS England for the co-commissioning of primary care services.
- New governance arrangements for CCG and co-commissioning scrutiny and decision making
- Changes to the CCG's Constitution
- Approval of shared executive management and leadership arrangements across 5 CCGs and the SEL STP
- The CCG has agreed main service contracts for 2019/20 and has a cash plan for 2019/20 based on the CCG's notified Maximum Cash Drawdown

1.2

1.3

Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Pooled Budgets

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with the Royal Borough of Greenwich [in accordance with section 75
of the NHS Act 2006]. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled in accordance with the agreement, adetails to which is provided in note 35.
The pool is hosted by the Clinical Commissioning Group. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement
1.4

Revenue

The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard retrospectively recognising
the cumulative effects at the date of initial application.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
1.5

Employee Benefits

1.5.1

Short-term Employee Benefits

1.5.2

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Retirement Benefit Costs
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Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that
cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
1.6

Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.
1.7

Grants Payable

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning
group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.
1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial
control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most
recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at
the reporting date
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and
depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.

1.8.3

1.9

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating expenses.
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
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Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current
assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held
under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment
assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.

1.10

1.10.1

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from
a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial
impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter
to the revaluation reserve.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.

1.10.2
1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14
1.15

1.16

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.
Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.
Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
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1.16.1

1.17

1.17.1

1.17.2

1.17.3

1.18

1.19

1.2

1.21

1.22

1.23

1.24

·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the
time of initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or
loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.
Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed. The CCG has made no judgements that it would deem material in 2018/19.
Other Accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
- The Governing Body does not consider the activities of the NHS Greenwich Charitable Funds to be material to NHS Greenwich CCG. The charitable
funds represents approximately 0.9% (0.9% in 2017/18) of the revenue resources outturn position of NHS Greenwich CCG. Accordingly the Governing
Body has decided not to consolidate the NHS Greenwich Charitable accounts with that of the CCG.
- Greenwich CCG has estimated the value of its acute position where no year end agreement has been reached based on provider activity at Month 11
extrapolated to Month 12. For its three main acute providers a year end agreement has been reached to secure financial stability for both parties.
Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
- Management has assessed there are no source of estimation uncertainty.
Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions
economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at
below market value.
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM
Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM
Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is
not therefore permitted.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
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Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

2018-19
Total

2017-18
Total

£'000

£'000

6,058
643
6,701

7,055
7,055

20
20

19
214
233

6,721

7,288
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3 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Non-patient care services to
other bodies

Other Contract income

£'000

£'000

Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

3,950
2,108
6,058

263
380
643

Non-patient care services to
other bodies

Other Contract income

£'000

£'000
6,058
6,058

643
643
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total

2018-19

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,429
427
360
5
4,221

794
0
0
0
794

4,223
427
360
5
5,015

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

4,221

794

5,015

4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total

Total
£'000

2017-18

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,255
354
396
3
4,008

1,032
0
0
0
1,032

4,287
354
396
3
5,040

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

4,008

1,032

5,040

Total
£'000
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2018-19
Permanently
employed
Number
Total

71

2017-18

Other
Number

Total
Number

10

81

Permanently
employed
Number
63

Other
Number

Total
Number

11

74

Of the above:

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2018-19
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
4,086
3
58,921
1
51,866
5
114,873

2018-19
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

2018-19
Total
Number
£
1
4,086
3
58,921
1
51,866
5
114,873

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2017-18
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
-

2017-18
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
67,974
1
67,974

2017-18
Total
Number
£
1
67,974
1
67,974

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised
in part or in full in a previous period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Agenda for Change Pay scheme.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
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4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State
in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This
utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is
accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31
March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts.
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to
recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the
level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and
employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are published by HM Treasury which are
used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by the scheme actuary. This will set the employer contribution rate
payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust
member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to
member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £388,316 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £428,835) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate
of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full
scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS
pension line of note 4.1.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2018-19
Total
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

2,949
125,011
156,327
76,021
29,871
37,445
1,448
1,229
460
885
12
673
54

2,623
121,536
150,376
68,607
31,623
36,941
1,253
807
957
1,043
3
709
52

28
192
31
100
432,736

28
311
70
0
416,939

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges

302
302

361
361

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure

365
19
111
495

385
149
534

433,533

417,834

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services

Total operating expenditure

In accordance with SI2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and
Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, the CCG is required to disclose the limit of its
auditors liability. The contract signed states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and
staff (whether in contract, negligence, or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £2,000k,
aside from where the liability cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect of all services.
The audit fee disclosed above excluding irrecoverable VAT is £45,065. The fee disclosed above in
relation to other non statutory audit expenditure – other services excluding irrecoverable VAT is
£9,013.
The CCG will be required to obtain assurance from the external auditors over reported compliance
with the requirements of the Mental Health Investment Standard. The CCG has received £10,000
of resource allocation in relation to this work. The final fee is not yet confirmed.
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

8,710
8,563
98.31%

122,893
121,628
98.97%

8,413
8,312
98.80%

120,971
119,749
98.99%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,685
3,616
98.13%

285,134
283,383
99.39%

3,515
3,444
97.98%

305,989
305,285
99.77%
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
NHS Greenwich CCG paid £160k as rent for the Woolwich Centre for a 10 year lease which expires in 2025
NHS Greenwich CCG paid £16k for Photocopier rental for leases that expire in 2020
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

160
160

16
16

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

160
642
255
1,057

Buildings
£'000
176
176

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
-

160
642
255
1,057

Other
£'000

160
160

Buildings
£'000
134
535
345
1,014

2017-18
Total
£'000
15
15

175
175

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
15
60
75

149
595
345
1,089
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£'000
1,008

Plant &
machinery
£'000
13

Information
technology
£'000
509

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
591

Total
£'000
2,121

1,008

13

74
583

591

74
2,195

Depreciation 01 April 2018

111

13

328

407

859

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019

40
151

13

92
420

170
577

302
1,161

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

857

-

163

14

1,034

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

857
857

-

163
163

14
14

1,034
1,034

Owned

857

-

163

14

1,034

Total at 31 March 2019

857

-

163

14

1,034

2018-19
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019

Asset financing:

`
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8 Property, plant and equipment cont'd

8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2018-19
£'000
Information technology
Total

2017-18
£'000
77
77

77
77

Minimum
Life (years)
25
3
0
3

Maximum Life
(Years)
25
3
5
3

8.2 Economic lives

Buildings excluding dwellings
Plant & machinery
Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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9.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2018-19
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

2,818
1,914
470
466
3,398
65
(33)
56
3
9,156

Total current and non current

9,156

Current
2017-18
£'000
-

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

2,670
3,301
2,901
2,224
3,786
234
2
0
15,118

-

15,118
9,156

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
1,001
440
516
1,957

2018-19
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
213
27

2017-18
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
1,333
426
314
2,073

`
240

2017-18
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
109
27
2,072
2,208

9.3 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018
Cash and Cash
receivables

Trade and other
receivables - NHSE
bodies
£000s

£000s
Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

141
141

5,571
5,571

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

141
141
-

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount

Trade and other
receivables external
£000s

Other financial
assets

Total

£000s

£000s

-

2,459
2,459

8,171
8,171

5,571
5,571

-

14
14

5,726
5,726

-

-

14
14

14
14

9.4 Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9
Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies

Trade and other
receivables - other
DHSC group
bodies
£000s

£000s

Trade and other
receivables external

Other financial
assets

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

Loss allowance under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

-

-

(14)
(14)

-

(14)
(14)

Change in loss allowance arising from application of IFRS 9

-

-

(14)

-

(14)
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10 Cash and cash equivalents
2018-19
£'000
141
(125)
16

2017-18
£'000
286
(145)
141

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

16
16

141
141

Balance at 31 March 2019

16

141

Balance at 01 April 2018
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2019
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11 Trade and other payables

Current
2018-19
£'000

Current
2017-18
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

11,059
33
60
12,949
7,672
64
62
8,155
40,054

6,824
4,906
124
10,619
21
14,307
1,982
60
59
6,519
45,422

Total current and non-current

40,054

45,422

11.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018
Trade and
other
payables NHSE bodies
£000s

Trade and
other payables external

Total

£000s

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Liabilities held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

11,730
11,730

31,466
31,466

43,196
43,196

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

11,730
11,730

31,466
31,466

43,196
43,196

-

-

-

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount
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12 Financial instruments
12.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow
or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by
the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
12.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
12.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans
Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
12.1.3 Credit risk

`

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
12.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The
NHS clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
12.1.5 Financial Instruments

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in
creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy
non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to
little credit, liquidity or market risk.
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12 Financial instruments cont'd
12.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019

Total
2018-19
£'000

3,157
162
501
3
16
3,839

3,157
162
501
3
16
3,839

12.3 Financial liabilities
Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2019

Total
2018-19
£'000

2,635
17,744
11,966
7,524
39,869

2,635
17,744
11,966
7,524
39,869

13 Operating segments

The Clinical Commissioning Group considers that it has one segment, Commissioning of Healthcare
Services.
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14 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
The CCG has one joint operation interest in respect of the Better Care Fund pooled
budget with the Royal Borough of Greenwich (RBG).
The tabulation below identifies the budget and expenditure by both parties for 2017/18
and 2018/19.

Budget
Royal Borough of Greenwich
Greenwich CCG
Total Budget

2018-19
£'000
10,057
9,040
19,097

2017-18
£'000
10,932
7,809
18,741

Expenditure
Royal Borough of Greenwich
Greenwich CCG
Total Expenditure

10,057
6,740
16,797

10,932
5,514
16,446

2,300

2,295

4,657
4,657

5,466
5,466

4,657
4,657

5,466
5,466

Budget Less Expenditure
Debtors
Greenwich CCG

Creditors
Royal Borough of Greenwich
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15 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
2018-19
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Payments to Related Related Related
Related Party Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Blackheath PMS - Janakan Ratnarajan
Blackheath Standard PMS - Dr Nayan Patel
Burney Street PMS Dr Sylvia Nyame
Conway PMS - Ranil Perera
Hurley Clinic - Anuj Chaturvedi
Metro Centre Ltd - Greg Ussher
Riverview LLP - Dr Hany Wahba
Sherard Road Medical Centre - Krishna Subbarayan & Vijay Sivapalan
St Marks Medical Centre - Vivienne Chai
Thamesmead Medical Associates - Sabah Salman & Eugenia Lee
Triveni PMS - Anuj Chaturvedi
Vanbrugh Group Practice - Dr Jasiun Vivekanadaraja/E Wright

756

-

-

(7)

864
1,664
504
914
20
1,603
1,344
1,867
1,023
2,022

(9)
-

113
89
35
1
-

(6)
(1)
(13)
(21)
(222)

Payments
to Related
Party
£'000

2017-18
Receipts
Amounts
from
owed to
Related
Related
Party
Party
£'000
£'000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000
-

874
1,598
483
20
13
1,523
1,205
1,823
1,789

(9)
-

6
19
29
16
211

-

The GPs individually named as above are clinical commissioners on the Governing Body.
The payments above are not made to the individuals themselves but to their General Practice for clinical services commissioned by the CCG. These payments to the GP Practices exclude funding for
prescribing.

Eltham Medical Practice - Nurpur Yogarajah & Adebisi Olunloyo
Eltham Park Surgery - Dr John Livingstone
Greenwich Health Ltd - Ram Aggarwal
London LMC - Dr Tuan Tran (LMC Greenwich)
Maritime Doctor LLP - Ram Aggarwal
Plumstead Health Centre - Ram Aggarwal
Valentine Health Centre - Dr Tuan Tran

2018-19
Payments to Receipts Amounts Amounts
Related Party
from
owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
2,122
(28)
(48)
630
(7)
1,954
98
(12)
1,559
(3)
3,040
27
-

Payments
to Related
Party
£'000
663
195
3,016

2017-18
Receipts
Amounts Amounts
from
owed to
due from
Related
Related
Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
-

The GPs individually named as above served as a clinical representative on one of the CCG's committees during 2018-19
The payments above are not made to the individuals themselves but to their General Practice for clinical services commissioned by the CCG. These payments to the GP Practices exclude funding for
prescribing.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department
is regarded as the parent Department. For example
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
The NHS organisations listed below are those where transactions over the year 2018-19 and/or 2017-18 have exceeded £500k:
Barts Health NHS Trust
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
Guys St Thmas NHS Foundation Trust
Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Lewisham And Greenwich NHS Trust
Lewisham Hospital NHS Trust
London Ambulance NHS Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

NHS North East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS Southwark CCG
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
South London And Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Property Services

A financial Risk-Share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in south east London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the Risk-Share agreement be enacted in 2018/19. The final
revenue resource limit values included in the 2018/19 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement.
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Transactions with other
Government Departments over the year 2018/19 which have exceeded £500k:
Royal Borough of Greenwich
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16 Events after the end of the reporting period

Following the implementation of a shared management structure with NHS Bexley CCG, with effect from 11/02/2019, the CCG Senior Management team will be working across Bexley
and Greenwich in 2019/20. As part of this change, there will be an expansion in the responsibilities of the Director of Finance, who will now cover NHS Bexley and NHS Lewisham
CCGs as well as retaining responsibility for NHS Greenwich. The recharges relating to this change will come into effect from 1/4/2019.

17 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG has delivered all of its Financial Performance Targets for 2018/19 as is reported in the above table. In particular the CCG has delivered an in-year underspend against its
total revenue budget of £334,000. This is £34,000 over and above the control total for the year. The CCG was underspent by £33,000 against its 2018/19 Running Cost allocation.
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2018-19
Target
438,956
74
432,161
6,161

2018-19
Performance
438,622
74
431,827
6,128

2017-18
Target
423,608
416,299
6,093

2017-18
Performance
422,895
415,586
6,092

18 Effect of application of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances
The impact of IFRS 15 is not material and hence no disclosure is made.
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